
1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Consolidated  
  Financial Statements  
   Save Spa 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

SAVE Group  
Consolidated Financial Statements 

at 31 December 2012 
 
 



 

 
 

 
Table of Contents 

 

   

4   SAVE S.p.A. Corporate Structure 

4   SAVE SpA Board of Directors 

5   SAVE SpA Statutory Auditors 

9   Directors’ Report 

54   Consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2012 

   Statement of consolidated equity and financial position 

   Consolidated Separate Income Statement 

   Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

   Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 

   Statement of Changes in Consolidated Net Equity 

60   Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

137   Additional Schedules 

   Statement of Changes in Intangible Fixed Assets 

   Statement of Changes in Tangible Fixed Assets 

   Statements of Dealings with Group Companies 

144   Certification of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

   pursuant to Article 154-bis of Legislative Decree 58/98 

  Report of the Audit Firm 

   

       

   

   

   

   

   

   

    

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

    

 



 

4 
 

 
Letter of the Chairman  
 
 
Dear Shareholders, 
 
The FY that has just come to a close has been a very difficult one for the whole Italian economy. The 
measures implemented by the Italian government, coupled with the action taken by the ECB, have 
allowed for a recovery of confidence on international financial markets, laying the foundations for 
balancing public accounts. What was missing, however, was action aimed at reactivating growth in the 
economy by recovering productivity and stimulating consumption. These results, which necessarily 
require greater confidence on the part of citizens in the country’s future, have not yet materialised, and 
it remains unclear – considering the results of the elections that have just taken place – how Italy 
intends to cope with a year such as 2013, which presents evident difficulties. 
 
In this general situation, which is anything but encouraging, SAVE Group intends to pursue its policy 
of growth, producing wealth and employment in spite of the difficulties posed by the situation of the 
market and of Italian bureaucracy. 

The difficulties of the market derive primarily from the macroeconomic situation described above, 
which has now spread not only throughout Italy but to the whole of the European economy. 
Emblematic of this situation are the statistics for passenger traffic in the countries of the European 
Union and in Italy, which, following years of growth, have begun to substantially level off in the case of 
the former and in the case of the latter have seen a fall of 1.4% compared to 2011, with a sharp fall 
(7.4%) in Q4. A clear exception that has bucked this trend are the results of Venice - Treviso airport 
system, the careful commercial management of which has remained one step ahead of passenger flows 
and demands, thus allowing it to close 2012 with a rise of approx. 860 thousand passengers, up 8.9% 
compared to 2011. We feel it is important to point out that, based on an analysis carried out by ACI 
Europe, a 1 million rise in passengers travelling through an airport creates some 2600 direct, indirect 
and related new jobs; if we apply this to the growth registered by our airports, it would indicate that in a 
critical year such as 2012, we have created about 2200 additional jobs in the area. 
If we extend the reference period to the years 2000-2012, we can see that the Venice-Treviso airport 
system has grown by 138%, equal to 6.1 million passengers, compared with an Italy-wide growth of 
59%, and with the figures for the airport systems of Rome and Milan (53% and 3.8% respectively), thus 
creating almost 16,000 jobs throughout the whole of the Veneto.  

The crisis in consumption has also affected the Group’s other two business units, especially the 
Food&Beverage and Retail division. Also in this case, the Group has proved reactive, laying the 
foundations for a recovery in 2013, in view of the 29 new outlets set to become fully operative during 
2013 and of the corporate reorganisation process regarding both the core activities and the Retail 
sector. 

Other less readily understandable difficulties have been posed by Italian bureaucracy and its effects on 
business activity. It has taken over 10 years to define a new fare system for Italian airports that links 
fare dynamics to costs and to investments in the activity regulated. From this point of view, 2012 will 
nonetheless be remembered for the long-awaited signing of the “programme contract” and its 
publication in the Official Gazette on 31 December 2012 (the final deadline set by the EU for the 
implementation of such contracts …). 

Despite the fact that this contract did not remunerate SAVE in any way for its efforts made over the 
last 10 years pending the application of the new fare system, I believe this is nonetheless a very 
important result for our airport, one set to mark the beginning of a long period of continuous growth 
and new investments in infrastructures, totalling around € 200 million over the period 2013 – 2021. 
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It is my personal conviction that within the framework of today’s economy, the development of an 
infrastructure such as the airport, and the intermodal hub connected to it, is able to represent a 
powerhouse of economic development similar to that represented by the port of Venice during the 
golden age of the Republic’s economic splendour. 

It is the entrepreneur’s duty to be optimistic in all cases, and this is why I expect our company to 
achieve excellent results in its areas of business once again in 2013. 
 
Considering all of the above, the Board of Directors is pleased to propose to the shareholders’ meeting 
a payment of € 23 million, up 9.5% on the previous FY, in view of the company’s solid equity structure 
and the positive expectations for the future. 
 
My Sincerest Regards, 
 
Enrico Marchi 
12 March 2013 
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SAVE S.p.A. 
Share capital € 35,971,000.00 (fully paid up) 
Registered Office: Aeroporto Marco Polo - Venezia Tessera 
Viale G. Galilei, 30/1 
Economic and Administrative Index of Venice [REA] no. 201102 
Venice Companies House no. 29018, Tax Identification Code and VAT Registration no. 02193960271 

 
 

Control of the Company 
 
According to the shareholders’ register, the notifications received pursuant to art. 120 of 
Legislative Decree no. 58/98 and the other information available to the Company, the SAVE 
S.p.A. shareholders with an equity investment of more than 2% at 31 December 2012 were as 
follows: 
 

SHAREHOLDER % held  

MARCO POLO HOLDING S.R.L. 40.12 

AMBER CAPITAL UK LLP (*) 14.10 

PROVINCE OF VENICE 9.57 

SAVE S.p.A. (treasury shares) 4.83 

SVILUPPO 73 S.R.L. 3.98 

KAIROS INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT 
LIMITED 

3.44 

NORDEST MERCHANT S.P.A. 2.99 

FONDAZIONE DI VENEZIA 2.20 

MUNICIPALITY OF TREVISO 2.09 

MARKET 16.68 

(*) Owner of the shares whose voting right is exercised by the Direct Shareholder, the US company San Lazzaro LLC. 
 

Board of Directors 
 
The Board of Directors – appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting of 18 April 2012 and in office 
at the date of 31 December 2012 – was made up as follows: 
 

Name Office 

Enrico Marchi Chairman and CEO 

Monica Scarpa  CEO 

Paolo Simioni CEO 

Gabriele Andreola  Director* (A) 

Manuela Boschieri Director 

Daniele De Giovanni  Director * (A) (B) (C) 

Alberto Donzelli  Director 

Andrea Mencattini Director (B) 

Matteo Pigaiani Director  

Amalia Sartori  Director * (B) 

Mauro Sbroggiò Director 

Sandro Trevisanato Director* (A) 

Igor Visentin Director*  
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*  Independent Director  
(A) Member of the Audit and Risk Committee. 
(B) Member of the Remuneration Committee. 
(C) Member of the Supervisory Body. 
 

Statutory Auditors 
 
The Board of Statutory Auditors – appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting of 18 April 2012 and 
in office at the date of 31 December 2012 – was made up as follows: 
 

Name Office 

Arcangelo Boldrin Chairman (A) 

Silvio Salini Statutory Auditor 

Nicola Serafini Statutory Auditor 

Valter Pastena Statutory Auditor 

Paolo Venuti Statutory Auditor 

Lino De Luca Alternate Auditor 

Andrea Martin Alternate Auditor 

(A) Member of the Supervisory Body. 
 
 

Audit Firm 
 
Reconta Ernst & Young S.p.A. 
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The SAVE Group by Business Area 
 
The following flow chart illustrates the structure of the SAVE Group at 31 December 2012, 
broken down by area of business of the main operating companies. 
 

SAVE S. p. A.
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VTP S.P.A. 22.18%

SBU 1 – GESTIONE AEROPORTUALE SBU 2 – GESTIONE INFRASTRUTTURE SBU 3 – FOOD & BEVERAGE AND RETAIL

100%

AIREST RETAIL S.R.L.

AIREST COLLEZIONI 

VENEZIA S.R.L. 

AIREST COLLEZIONI

DUBLIN LIMITED

AIREST COLLEZIONI

S.A.R.L.

100%

100%

AIREST COLLEZIONI

GLASGOW LIMITED

1%

100%
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100%

5%

3%

 
 
SAVE S.p.A. (“SAVE” or “parent company”) is the company that manages Marco Polo airport 
in Venice, as well as the holding company for an integrated group operating in the sector of 
traveller services, primarily carried out under concession contracts. Save holds interests in: 

 companies operating in the sector of airport management; 

 companies operating in the sector of mobility infrastructure management and pertinent services; 

 companies operating in the sector of public food service and management of shops for 
travellers, such as travel retail shops, newsstands, tobacconists, bookshops, food shops and 
gadget shops, within transport infrastructures (airports, motorways, railway stations, ports) 
and shopping centres in Italy and abroad. 
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Stock Performance 
 
SAVE share performance during 2012 is detailed below, compared with the FTSE IT All-Share 
index. The official share price at 28 December 2012 was € 7.882. 
At the same date, stock market capitalisation stood at € 436 million.  
 
 

 
Save 

 

 
Save     -    Ftse All Share 
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Summarised Consolidated Figures 
 

SUMMARISED CONSOLIDATED FIGURES 2012 2011 % change

(in millions of Euro)

Revenue 352.5 347.2 1.5%

EBITDA* 71.5 73.6 -3.0%

EBIT** 42.9 46.2 -7.2%

Gross result for the period 33.3   41.8 -20.4%

Fixed operating capital 475.6 470.0 1.2%

Net working capital (46.6) (57.5) -19.0%

Net assets held for sale 0.0 0.0 0.0%

Net invested capital*** 429.0 412.4 4.0%

- Equity 320.7 309.0 3.8%

- Minority interest 26.7 25.1 6.1%

NET EQUITY 347.4 334.2 4.0%

NET FINANCIAL POSITION 81.6 78.3 4.2%

EBIT/Revenue (ROS) 12.2% 13.3%

EBIT/Net invested capital (ROI) 10.0% 11.2%

NFP/Net equity - Gearing 0.23 0.23

NFP/EBITDA 1.14 1.06  
 
The reference period at 31 December 2011, according to the provisions of IFRS 3 Revised, was restated further to 
the final allocation of the capital gains that had been temporarily allocated to goodwill in the Interim Financial 
Report at 30 June 2011, further to the combination that occurred on 30 June 2011. See the paragraph “Business 
Combinations” for further details. 
 
* EBITDA” is intended as the amount before the deduction of amortisation, depreciation, provision for risks and 
provision for renovation, write-downs, financial administration, taxes and non-recurring transactions. 
** EBIT is intended as the amount before the deduction of financial administration, taxes and non-recurring 
transactions. 
*** “Net invested capital” is intended as the sum of the “net working capital” (sum of inventories, trade receivables, 
payables to and receivables from tax authorities and social security institutions, other assets and liabilities, trade 
payables), and fixed assets before the deduction of the severance indemnity and provisions for risks.  
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SAVE S.p.A. 
Share capital € 35,971,000.00 (fully paid up) 
Registered Office: Aeroporto Marco Polo - Venezia Tessera 
Viale G. Galilei, 30/1 
Economic and Administrative Index of Venice [REA] no. 201102 
Venice Companies House no. 29018, Tax Identification Code and VAT Registration no. 02193960271 

 
 

Directors’ Report 
 
Dear Shareholders, 
This report on group operations also indirectly touches on trends in activities directly carried out 
by SAVE S.p.A. (the parent company). As a result, it will provide information on significant 
events referring to SAVE S.p.A., as required by art. 2428 of the Italian Civil Code. 
 

Significant Events for the Fiscal Year 
 
The Market 

The macroeconomic situation, to which the markets our Group operates in is closely linked, was 
particularly critical during 2012.  
From the second quarter onwards, there was a slowdown in the world economy, which was 
affected by the weakening in business in both the developed and emerging nations; in the second 
half of 2012 the dynamics of the global economy remained weak, and the estimates for growth in 
international trade in the current year drawn up by the main entities responsible have been 
revised downwards. Analysts forecast that world production should expand in 2014. 

Economic activity in the euro area remained sluggish in the last quarter of 2012. The financial 
tension that affected a number of countries in the area during the year, and the effects of the 
necessary consolidation of public accounts have had knock-on effects even on the economies 
hitherto considered the soundest. The Eurosystem has revised its growth forecasts for the 
current year considerably downwards (Source Banca d’Italia). 

As regards Italy, preliminary ISTAT estimates indicate that in Q4 2012 GDP fell by 0.9% 
compared to the previous quarter: this is the sixth consecutive drop, which has led to an overall 
fall of 2.2% in Italian GDP in 2012.  

In this general market situation, European air traffic recorded a rise of just 1.8% for the year, 
marked by significant differences between the EU countries (+0.2% for the year, but in recession 
as of October) and the non-EU countries (specifically, Turkey, Russia, Georgia, Iceland and 
Moldavia), which recorded a rise of 8.8%. In terms of movements, there was a drop of 2.1%, and 
goods traffic, heavily influenced by the dynamics of the economy, fell by 2.8%. 2013 is expected 
to be a difficult period, with traffic substantially in line with 2012 (+0.5%), but characterised by 
two different paces within Europe, which will lead to a fall in traffic in many airports in the EU 
area (Source ACI Europe). 
In Italy, passenger traffic fell by 1.3% compared to 2011, with a significant drop (-6%) recorded 
in Q4.  
In view of such dynamics, the results achieved during the year by the Venice-Treviso airport 
system – with a rise of 8.9% in passenger traffic compared to 2011 – clearly demonstrate the 
managerial skills of our company, as well as the fact that the tourist appeal of the city of Venice, 
together with the presence of companies with a strong focus on the international expansion of its 
markets, is an important factor aimed at tackling and overcoming these moments of crisis. 

The dynamics that have led to containing consumption and a fall in spending power, as a 
consequence of the general economic situation, have significantly affected the whole retail and 
catering industry. The group has reacted by opening up new outlets, focusing particularly on 
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foreign markets, in which both Italian food and the retail sector continue to register considerable 
success.  
 
The Group 

The main event that characterised our Group during the FY was the signing of the new fare 
system (known as the “programme contract”) on the part of SAVE Spa, regarding the 
management of Venice airport. 

The company has been involved in the various proceedings for more than 10 years, and the result 
achieved will set in motion an important plan of investments agreed upon with ENAC for the 
period up to 2021, finally consolidating the airport fare system, the application of which has been 
surrounded by uncertainty for some time now. 
The new fare system will be applied from 11 March 2013. 
 
During 2012 there were no important changes to the structure of the Group.  
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Analysis of Consolidated Results 
 
Below is the reclassified consolidated income statement for the SAVE Group (figures in 
thousands of euros): 

Operating revenue and other income 352,499 100.0% 347,238 100.0% 5,261 1.5%

Raw materials and goods 74,540 21.1% 75,797 21.8% (1,257) -1.7%

Services 67,123 19.0% 63,938 18.4% 3,185 5.0%

Lease and rental costs 39,123 11.1% 37,883 10.9% 1,240 3.3%

Personnel costs 97,756 27.7% 93,344 26.9% 4,412 4.7%

Sundry operating expenses 2,507 0.7% 2,627 0.8% (120) -4.6%

Total operating costs 281,049 79.7% 273,589 78.8% 7,460 2.7%

EBITDA 71,450 20.3% 73,649 21.2% (2,199) -3.0%

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 13,103 3.7% 11,822 3.4% 1,281 10.8%

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 11,322 3.2% 10,172 2.9% 1,150 11.3%

Losses and bad debts 532 0.2% 1,344 0.4% (812) -60.4%

Provision for risks and provision for renovation 3,607 1.0% 4,122 1.2% (515) -12.5%

Total amortisation, depreciation and allocations 28,564 8.1% 27,460 7.9% 1,104 4.0%

EBIT 42,886 12.2% 46,189 13.3% (3,303) -7.2%

Financial income and (expenses) 2,572 0.7% 1,726 0.5% 846 49.0%

Pre-tax result 45,458 12.9% 47,915 13.8% (2,457) -5.1%

Taxes 10,807 3.1% 5,251 1.5% 5,556 105.8%

Profit/(loss) on continuing operations 34,651 9.8% 42,664 12.3% (8,013) -18.8%

Profit /(loss) on discontinued operations/assets held for sale (1,343) -0.4% (832) -0.2% (511) -61.4%

Profit (loss) for the year 33,308 9.4% 41,832 12.0% (8,524) -20.4%

(1,557) -0.4% (1,515) -0.4% (42) 2.8%

Group net result 31,751 9.0% 40,317 11.6% (8,566) -21.2%

Minorities 

€/000 2012 2011 Difference

 
 
Revenue for the year was up 1.5% from € 347.2 million in 2011 to € 352.5 million in 2012. It 
should be remembered that the 2011 result was influenced by non-recurring income of € 2.7 
million deriving from the creation of the JV with the McArthurGlen Group, net of which the rise 
in revenue would be equal to 2.3%. 
Below is a breakdown of revenue by nature and business unit.  
 
(€/000) 2012 Inc. in %  2011 Inc. in %  Difference %  

REVENUE:

Total airport management 133,529 37.9% 126,596 36.5% 6,933 5.5%

Total infrastructure management 32,292 9.2% 31,094 9.0% 1,198 3.9%

Total food & beverage and retail 198,440 56.3% 200,453 57.7% (2,013) -1.0%

Intercompany among different SBUs (11,762) -3.3% (10,905) -3.1% (857) 7.9%

Total 352,499 100.0% 347,238 100.0% 5,261 1.5%
 

 
EBITDA equalled € 71.5 million, compared to € 73.6 million in 2011. Net of the non-recurring 
income mentioned above, this result would be up around € 0.6 million (+0.8%). 
The trends of the various business units are broken down here below: 
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(€/000) 2012

Inc. in % 

terms 2011

Inc. in % 

terms Difference

% 

difference

EBITDA:

Total airport management 52,989 74.2% 49,840 67.7% 3,149 6.3%

Total infrastructure management 7,311 10.2% 7,203 9.8% 108 1.5%

Total food & beverage and retail 11,146 15.6% 16,620 22.6% (5,474) -32.9%

non-allocated assets 4 0.0% (15) 0.0% 18 n.a. 

Total 71,450 100.0% 73,649 100.0% (2,199) -3.0%

 
 

EBIT equalled around € 42.9 million, compared to € 46.2 million in 2011. The lower EBITDA, 
combined with higher amortisation and depreciation for the FY (€ 2.4 million in total), brought 
EBIT down from 13.3% to 12.2% of total revenue.  
 
It is worth remembering that a proper interpretation of the Group’s economic results must take 
account of the differences in the characteristics of the main areas of business, which are 
separately and specifically described on the following pages. 
 
The pre-tax result (before discontinued operations/held-for-sale assets) equalled € 45.5 million 
(12.9% of revenue), compared to € 47.9 million in FY2011. This result benefits from the balance 
of financial operations, positive to the tune of about € 2.6 million, benefitting from a) the capital 
gain (around € 2.1 million) realised on the sale of the investment in the company Autostrada 
Venezia Padova and b) the affiliates being positively carried at equity for € 3.7 million (€ 4.1 
million in 2011), which specifically included the 27.65% share in Charleroi airport, the positive 
effect of which is worth some € 3 million. 
 
The profit/loss on discontinued operations/assets held for sale comprises, for € 1.3 million, 
the loss of a number of sales outlets of Airest Group, disposed of during the year.  
 
The Group’s net result totalled € 31.8 million, compared to € 40.4 million in FY2011. It should 
be noted that in 2011 the result benefitted from a positive adjustment of around € 11.3 million 
versus € 2.2 million in 2012, concerning the exemptions for surpluses paid on purchases of equity 
investments and posted to goodwill and concessions (Legislative Decree no. 98/2011). 2012 also 
benefitted from the recording of the tax credit for the “IRES from IRAP” refund, totalling 
around € 2.8 million. 
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Reclassified Balance Sheet for the Group 
 

€/000 31-dic-12 31-dic-11 Change

Tangible fixed assets 117,841 108,605 9,236

Licensed rights 176,564 180,820 (4,256)

Intangible fixed assets 146,021 150,679 (4,658)

Financial fixed assets 34,401 33,028 1,373

Deferred tax assets 47,108 43,945 3,163

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 521,935 517,077 4,858

Employee severance indemnity (7,134) (7,181) 47

Provision for liabilities and deferred taxes (39,224) (39,930) 706

FIXED OPERATING CAPITAL 475,577 469,966 5,611

Inventories 13,694 12,098 1,596

Trade receivables 37,933 37,718 215

Tax assets 4,325 608 3,717

Other receivables and other short-term assets 20,242 21,195 (953)

Trade payables and advances (71,509) (81,407) 9,898

Tax liabilities (2,838) (5,524) 2,686

Payables to social security authorities (6,001) (5,689) (312)

Other payables (42,448) (36,527) (5,921)

TOTAL NET WORKING CAPITAL (46,602) (57,528) 10,926

NET NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR 

SALE (22) 0 (22)

TOTAL INVESTED CAPITAL 428,953 412,438 16,515

Group net equity 320,695 309,021 11,674

Minority net interest 26,683 25,146 1,537

NET EQUITY 347,378 334,167 13,211

Cash and short-term assets (60,889) (19,351) (41,538)

Short-term payables to banks 52,139 39,332 12,807

Long-term payables to banks 86,612 54,450 32,162

Payables to other lenders 4,092 4,453 (361)

Financial receivables from group and related companies (981) (809) (172)

Financial payables to group and related companies 649 196 453

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE (47) 0 (47)

TOTAL NET FINANCIAL POSITION 81,575 78,271 3,304

TOTAL FINANCIAL SOURCES 428,953 412,438 16,515
 

The reference period at 31 December 2011, according to the provisions of IFRS 3 Revised, was 
restated further to the final allocation of the capital gains that had been temporarily allocated to 
goodwill in the Interim Financial Report at 30 June 2011, further to the combination that 
occurred on 30 June 2011. See the paragraph “Business Combinations” for further details. 
 
The group’s equity structure at 31 December 2012 confirms the solid financial structure of the 
Group, with a net equity of € 347.4 million, up € 13.2 million, with a constant ratio of 0.23 
between net financial debt and equity on 2011 figures. 

Gross increases in tangible and intangible fixed assets amounted to € 24.5 million, and were 
broken down as follows among the various business units: around € 9.7 million in the Airport 
Management sector, related to investments in maintenance, around € 0.9 million in the 
Infrastructure Management sector, and around € 13.9 million in the Food & Beverage and Retail 
sector, regarding renovation and new openings of sales outlets during the FY (29 new sales 
outlets). 
 
Net working capital went from € -57.5 million to € -46.6 million at 31 December 2012, mainly 
as the result of the payment, made during 1H 2012, of significant balances owed to suppliers 
linked to investments made in Q4 2011.  
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Net equity, € 347.4 million, increased by € 13.2 million compared to 31 December 2011, with 
the change mainly due to the following phenomena: 

 dividends paid to shareholders in the first half of the year, totalling € 21 million; 

 the carrying at fair value of securities in portfolio, positive to the tune of € 0.9 million 

 the result for the year, gross of minority interest, for € 33.3 million.  

 
Net Financial Position 

 
The Group net financial position was negative for € 81.6 million, compared to € 78.3 million at 
31 December 2011.  
 

(€/000) 31-12-12 31-12-11

Cash and cash equivalents 58,968 17,896

Financial assets available for sale

Other financial assets 2,903 2,265

Financial assets held for sale 47 0

Financial assets 61,918 20,161

** Payables to banks 52,139 39,332

* Other financial liabilities – current share 1,660 950

Short-term liabilities 53,799 40,282

** Financial payables to banks net of current share 86,612 54,450

Financial payables to others net of current share 3,082 3,700

Long-term liabilities 89,694 58,150

Net financial position (81,575) (78,271)

* of which net liabilities for derivative contracts  carried at fair value 165 62

** Total gross payables to banks 138,751 93,782
 

 
Short-term assets at 31 December amounted to € 61.9 million, up compared to € 20.2 million at 
December 2011, as a result of the rise in cash and cash equivalents, which went from € 17.9 
million to € 59 million in December 2012, further to the new medium/long-term loans opened. 
Financial debt is divided up into short-term liabilities, equalling € 53.8 million, and long-term 
liabilities, equalling € 89.7 million.  
A detailed analysis of the cash flow statement shows that the balance of cash and cash 
equivalents (the difference between “Cash and cash equivalents” and “Short-term payables to 
banks”, excluding the short-term portion of loans) went from about € 4.4 million at the end of 
2011 to € 43.4 million at 31 December 2012. During the period, about € 20.9 million in loans 
were repaid, as well as financial payables to other lenders, totalling about € 0.6 million, offset by 
new loans taken out for about € 63.8 million. Operational management generated financial flows 
of about € 39.7 million, while investments in tangible and non-tangible fixed assets took up about 
€ 23.4 million in financial resources. 
Other financial outgoings for the year were related to the payment of dividends of € 21 million. 
Net payables for the hedging of volatility risk of interest rates carried at fair value equalled € 0.2 
million, compared with net payables of € 0.1 million at the close of the last FY, and are posted to 
“Other financial liabilities – current share”. 
 
Bank loans outstanding of the Group – carried at amortised costs – totalled € 123.2 million, with 
instalments falling due in the next twelve months amounting to € 36.6 million, of which € 16.1 
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million corresponding to the Parent Company. The value of the loans to be repaid beyond one 
year amounted to € 86.6 million, € 17.5 million of which fall due beyond five years.  
Approximately 7.6% of the total value (of principal) of medium and long-term loans is subject to 
hedging (IRS) against the risk of rising interest rates. 
During FY2012, new loans totalling € 63.8 million were taken out, while loan repayments totalled 
€ 20.9 million. 
 

Guarantees 
 

The table below summarises SAVE Group’s guarantees at 31 December 2012. 
 

Guarantees granted

(€/000) Amount

Guarantees: 22,232    

         - as a guarantee for lease contracts 21,184     

         - as a guarantee for public grants -          

         - as a guarantee for tax receivables/payables 640         

         - other 408         

Mortgages 15,142    

Total guarantees granted 37,374     
 
At 31 December 2012, the guarantees concerning the SAVE Group amounted to about € 37.4 
million, and were mainly related to: 
- sureties issued as a guarantee for lease/sub-concession contracts, for € 21.2 million; 
- sureties issued as a guarantee for tax receivables/payables, for € 0.6 million; 
- other sureties, issued mainly as guarantees for the supply of goods, for € 0.4 million; 
- mortgages for € 15.1 million. 
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Human Resources 
 
The following section describes the professionals working for the Group. 
 

Workforce

Full-

Time

Part-

Time

Full-

Time

Part-

Time

Full-

Time

Part-

Time

Airport Management 689 122 682 93 7 29

Infrastructure Management 121 7 120 8 1 (1)

Food & Beverage and Retail 1,408 598 1,389 701 19 (103)

TOTAL 2,218 727 2,191 802 27 (75)

TOTAL STAFF

31-12-12 31-12-11 Change

2,945 2,993 (48)

 
 
At 31 December 2012, there were 2,945 staff members employed, with a decrease of 48 over 
2011. This includes both full-time and part-time workers, as well as those hired under temporary 
contracts. 
This fall in occupational levels mainly regarded the Food&Beverage and Retail sector, and was 
related to the opening and closure of a number of sales outlets. 
The full time equivalent of the staff total at 31 December 2012 was 2,658 units, as compared to 
2,683 in 2011. 
 

Full

Time

Part

Time

Full

Time

Part

Time

Full

Time

Part

Time

Full

Time

Part-

Time

Managers 20 0 4 0 26 0 50 0

Middle management 40 1 36 0 56 0 132 1

White-collar personnel 483 99 81 7 272 37 836 143

Blue-collar personnel 146 22 0 0 1,041 561 1,187 583

Trainees 0 0 0 0 13 0 13 0

TOTAL 689 122 121 7 1,408 598 2,218 727

TOTAL STAFF 811 128 2,006 2,945

STAFF AS  AT 31/12/2012

Airport 

M anagement

Infrastructure 

M anagement

Food &  Beverage 

and Retail TOTALE

 
 

Events Subsequent to the Close of the Financial Year 
 
No significant events have occurred after the closing date of these financial statements which 
would substantially affect the accuracy of this report on assets and liabilities or make it necessary 
to change or supplement the financial statements.  

February 1 2013 saw the completion of a business transaction with McArthurGlen Travel Retail 
LLC, a US company with which Airest S.p.A. entered into a joint venture in 2011 that gave rise 
to Airest Collezioni Group. As a consequence of the unsatisfactory results of the “Collezioni” 
business in the period in which it was under joint management, the decision was taken to entrust 
the management of Airest Collezioni Group entirely to Airest S.p.A., which, consequently, 
acquired total control through the purchase operation carried out by the subsidiary Airline 
Terminal & Business Catering Holding Gmbh of the remaining 25% share capital held by 
McArthurGlen, for  € 3 million, inferior to the share of net equity to take account of the results 
obtained until now.  
Since McArthurGlen nonetheless maintains an interest in Airest Group, the US company at the 
same time subscribed a dedicated share capital increase, waiving the right of option on the part of 
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the existing shareholders, for a stake of 3%. The total amount of € 3 million subscribed and paid 
up requires a premium to be paid.  
With this transaction, the original joint venture agreements between Airest and McArthurGlen 
Travel Retail LLC were cancelled by mutual agreement. 
 

Business Outlook 
 
As already described in the preceding pages, the definition of the new fare system for the parent 
company’s activity in the management of Venice airport will finally mark the beginning of an 
important period of development for the airport, with significant investments in the pipeline for 
the period from 2013 to 2021. From the point of view of the economic results, 2013 will see the 
application, as of March, of the fare increase that together with the expected improvement in the 
performance of the other business units, will boost profitability for the whole Group. 
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Breakdown by Business Unit 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

22 
 

Airport Management   
 
 
Assaeroporti data for 2012 show a total drop of 1.3% in passengers compared to last year, with 
numbers totalling almost 147 million (movements -4.5%). 
 
 
 

31/12/2012
% change 

'12/'11

Hubs * 55,518,212 -2.5%

Medium-sized airports** 54,127,017 -2.8%

Airports with mainly FR traffic *** 26,721,007 5.7%

Other 10,517,942 -3.2%

TOTAL 146,884,178 -1.3%

* Hubs : Ro ma Fiumic ino , Milano  Malpens a

** Airpo rts  with mo re  than 3 millio n pax/year and % Ryanair <50%: Bo lo gna , Bari, Caglia ri, Catania , Milano  Lina te , Napo li, P a lermo , To rino ,

Venezia , Vero na .

*** Airpo rts  with % Ryanair >50%: Alghero , Anco na , Bergamo , Brindis i, Ro ma Ciampino , P arma, P is a , P es cara , Trevis o , Trapani.

ITALIAN AIRPORTS

Breakdown of passenger traffic by category

 
 
A separate look at domestic and international figures shows a 5.2% drop in domestic passengers, 
as compared to a 1.7% rise in traffic towards international destinations. 
A look at the distribution of traffic among the various categories of airports shows that the hubs 
of Fiumicino and Malpensa registered a 2.5% fall over the course of the year. 
Airports where Ryanair is the main operator showed a rise of 5.7% compared to 2011. 
 
Once again in 2012, the Venice Airport System (comprising the airports of Venice and Treviso) 
was the third airport system in Italy after those of Rome and Milan, with over 10.5 million 
passengers, up 8.9% on last year. Venice, with almost 8.2 million passengers, is in 5th position 
among the Italian airports behind Rome, the two Milan airports (Malpensa and Linate) and the 
low-cost Bergamo airport. Treviso carried over 2.3 million passengers during 2012. 
Excluding the operations transferred from Treviso airport between June and the beginning of 
December 2011, the rise in passenger traffic during 2012 through Venice would have been 
12.3%. 
 

 

Venice Airport System 
 

The Venice Airport System ended 2012 with over 10.5 million passengers, up 8.9% on the 
previous year, totalling more than 100 thousand movements (+7.5% compared to 2011). 

 
The table below shows the primary traffic indexes for 2012, compared with figures for 2011: 
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31.12.2012
% inc. on 

system
31.12.2011

% inc. on 

system

% ch. 

'12/'11

SAVE

Movements 84,233 81% 87,138 90% -3%

Passengers 8,188,455 78% 8,584,651 89% -5%

Tonnage 5,575,291 82% 5,416,234 90% 3%

Goods (Tonnage) 40,886 100% 41,886 98% -2%

AERTRE
*

Movements 20,279 19% 10,089 10% 101%

Passengers 2,333,758 22% 1,077,505 11% 117%

Tonnage 1,222,376 18% 580,490 10% 111%

Goods (Tonnage) 53 0% 868 2% -94%

SYSTEM

Movements 104,512 97,227 7%

Passengers 10,522,213 9,662,156 9%

Tonnage 6,797,667 5,996,724 13%

Goods (Tonnage) 40,939 42,754 -4%

* The operations of Treviso airport were transferred to Venice between June and early December 2011.

          VENICE AIRPORT SYSTEM

            Progressive up to December

 
 

 Furthermore, below is a table illustrating the subdivision of traffic by type: 
 

31.12.2012
% ch. 

'12/'11

Commercial aviation

Scheduled + Charter

Movements (no.) 95,662 10.5%

Passengers (no.) 10,503,555 9.0%

Goods (tons) 40,909 -4.1%

Mail (tons) 30 -65.1%

Aircraft (tons) 6,683,447 14.2%

General Aviation

Movements (no.) 8,850 -17.1%

Passengers (no.) 18,658 -23.1%

Aircraft (tons) 114,220 -21.4%

Overall data

Movements (no.) 104,512 7.5%

Passengers (no.) 10,522,213 8.9%

Goods/Mail (tons) 40,939 -4.2%

Aircraft (tons) 6,797,667 13.4%

VENICE AIRPORT SYSTEM

Progressive up to December
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Venice 
 
Passengers travelling through Venice airport in 2012 were almost 8.2 million, -4.6% on the 
previous year (movements -3.3%). The effective rise of traffic through the airport, excluding the 
operations transferred from Treviso in 2011, was 12.3%. 
If we look at the distribution of national and international traffic, the international focus of the 
airport once again becomes clear, with 78% of passengers flying from Venice to destinations 
within and outside Europe, compared to an Italian airport system market average of 58%. 
The analysis of traffic figures for long-distance destinations operating out of Venice airport 
(USA, Canada, UAR, Qatar) showed a rise of 27%, with over 580 thousand passengers carried 
during the year: this increase was especially due to the consolidation of Qatar Airways flights to 
Doha and the introduction of a second daily flight operated by Emirates between Venice and 
Dubai (active as of summer 2012). 
It should also be noted that passengers departing from Venice for an intermediate stop-off point 
on their way to a final international destination recorded a 9% rise in 2012 compared to the 
previous FY, confirming the international dynamism of the airport’s catchment area. 
Specifically taking into consideration direct and indirect traffic flows between Venice and the 
Brics nations (Brazil, Russia, India, China and South Africa), an increase of 27% was registered 
during 2012 compared to the previous year, with over 450 thousand passengers. 
 
Numerous new flights began operating from Venice during 2012: these new flights have 
contributed to the rise in traffic, increasingly improving connections between Venice and both 
predominantly business and tourist destinations.  
In the summer, Volotea, a new carrier on the European scene that has chosen Venice as the first 
base for its operations, introduced flights from Venice to 24 domestic and European 
destinations: Alghero, Alicante, Bari, Bilbao, Bordeaux, Brindisi, Cagliari, Corfu, Crete, Kos, 
Lamezia Terme, Lampedusa, Malaga, Mikonos, Olbia, Oporto, Palermo, Reggio Calabria, 
Rhodes, Thessaloniki, Santiago de Compostela, Santorini, Split, Valencia. For the summer season, 
Airone (Alitalia Group), with two aircraft based in Venice, has also started numerous flights from 
Venice to destinations in Europe: Athens, Barcelona, Istanbul Sabiha, Minorca, Palma de 
Mallorca, Prague, St. Petersburg and Warsaw, as well as the domestic flights from Venice to 
Brindisi, Cagliari and Palermo. 
These new flights were further integrated by Air France, with flights between Venice and 
Marseilles, Nice and Toulouse; flights to France have been further boosted by the opening of the 
Nantes route by Vueling and the Nice and Toulouse routes by Easyjet. Easyjet has also added 
new flights from Venice to Lisbon and Geneva. From last summer, Monarch has been flying 
from Venice to Birmingham, London Gatwick and Manchester, and Jet2.com has been offering 
flights for Newcastle. Added to these are the British Airways flights that began running between 
Venice and London City Airport in September. 
Lufthansa expanded its flights to Germany, introducing a flight to Hamburg.  
Numerous new flights have also been introduced from Venice to Eastern Europe: Bacau and 
Bucharest by Blue Air, Chisinau by Carpatair, Moldavian Air and Air Moldova, Bratislava by 
DanubeWings, Tallinn by Estonian Air. 
The Russian airline Transaero has started operating flights from Venice to Moscow 
Domodedovo and Moscow Vnukovo, thus helping to boost traffic flows between Venice and the 
Russian market. 
As well as these new destinations, increasing numbers of passengers flew to destinations already 
operating out of the airport. As regards the long-distance market, Emirates has doubled its flights 
running between Venice and Dubai, thus helping to boost traffic flows towards the Middle/Far 
East and Australia. Klm and Lufthansa have added an extra daily flight for the hubs of 
Amsterdam and Munich respectively, while Swissair has increased the capacity of the planes 
flying between Venice and Zurich. Also worth noting is the fact that Air Berlin has doubled its 
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flights for Düsseldorf, Jet2.com has increased its flights to Edinburgh and Tunisair has added an 
extra weekly flight for Tunis. 
Summer flights have also fully recommenced operating for North America, with Delta Air Lines 
flying to Atlanta and New York, US Airways to Philadelphia and Air Transat to 
Toronto/Montreal; other summer flights have also begun operating again, such as the Aegean 
Airlines flight to Athens. 
 
Winter 2012/2013 will also see the introduction of new flights on the part of companies already 
present in Venice airport: Easyjet flying to London Southend and Manchester; Volotea flying to 
Nantes and Catania; Airone flying to Tirana and Catania; Transavia France flying to Lille and 
Toulouse. 
Turkish Airlines, after beginning its second daily flight to Istanbul during 2011, has further 
expanded its operations with 3 extra flights per week from Venice; the company will be operating 
three daily flights between Venice and Istanbul from summer 2013. 

 
The following section illustrates how traffic for Venice airport is divided according to 
destinations within Italy, destinations within the EU, and destinations outside of the EU. 
 

31.12.2012 % ch. '12/'11

Domestic traffic 1,814,689 -13.2%

Traffic in EU countries 4,875,795 -7.1%

Traffic in non-EU countries 1,485,005 21.3%

Total commercial aviation 8,175,489 -4.5%

General Aviation 12,966 -39.3%

Total 8,188,455 -4.6%

Origin/destination areas - Venice

Progressive up to December

 
 
 

Total traffic to destinations outside the EU accounted for 18% of Venice airport’s 2012 total 
traffic. 

 With the introduction of the second daily flight for Dubai, Emirates carried over 250 
thousand passengers to the Asian continent and Australia during the year (+39% compared 
to 2011); Dubai is the main intermediate stop-off point for passenger flows departing from 
Venice and travelling to Asia; 

 Passengers travelling on Qatar Airways flights to Doha totalled over 80 thousand during 
the year (the first year flights were fully operative); 

 Turkish Airlines, after introducing its second daily flight for Istanbul during 2011, is now 
introducing a third daily flight, set to become fully operative from summer 2013. The 
company carried more than 170 thousand passengers between Venice and Istanbul in 2012 
(+ 17% on 2011). Airone has been running flights between Venice and Istanbul Sabiha 
since June, with almost 15 thousand passengers transported since the flights became 
operative; 

 Aeroflot flew almost 150 thousand passengers between Venice and Moscow during the 
year, +32% compared to the previous year, partly thanks to the doubling of the flights 
introduced in 2011. In addition, Transaero began running scheduled flights between Venice 
and Moscow Domodedovo and Moscow Vnukovo in June 2012, carrying almost 15 



 

26 
 

thousand passengers; Airone began running flights between Venice and Saint Petersburg 
during the year, carrying over 11 thousand passengers; 

 Almost 250 thousand passengers used the non-stop scheduled flights between Venice and 
North America (New York JFK, Philadelphia, Atlanta and Toronto, Montreal) during the 
year, up 6% compared to 2011; 

 Tunisair has added an extra weekly flight from summer 2012, with almost 35 thousand 
passengers carried between Venice and Tunis in 2012 and an increase of 40% compared to 
the previous year; in summer 2013 the airline will introduce a further two weekly flights;  

 Air Arabia Maroc transferred operations from Treviso to Venice in April 2012, 
transporting more than 36 thousand passengers to and from Casablanca (considering the 
preceding operations in Treviso, a total of almost 50 thousand people during the year); 

 
To provide a complete picture of the above, below is a table illustrating the subdivision by 
origin/destination of total Venice airport traffic. 
 

Country 31.12.2012 % ch. '12/'11

Italy 1,814,689 -13.2%

France 1,220,525 7.1%

Germany 1,038,432 -8.2%

England 921,635 4.5%

Spain 725,337 -23.8%

Switzerland 288,915 20.3%

The Netherlands 269,693 -3.2%

Arab Emirates 252,873 39.3%

United States 218,842 7.4%

Turkey 192,931 25.3%

Other 1,231,617 -6.0%

General Aviation 12,966 -39.3%

Total 8,188,455 -4.6%

Main origin/destination countries - Venice

Progressive up to December

 
 

When evaluating the percentage changes in traffic, it should be noted that between June and early 
December 2011 operations in Treviso airport were transferred to Venice. 
Passengers flying to domestic destinations accounted for 22% of total traffic. If we exclude 
passengers travelling on domestic routes transferred from Treviso in 2011, passengers on 
domestic flights from Venice effectively fell by 2% during the year. 
The top three markets (Italy, France and Germany) accounted for 50% of the total traffic of the 
airport in 2012. 

 
Furthermore, to provide a complete picture of the above, below is a table illustrating the 
subdivision per main carrier of total Venice airport traffic (according to transported passengers). 
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Carrier 31.12.2012 % ch. '12/'11

Easyjet 1,433,895 24.8%

Alitalia/Airone 1,256,603 8.1%

Lufthansa 709,862 2.6%

Air France 629,201 9.7%

British Airways 359,698 12.9%

Iberia 282,073 -14.3%

Klm 263,083 13.5%

Vueling 259,858 13.0%

Volotea 256,099

Emirates 252,738 39.5%

Other 2,472,379 -33.1%

General Aviation 12,966 -39.3%

Total 8,188,455 -4.6%

Main carriers - Venice

Progressive up to December

 
 
 
The main airline of Venice airport was Easyjet, with more than 1.4 million passengers carried and 
a passenger traffic increase of 25% compared to the previous year, also thanks to the new 
destinations operating out of Venice. It was followed by Alitalia/Airone, with over 1.2 million 
passengers, +8% compared to 2011. 
The top 3 companies accounted for 42% of passenger traffic through Venice airport. 
In 2012, the new airline Volotea, located in Venice, transported more than 250 thousand 
passengers (operative from April). 
 
General aviation traffic from Venice fell by 39% during the year (-23% if we consider the figure 
for the airport system). It should be considered that between June and early December 2011 the 
operations of Treviso airport were transferred to Venice. The drop in traffic was caused by the 
general economic crisis, as well as the fact that the Biennale took place in Venice in 2011. 
 
Total cargo traffic through Venice (including operations by UPS and DHL and mail) fell by 2.4% 
compared to the previous year: air cargo traffic rose by 1.4%, compared with a drop of 15.4% in 
goods transported by lorry. It should be noted that the drop especially regards imported goods 
transported by lorry (-36% compared to 2011), while exported goods transported by air rose 
during the year: +13% on the previous FY). 
 

Treviso 
 

Treviso airport closed 2012 with 2,333,758 passengers, up 116.6% compared to 2011 
(movements + 101%). This figure must take account of the fact that between June and the 
beginning of December 2011, operations at the airport were transferred to Venice as a result of 
work necessary to resurface the runway: if we take into account the passengers carried by airlines 
that normally operate out of Treviso, traffic fell by 1.4% compared to the previous year. 
Treviso airport (Aertre) accounted for 22% of the total passengers of the System. 
In the summer Ryanair began operating flights to Billund, Budapest, Paphos and Wroclaw, as 
well as re-introducing a number of destinations it had already operated in the past (including 
Dublin and Oslo Rygge). In addition to these routes, a new weekly flight to Maastricht was 
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introduced in December. The company transported over 1.7 million passengers during the year 
(500 thousand on domestic routes), with a market share of 74% of the total traffic of the airport. 
Wizzair carried almost 400 thousand passengers between Treviso and Eastern Europe in 2012. 
Germanwings added a flight from Stuttgart to Cologne and Hannover, whereas Transavia linked 
Treviso to Eindhoven during the year. 
 

The Strategy of the Venice-Treviso Airport System 
 
In what was a difficult year for the Italian market, the Venice/Treviso airport system grew thanks 
to an increase in capacity, to the new destinations introduced during the year and the fact that the 
two airports operate predominantly international flights, catering to both tourists and business 
customers. The strategies already implemented in previous years have thus led to a rise in traffic 
during the year, allowing for the opening of two airline bases in Venice (Airone and Volotea), 
which have contributed to a strong growth compared to a negative national average. 
In addition, thanks to the doubling of the flight to Dubai, the consolidation of the flight running 
between Venice and Doha and the increase in the frequency of the Turkish Airlines flights for 
Istanbul and the Aeroflot flights for Moscow, changes are being made to the links between the 
Venice catchment area and the rest of the world. 
In 2013, in addition to consolidating existing bases, efforts will be focused on developing long-
distance traffic, for example thanks to the third flight operated by Turkish Airlines for Istanbul 
and the new intercontinental flight run by Air Canada Rouge set to link Venice with Toronto as 
of next summer. 
A further aim will be to strengthen efforts to fill up flights thanks to the rise in capacity offered 
by the new flights that began operating in 2012. 
 
As regards Treviso airport, efforts are being made to attract new companies and to expand the 
network of existing companies. 
 

Charleroi Airport 
 
Since December 2009 SAVE Group has held a 27.65% equity interest in Brussels South 
Charleroi Airport (BSCA), the company that manages the Belgian airport of Charleroi. This 
equity interest is held in partnership with Holding Communal (the holding company representing 
Belgian municipalities), through Belgian Airports, in which the group has a 65% stake; this is the 
only example of an equity interest held in a foreign airport management company on the part of 
an Italian company.  
Below are a series of traffic figures that regard the Belgian company. 
 
In 2012 passengers travelling through Charleroi airport totalled 6,516,427, a 10.4% increase on 
2011, in line with the expectations and despite the continued economic crisis.  

This year has seen the continuation of the excellent growth trend that in the period from 2000 to 
2012 has equalled 31%, demonstrating that passengers are faithful to the airlines operating out of 
Charleroi and satisfied with the services provided by the airport. Charleroi airport ranks third on 
the list of the “World’s Best Low Cost Airports”, behind the London airports Stanstead and 
Luton. 

97 scheduled flights ran from Charleroi during 2012. 
The main airline operating in the airport was Ryanair, which carried over 5.4 million passengers 
during 2012, an increase of around 10.5% compared to the previous year, with a market share of 
83%. 
The second operator, with around 661 thousand passengers, was Jetairfly, of TUI Airlines 
Belgium group, up about 35.4% compared to the previous year. 
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During 2012, new destinations were introduced: Nice by Jetairfly, Ljubljana by Wizzair, Alghero, 
Budapest, Chania, Corfù, Munich- Memminghem, Rodez, Turku by Ryanair.  
In addition, Ryanair has increased the frequency of its flight to Budapest, introducing a second 
daily flight to the Hungarian capital, a destination Wizzair has also increased its flights to; in 2012 
Jetairfly began flying to Palma de Mallorca, a destination already served by Ryanair. 

 
Income Statement of the Airport Management Business Unit 

 
€/000

Operating revenue and other income 133,529 100.0% 126,596 100.0% 6,933 5.5%

Raw materials and goods 1,859 1.4% 1,465 1.2% 394 26.9%

Services 33,316 25.0% 32,598 25.7% 718 2.2%

Lease and rental costs 4,780 3.6% 4,463 3.5% 317 7.1%

Personnel costs 39,239 29.4% 36,792 29.1% 2,447 6.7%

Sundry operating expenses 1,346 1.0% 1,438 1.1% (92) -6.4%

Total operating costs 80,540 60.3% 76,756 60.6% 3,784 4.9%

EBITDA 52,989 39.7% 49,840 39.4% 3,149 6.3%

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 7,341 5.5% 6,104 4.8% 1,237 20.3%

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 3,743 2.8% 3,429 2.7% 314 9.2%

Losses and bad debts 40 0.0% 1,069 0.8% (1,029) -96.3%

Provision for risks and provision for renovation 2,903 2.2% 3,207 2.5% (304) -9.5%

Total amortisation, depreciation and allocations 14,027 10.5% 13,809 10.9% 218 1.6%

EBIT 38,962 29.2% 36,031 28.5% 2,931 8.1%

Financial income and (expenses) 3,013 2.3% 3,787 3.0% (774) -20.4%

Pre-tax result 41,975 31.4% 39,818 31.5% 2,157 5.4%

Taxes 12,105 9.1% 5,718 4.5% 6,387 111.7%

Profit/(loss) on continuing operations 29,870 22.4% 34,100 26.9% (4,230) -12.4%

Profit /(loss) on discontinued operations/assets held 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

Profit (loss) for the year 29,870 22.4% 34,100 26.9% (4,230) -12.4%

2012 2011 Difference

 
 
Below is a detailed breakdown of revenue, with an indication of the main events.  
 

%  difference

€/000 Total Venice Treviso Other Total Venice Treviso Other Total Venice Treviso Other Total

Aeronautical 79,804 67,363 12,441 0 75,430 69,659 5,771 0 4,374 (2,296) 6,670 0 5.8%

Goods Handling Depot 3,143 3,140 3 0 3,478 3,413 65 0 (335) (273) (62) 0 -9.6%

Handling 2,014 704 1,310 0 1,541 859 682 0 473 (155) 628 0 30.7%

Aeronautical revenue 84,961 71,207 13,754 0 80,449 73,931 6,518 0 4,512 (2,724) 7,236 0 5.6%

Ticketing 195 133 62 0 230 216 14 0 (35) (83) 48 0 -15.2%

Parking 11,412 10,186 1,226 0 11,641 11,107 534 0 (229) (921) 692 0 -2.0%

Advertisement 1,547 1,498 49 0 1,056 984 72 0 491 514 (23) 0 46.5%

Commercial/Marketing 24,790 22,383 2,407 0 23,322 22,044 1,278 0 1,468 339 1,129 0 6.3%

Non-aeronautical revenue 37,944 34,200 3,744 0 36,249 34,351 1,898 0 1,695 (151) 1,846 0 4.7%

Other revenue 10,624 6,270 446 3,908 9,898 4,973 519 4,406 726 1,297 (73) (498) 7.3%

Total revenue on Airport Management 133,529 111,677 17,944 3,908 126,596 113,255 8,935 4,406 6,933 (1,578) 9,009 (498) 5.5%

2012 2011 Difference

 
 
In 2012 operating revenue and the other income of the Airport Management Business Unit 
totalled € 133.5 million, up 5.5% on FY2011. The most important phenomena affecting the item 
in question were represented by: 

 the 5.6% rise in aeronautical revenue, which, in relation with the rise in passengers (+8.9%), is 
negatively affected by the higher costs involved in promoting the new routes and the drop in 
revenue for storing and handling goods (-9.6%), caused by the current economic crisis; 

 a rise of 4.7% in non-aeronautical revenue, mainly brought about by the rise in revenue from 
advertising (+46.5%), as a result of the new management system implemented, and of sales 
revenue (+6.3%). Lower than expected was revenue from the management of the parking 
areas, which fell by 2% despite the rise in passenger numbers; a greater proportion of inbound 
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passengers, coupled with specific elements brought about by the particular economic situation 
led to a drop in average revenue per passenger; 

 the 0.7 million rise in “Other Revenue”, which includes the recording in the income statement 
of a portion of the contribution approved by the EU regarding the project concerning the 
feasibility of the intermodal hub at Venice airport. 

 
EBITDA equalled € 53 million, up 6.3% compared to € 49.8 million in 2011. This result was 
achieved thanks to the higher revenue, partially absorbed by a rise in utilities (+1.7 million in 
costs) and the higher employment costs brought about by a rise in the average number of 
presences, especially in the airport security sector, linked to the increase in traffic. 
 
EBIT, approx. € 39 million, was up 8.1% compared to 2011. The increase in EBITDA in 
absolute terms was adjusted by a rise in amortisation and depreciation, mainly relating to the 
investments made in the second half of 2011, and by lower provisions compared to the previous 
FY. 
 
Financial operations recorded a positive result of around € 3 million, mainly as a result of the 
carrying at equity of the stake in Charleroi airport, worth around € 3 million, a drop compared to 
the contribution recorded in 2011, i.e. € 3.3 million. 
 
As a consequence, the pre-tax result was € 42 million (31.4% of revenue), up € 2.2 million 
compared to € 39.8 million in FY2011 (31.5% of revenue). 
 
The net result of the business unit equalled around € 29.9 million, compared to € 34.1 million (-
12.4%) in 2011. It should be noted that in 2011 a tax benefit for around € 7.7 million was 
recorded concerning the exemptions for surpluses paid on purchases of equity investments and 
posted to goodwill and concessions (Law Decree no. 98/2011). Net of the recording of this 
effect, and considering the benefit registered in 2012 as a result of the recording of the 
application for the reimbursement of € 1.3 million in IRES on IRAP, the business unit would 
have registered a growth of € 2.2 million.  
 

Investments in the Venice and Treviso Airport Sites 
 
Investments in the Airport Management business unit totalled € 9.7 million, of which € 1.3 
million in the provision for the renewal of licensed assets. 
 
Among the main investments made in the Venice and Treviso airport areas during FY2012 were 
the following: work on technical systems (€ 3.6 million); the installation of new advertising 
systems (€ 1.2 million); work on X ray security equipment (totalling € 1.1 million); the completion 
of work on the new runway in Treviso airport and related activities (€ 1.3 million); work on the 
airport infrastructures (0.8 million); purchase of work vehicles (€ 0.7 million); reorganisation of 
areas in the old airport (€ 0.3 million); and investments in IT systems (€ 0.3 million). 
 

Amendments to the Regulatory Framework 
 

 Approval of the new fare system – procedure for the approval of the Programme Contract  
 
As is known, art. 17 paragraph 34 bis of Law Decree No. 78 of 01.07.2009, converted into Law 
102/09, as amended by art. 47 paragraph 3-bis, letters a) and b) of Law Decree 78/10, converted 
with amendments by Law 122/10, authorises the Italian Civil Aviation Authority (ENAC), with 
regard to airport systems of national importance and in any case with more than eight million 
passengers per year, to enter into programme contracts that waive the legislation in force and 
introduce multi-annual pricing systems with updating mechanisms valid throughout the contract 
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term. ENAC recognised the applicability of this special legislation to Venice, intended as the 
Venice/Treviso system, as recognised by the Italian and European legislation.  
On 18 July 2011, as part of the preliminary investigation, before signing the special programme 
contract with SAVE and having already assessed the section regarding the development of the 
business plan and the quality and environment plan submitted by the Company, the ENAC 
Board of Directors approved the pricing system for the use of the Venice airport infrastructure. 
Subsequently, on 29 July 2011, the second public consultation concerning the pricing system was 
held.  
Finally, on 21 October 2011, ENAC sent the two relevant ministries (Ministry of Economy and 
Finance and Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport) the results of the preliminary investigation 
and the proposed ENAC/SAVE special programme contract along with all the related 
documentation.  
However, as a result of the inertia of the Authority, on 5 September 2012,  SAVE presented a 
motion for the Administrative Court of the Lazio Region to verify the illegitimacy of the silence 
on the part of ENAC and the obligation for the Programme Contract to be signed. The hearing 
to discuss the appeal was set for 29 November 2012. 
On 26 October 2012, ENAC and SAVE S.p.A. entered into the programme contract as per art. 
17, para.34 bis of Legislative Decree n. 78/2009. Consequently, on 20 November 2012, SAVE 
filed an application for the appeal to be dropped and a declaration that it could no longer be 
proceeded with, subsequently provided in sentence no. 9960/2012. 
The programme contract was subsequently approved by a Prime Ministerial Decree on 28 
December 2012, which subordinated the effectiveness thereof to the incorporation of the 
measures set forth in art. 1, para. 1, of said Decree. 
On the same date, ENAC and SAVE signed an additional Deed that incorporated the measures 
in the Prime Ministerial Decree  On 31 January 2012, the Prime Ministerial Decree of 28 
December 2012 was published, with an announcement, in issue no. 303 of the Official Gazette. 
As provided for in the Official Gazette, the documentation regarding the programme contract 
was published on the institutional websites of the Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport and 
on the ENAC website. 
The new fares will become effective as of 11 March 2013. 
On 28.02.2013, the Municipality of Venice announced a motion to be presented to the 
Administrative Court of the Veneto Region against, respectively, Enac, Save spa and the Prime 
Minister’s office, requesting the invalidation of the Programme Contract signed by Enac and Save 
on 26.10.2012 and of the Prime Ministerial Decree of 28.12.2012. This motion, with which no 
suspension of the deeds contested has been requested, has to date not yet been filed with the 
Court. 
On 06.03.2013 Assaereo (the national association of airlines and air transport operators) also 
announced a motion to be presented to the Administrative Court of the Veneto Region, against 
the Prime Minister’s office, the Ministry of the Economy and Finance, the Ministry of 
Infrastructure and Transport and Save, in order to request the invalidation of the Programme 
Contract between Enac and Save. Again in this case, no suspension has been requested of the 
deeds contested. Assaereo also presented a similar motion against ADR, Airports of Rome, and 
SEA, Airports of Milan for the invalidation of their respective programme contracts. 
 

 Airport Charges Currently in Force 
 
In accordance with art. 3, para.3 of the programme contract of 26 October 2012, “The fare levels set 
for the first year during which this contract is effective, indicated in Annex 10, shall be applicable from the 60th 
day following the date of publication in the Official Gazette of the Prime Ministerial Decree for the approval of 
this contract”. 
Therefore, until that date, the airport charges applicable at Venice airport are those reported in 
Annex 1 of Ministerial Decree no. 274 of 25 July 2012, published in issue no. 264 of the Official 
Gazette of 12 November 2012, containing a review of airport charges for 2011 as per Ministerial 
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Decree no. 391 of 11 November 2011, and as they appear in the table in Attachment 1, which is 
an integral part of the Ministerial Decree. 
Pursuant to the specific clarification provided by Ministerial Decree no. 407 of 19 November 
2012, published in issue no. 288 of the Official Gazette of 11 December 2012, “the fares reported in 
Annex 1 of Ministerial Decree no. 274 of 25 July 2012 apply to the airports contemplated in the Annex until 
the new fares become effective, as provided for in the individual programme contracts established between airport 
managers and ENAC – pursuant to Law Decree no. 203 of 30 September 2005, converted to Law no. 
248/2005, and Law Decree78/2009, converted to Law no. 102/2009, as amended by Law Decree no. 
78/2010, converted to Law no. 122/2010”. 
Both the decrees mentioned above (MD 391 and MD 274) were adopted in order to enforce the 
provision laid down in Article 21 bis of Law Decree no. 248/07 (so called Milleproroghe Decree) 
as amended, pursuant to which: "Until the issue of the decrees referred to in paragraph 10, Article 10 of 
Law no. 537 of 24 December 1993, as finally replaced by paragraph 1, Article 11-nonies of Law Decree no. 
203 of 30 September 2005, converted, with amendments, into law no. 248 of 2 December 2005, to be adopted by 
31 December 2012, the Minister of Transport shall, by decree, adjust airport charges according to the inflation 

rate. The charges update lapses if airport licensees do not submit a complete application to enter into the programme 
contract by the deadline of 31 December 2012.” 
Finally, the 2013 Budget Law (Law no. 228 of 24 December, containing “Measures for the 
preparation of the yearly and multi-year national budget”, published in issue no. 302 of the 
Official Gazette on 29 December 2012), in Table 2 in the annex to the Law,  pursuant to the 
provisions of art. 1, para. 388, extended to 30 June 2012 the term set in article 21-bis, para. 1, first 
and second sentences, of Legislative Decree no. 248 of 31 December 2007, converted, with 
amendments by Law no. 31 of 28 February 2008. 
To date, the Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport has not yet adopted the decree for the 
increase in airport charges according to the projected inflation rate for 2012. 
 

 The recent legislative changes in the airport sector regulatory framework 
 
Between the end of 2011 and the first six months of 2012, important changes concerned the 
airport sector regulatory framework, with particular reference to economic regulation. 
Art. 37 of Law Decree no. 201/2011 (so-called "Decree Save Italy"), converted with amendments 
by Law no. 214/2011, as amended by article 36 of Law Decree no. 1/2012 (so called 
Deregulation Decree), converted with amendments by Law no. 27/2012, provided for the setting 
up of the Transport Regulatory Authority, a collective body composed of a Chairman and two 
members, who to date have not yet been appointed. 
The Authority is called upon, inter alia, by art. 37, para. 2, letter h) of Law Decree no. 201/2011, 
to carry out all the functions of the Supervisory Authority, established by art. 71, para. 2 of Law 
Decree no. 1/2012, converted by Law no. 27/2012, for setting and collecting airport charges in 
national airports open to commercial traffic, in compliance with directive 2009/12/EC. 
As already mentioned, Law Decree no. 1/2012, converted with amendments by Law no. 27 of 
24.03.2012, not only made, with art. 36, significant changes to the aforementioned art. 37 of Law 
Decree no. 201/2011, but also incorporated, under articles 71 to 82, the 2009/12/EC directive 
on airport charges, laying down principles for setting and collecting airport charges in national 
airports open to commercial traffic.  
As regards the transition period, based on para. 6 bis of art. 37 of Law Decree no. 201/2011, 
“until such time as the Authority becomes operative, as resolved upon, the functions and competences attributed to 
it shall continue to be carried out by the relevant administrations and public bodies in the various sectors 
concerned”. In addition, pursuant to the subsequent paragraph 6 ter “The competences of the Ministry of 
Infrastructures and Transport remain unchanged, as do those of the CIPE (Interministerial Committee for 
Economic Planning) with regard to approving programme contracts, as well as conventions and agreements, with 
particular reference to public finance”. 
According to art. 73 of Law Decree no. 1/2012, “Until such time as the Transport Regulatory Authority 
becomes operative, as per article 36, para. 1 of this decree, the Supervisory Authority functions shall be carried out 
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subject to a guideline provided by the Ministry of Infrastructures and Transport”. This guideline has yet to be 
adopted. 
It should be pointed out that Law Decree no. 5/2012 (so-called Simplification Decree), 
converted by Law no. 35/2012, under article 22, paragraphs 2 and 3, containing “regulations for 
safeguarding the procedures under way for entering into programme contracts with airport 
management companies”, under para 2 stipulates that “The incorporation of the 2009/12/CE 
directive on airport charges, as per Chapter II, articles 71 to 82, of Law Decree no. 1 of 24 
January 2012, safeguards the procedures under way for entering into programme contracts with 
airport management companies, pursuant to articles 11-nonies of Law Decree no. 203 of 30 
September 2005, converted with amendments by Law no. 248 of 2 December 2005, and 17, para. 
34-bis, of Law Decree no. 79 of 1 July 2009, converted with amendments by Law no. 102 of 3 
August 2009. These procedures must be concluded by 31 December 2012 and the duration of 
the programme contracts entered into in accordance with the provisions in the initial period shall 
in all cases be established in compliance with national and EU regulations regarding the 
respective pricing models”.  
Finally, it should be noted that, within the framework of the Budget Law (Law no. 228 of 24 
December), an extension has been accorded to 30 June 2013 of the term envisaged by art. 21 bis 
of Law Decree no. 248/2007 for the approval, by interministerial decree, of the programme 
contracts to be entered into pursuant to art. 11 nonies of Law Decree no.. 203/2005, converted 
with amendments by Law no. 248/2005. 
 

 Renewal of the Agreement - Treviso Airport 
 
After a long and complex procedure, on 14 October 2010, ENAC and AerTre S.p.A. signed the 
Agreement for the total management of the Treviso airport for forty years. In particular, the 
award of the concession provides for the design, development, implementation, upgrading, 
operation, maintenance and use of facilities and airport infrastructure, including public property 
of the Sant'Angelo airport, now Canova airport, in Treviso. In order for the concession to 
become fully effective for all legal purposes and for the formal conclusion of the procedure 
granting the airport management, the Minister of Infrastructure and Transport and the Minister 
of Economy and Finance must issue the interministerial decree granting the total management of 
Treviso airport.  
On 27 January 2011 the General Manager of the Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport sent a 
note to the President of the Cabinet Office at the Ministry, and for information to the company 
AerTre, informing them that, after completion of the required formal investigation, the inter-
ministerial decree approving the concession in question had been sent to the Cabinet Office on 
25 January 2011 to be submitted for the signature by the Minister of Transport and Infrastructure 
and the countersignature of the Minister of Economy and Finance.  
On 24 May 2011 the decree, already signed by the Minister of Infrastructure and Transport, was 
forwarded to the Ministry of Economy and Finance for countersignature. 
Pending the interministerial approval of the forty-year agreement signed on 14 October 2010, 
AerTre manages the assets included in the Treviso airport land under the anticipated  occupancy 
regime, provided for by Article 17 of Law Decree no. 67/1997. 
On 7 July 2012, AerTre filed a motion with the Administrative Court of the Lazio Region to 
verify the illegitimacy of the silence on the part of the Ministry of the Economy and Finance and 
the obligation for the countersigning of the interministerial decree awarding the petitioner, the 
Airport of Treviso the concession for the total management of Treviso Sant’Angelo Airport 
transmitted by the Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport with protocol no. 0020693 of 
24.5.2011, and to sentence the Ministry of the Economy and Finance, in the person of the 
Minister pro tempore, pursuant to art. 34, first paragraph, lett. b) of the code of the administrative 
process, to sign the interministerial decree, as well as to provide compensation for all damages 
suffered and liable to be suffered deriving from the failure to exercise administrative activity. 
Following the hearing held on 19 December 2012, the Administrative Court of the Lazio Region 
issued sentence no. 10748/2012, ordering “the Ministry of the Economy and Finance to make a decision, 
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as far as it is responsible, regarding the concession procedure it has been cited for within sixty days of the 
notification of this sentence”. On 9 January 2013 a copy of the sentence was served to the Ministry of 
the Economy and Finance for the purpose of compliance. 
 

Quality 
 

Monitoring Passenger Services 
As in previous years, also in 2012 passenger services were observed and monitored in accordance 
with the quality control plan. 
The airport took part in the ASQ-ACI international airport benchmarking programme, which in 
2012 saw the participation of almost 200 of the top international airports.  
As regards the Services Charter, surveys continued to measure the 54 indicators defined in the 
Charter, with a highly significant number of records (over 6000) in both Venice and Treviso 
airports. 
In order to evaluate the areas for improvement and the potential of the retail offer, an analysis 
continued, in collaboration with the Commercial Management office, of passenger profiles and 
the level of satisfaction with the retail offer at the terminal in Venice. 
This measure, traditionally very useful, yielded a large number of interesting ideas for 
improvement regarding various issues directly and indirectly linked to the retail offer.  
 

Environment 
 

Monitoring airport noise 
Continuous activities to monitor acoustic impact in the area surrounding the airport were 
conducted throughout the year, using four phonometric control units. A description of all 
activities conducted, along with a significant amount of data and information, were regularly 
made available on the airport’s web portal dedicated entirely to environmental topics, which can 
also be accessed via the official website: www.veniceairport.it.  
The new initial take-off procedure, defined in October, was the result of a change to the previous 
procedure regarding the first part of the route. The new route was used on an experimental basis 
for over a year before it became definitive, and led to lower acoustic impact in the area 
surrounding the airport, especially in the portion of land to the north-east, affected by almost all 
take-offs. 
These noise-monitoring activities were extended to Canova Airport in Treviso in January 2010. 
As in Venice, the network is composed of 4 units, and notification is provided every four months 
of the data collected by the acoustic descriptors and processed by the local administrations 
concerned: Enac, Arpav and the Ministry of the Environment during the Commissions on 
airport noise. 
The efficacy of the monitoring networks in both Venice and Treviso was verified by Ispra 
(Ministry of the Environment), which took the opportunity to validate, in our airports, the 
recently issued guidelines on acoustic monitoring.  
 

 
Monitoring electromagnetic fields 

As a consequence of the measurements taken during FY 2011, from the second half of 2012 a 
system was put in place for the on-going monitoring of electromagnetic radiation/electrosmog. 
The control system network is currently composed of 6 units located in the passenger terminal, in 
the building that houses the Save offices and the areas where the planes are parked. The area of 
the web portal dedicated to electrosmog will be developed and gradually completed. 
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Monitoring air quality 
During 2012, Save continued to work with the Department of Environmental Science at Cà 
Foscari University, with support from the Ente Zona (industrial zone authority), to monitor air 
quality.  
The project, aimed at measuring the main emissions originating from the airport, is conducted by 
a research group created within the Department of Environmental Science to analyse the 
dispersion of pollutants into the air, and is specifically aimed at obtaining an estimate on the 
formation of PM10 and PM 2.5 particles. 
This unique, original project, on-going since 2009, was featured in two international seminars 
attended by the researchers during 2012: the first held in March in Perugia and the second in 
October in Granada. On these two occasions, the project and the issues it deals with attracted 
particular active interest, confirming that this specific activity as yet has no equal in any other 
airport in Italy. 
In 2011 it was also extended to Canova Airport in Treviso. The recommencement of normal 
operations in 2012 made it possible to compare the pollution measurements taken when the 
airport was closed, during 2011. It was thus possible to make an estimate of the contribution 
made by pollutants deriving from airport activities, which confirmed the marginal impact on 
emissions.  

 
Safety & Security 

 

Risk assessment 
2012 saw the development of the software provided for managing aspects linked to safety and 
security and preventive measures carried out by the companies belonging to BU01. Work was 
carried out to map out the organisational structure of the Group companies, drawing up a list of 
all the risks connected with the working environment and the tasks carried out by workers. The 
new risk assessment document drafted with the support of the new application will be available 
as of the beginning of 2013. 
The structure selected is directly integrated with the safety and security management system, in 
accordance with OHSAS 18001, the regulation standard for systems for managing health and 
safety in the workplace. 
 

Training 
The Agreement between the State and the Region that came into force at the end of 2012 
highlighted the need to update training regarding health and safety. Numerous training courses 
were therefore organised and provided, including the following: basic safety and security training 
for new employees, updates on safety and security for workers who had attended training courses 
earlier than 2008, training for those responsible for preventing and tackling fires. Further training 
on specific risks linked to the work carried out will continue to a large extent during 2013. 

 

Accident analysis 
During 2012 the number of accidents and the number of days of absence resulting from fell 
drastically (by about 50% compared to 2011). The accident rate (days of absence/no. of 
accidents) remained in line with the previous year. The company’s accident rates are very low – 
approximately half – compared to the trends characterising the sector as a whole.  
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Infrastructure Management 
 
Centostazioni S.p.A. is the company through which the SAVE Group operates in the area of 
infrastructure management. 
Its corporate mission is to follow through with the completion of redevelopment projects while 
still guaranteeing top-quality management at 103 station complexes in 103 cities located 
throughout the country, encouraging commercial optimisation by pursuing various business 
opportunities for further development within the stations. 
Established in 2002, the company has completed, in terms of value, redevelopment for 97% of 
the network, including stations such as Porta Garibaldi in Milan, Ostiense in Rome, and 
Mergellina in Naples. It currently manages approximately 100,000 m² of area intended for 
commercial use and advertising. 
Centostazioni is a key player in the field of business activities complementing railway 
transportation and mainly operates in three business areas: 
 
Sales 
Leases 
This business area focuses on the commercial optimisation of the station’s assets, through the 
leasing of commercial areas and sale of advertising space, both traditional (posting) or innovative 
(video-communication, engagement, event organisation, etc.). 
Although affected by the difficult economic situation, which has caused a reduction in 
commercial operators’ interest in implementing new activities in the stations, in FY2012 the 
activities of the Sales BU focused above all on new initiatives within the framework of the Special 
Projects and on settling multi-premise contracts that expired last year. 
In the traditional business area (leasing of commercial space), there was a slowdown in new 
contracts being entered into. In particular, the following factors should be emphasised: 
- an occupation rate of 77% of the retail areas on the main floor means that the remaining areas 
are small and fragmented, and thus difficult to make use of because they are unappealing to 
retailers.  
 - the attempt to make use of areas not of a specifically commercial nature has led to lengthy 
discussions with the institutions with a view to obtaining authorisation to solve problems of a 
technical/urban planning/cadastral nature, particularly in the light of the new interpretation of 
Legislative Decree no. 42 of 22/01/2004 provided by the Ministry for Cultural Heritage and 
Activities that was the object of the note of 26/04/12 issued by the Legal Head Office of 
Ferrovie dello Stato (Italian State Railways) to the Group Companies, containing the pertinent 
instructions for operations (restrictions to protect culture). 
Therefore, although development has led to the reaching of agreements and the signing of 
contracts, it has not been fully possible for these results to allow us to meet the economic 
expectations set at the beginning of the year.  
Development has also focused on re-selling spaces made available thanks to the request from 
Leaseholders to cancel contracts in advance of their natural expiry date and on the negotiation of 
requests for reductions in the rental fees, determined by the unsustainability of the lease fees 
agreed upon.  
Our contracts contemplate the consolidation of the positive performance recorded in the 
preceding years. The continuing crisis has led, in some cases, to the normal incidence on turnover 
falling below the guaranteed minimum. 
There have nonetheless been positive effects in 2012 on Leases from third parties, which have 
led to important agreements in the field of mobile telephone services, hospitality, clinics and 
“parapharmacies”(authorised to sell OTC, but not prescription, medicines). 
 
Advertising 
According to Nielsen figures, 2012 closed in Italy with a dramatic 14.3% drop in the advertising 
market. Specifically, compared with the same period of the previous year, spending on 
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communication fell by € 1241 million. This was due to the significant squeeze on budgets in a 
number of important goods sectors, such as food (-15.6%) and electrical appliances (-30%) and 
the automotive industry (-14.3). 
Despite this, advertising income values remain positive, partly thanks to the renewal of the 
contract with Trenitalia (income from «Trenitalia on board» at the end of FY2012: gross revenue 
of € 1,061 thousand).  
In 2012, advertising income amounted to a total of € 11.4 million, broken down as follows: 
 

Income at 31.12.2012 (all circuits) € 
  
Traditional posting 5,954,000 
Videocommunications 3,319,000 
Advertising on trains (Trenitalia on Board) 1,061,000 
Direct income 1,134,000 
Total 11,468,000 

 
Also under way is electrification of the MUPI units, historically the most widely sold product in 
our network. This process was completed in June and will allow for an increase in the sale prices 
of the units, offering the market a superior-quality type of system. 
 
Engineering 
 
This business area focuses on the redevelopment of railway properties in order to turn them into 
“city squares” with high commercial appeal. 
As of 31 December 2012, these projects involved 93 stations overall for a total investment of € 
162.8 million (including phases relating to preliminary design, executive design, project 
management, and implementation), breaking down to € 105.5 million in investments made by the 
owner, Rete Ferroviaria Italiana S.p.A. (to bring properties up to code and cover extraordinary 
maintenance), and € 57.3 million in investments made by the Company, in order to optimise 
commercial space (97% of the Investment Plan total). The total just for the projects completed as 
of 31 December 2012 was € 137.5 million, € 88.8 million of which to be covered by RFI S.p.A. 
and € 48.7 million by Centostazioni S.p.A. In the same period, the projects completed amounted 
to € 4.8 million, € 4.7 million to be covered by RFI and € 0.1 million by Centostazioni. In 2012 8 
stations were delivered (Domodossola, Lodi, Perugia, Cremona, Treviglio, Foggia, Gorizia and 
Arezzo), which brings the total of stations completed to 87. 
 
Services 
 
This business area focuses on the integrated management of in-station facilities (such as ordinary 
and extraordinary maintenance, cleaning, power, heating and air conditioning, etc…). 
This management is provided through a Global Service contract, handled centrally by the 
Company. It has allowed for improvements in terms of both perceived quality, which is 
constantly monitored through surveys commissioned out to third parties, and average activation 
times. Customer satisfaction factors regarding the “overall rating of station experience” display a 
level of satisfaction of 95.4%. 
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Income Statement of the Infrastructure Management Business Unit 
 

€/000

Operating revenue and other income 32,292 100.0% 31,094 100.0% 1,198 3.9%

Raw materials and goods 231 0.7% 46 0.1% 185 402.2%

Services 15,063 46.6% 14,510 46.7% 553 3.8%

Lease and rental costs 6,438 19.9% 6,216 20.0% 222 3.6%

Personnel costs 2,963 9.2% 2,888 9.3% 75 2.6%

Sundry operating expenses 286 0.9% 231 0.7% 55 23.8%

Total operating costs 24,981 77.4% 23,891 76.8% 1,090 4.6%

EBITDA 7,311 22.6% 7,203 23.2% 108 1.5%

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 2,120 6.6% 2,097 6.7% 23 1.1%

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 851 2.6% 799 2.6% 52 6.5%

Losses and bad debts 239 0.7% 57 0.2% 182 319.3%

Provision for risks and provision for renovation 100 0.3% 70 0.2% 30 42.9%

Total amortisation, depreciation and allocations 3,310 10.3% 3,023 9.7% 287 9.5%

EBIT 4,001 12.4% 4,180 13.4% (179) -4.3%

Financial income (expenses) 1,900 5.9% (227) -0.7% 2,127 n.a.

Pre-tax result 5,901 18.3% 3,953 12.7% 1,948 49.3%

Taxes 1,796 5.6% 1,359 4.4% 437 32.2%

Profit/(loss) on continuing operations 4,105 12.7% 2,594 8.3% 1,511 58.2%

0 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

Profit (loss) for the year 4,105 12.7% 2,594 8.3% 1,511 58.2%

2012 2011 Difference

Profit /(loss) on discontinued operations/assets held for sale

 
 
The SAVE Group share of revenue (40% of the figure referred to the company Centostazioni) 
amounted to € 32.3 million, up 3.9% compared to the previous FY, as a result of a rise in revenue 
from the lease of stations and sales revenue linked to the use of the larger areas made available by 
the redevelopment work carried out in the 103 stations in Italy. 
 
EBITDA equalled € 7.3 million, a rise of 1.5%, thanks to the rise in sales revenue as a result of 
the use of the retail areas in the stations. 
 
EBIT equalled € 4 million, compared with the 4.2 million of 2011, as a result of the greater 
provision for credit risk linked to the difficulties experienced by the retail market in Italy. It also 
took into account the amortisation of the concession value, i.e. around € 2 million. 
 
The improvement in financial income and expenses of the division is attributable to the 
capital gain of € 2.1 million made on the sale of the equity investment of 4.64% in Autostrade 
Venezia Padova made during Q22012; the pre-tax result was therefore € 5.9 million, up € 1.9 
million on FY2011. 
 
The net result of the business unit equalled around € 4.1 million, up € 1.5 million (+58.2%) 
compared to 2011.   
 

Investments 
 
Investments made by the Infrastructure Management business unit totalled € 0.9 million and 
were related to 40% of the investments in tangible fixed assets made by the subsidiary 
Centostazioni. 
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Food & Beverage and Retail business unit – Airest Group 
 

Airest Group Profile and reference market 
 

Airest is a group operating in the fast food and travel retail sector in airports. As regards fast food, 
the Group operates in the channel of concessions (airports, motorways, railway stations), as well as in 
shopping malls, outlet stores, a number of city centres and museum facilities.  
 
At 31 December 2012 Airest was present in 11 countries in Europe and Asia, including Russia, China, 
Arab Emirates and Singapore, also managing 188 direct sales and 27 indirect sales outlets sublet to 
important international luxury brands in the retail sector. At the close of the FY the Group employed 
2,006 people. 
 
Airest S.p.A., a company subject to management and coordination by Save S.p.A, operates in the fast 
food sector on the Italian market, and is the subholding company of 16 companies directly and 
indirectly controlled and operating since 31 December 2012.  
 
Set up in 2001 under the name of Airport Elite S.r.l. to operate in the old terminal of Venice airport, 
Airest has expanded over the years thanks to the award of contracts, as well as acquisitions and 
partnerships that have allowed it to develop also outside of Italy and to become an important 
international player in the sector.  
 
During its rapid, significant growth, Airest has pursued a diversified strategy, developing the following 
business lines: 
 
• Fast food 
Catering formulas that take careful account of location and target. Over the years, a portfolio of various 
formats has been created, the main ones being Culto, Rustichelli & Mangione, De Canto, Briccocafè  
and Bottega dei Sapori. 
• Production Centre (VIF): 
As well as supply, Airest also takes care of the production of its own bakery products through its 
subsidiary Very Italian Food S.r.l., headquartered in Pomezia (Rome). 
• Travel Retail 
This line of business is made up of specialised travel retail shops that operate directly in sales, and 
directly managed or monobrand stores sublet to leading operators.  
 
As broken down here below, at 31 December 2012, the Group directly managed 188 stores, 163 of 
which in the fast food sector (96 located in airports, 21 along motorways, 11 in railway stations, and 35 
in shopping centres and other urban locations) and the remaining 25 in the airport travel retail sector. 
The fast food sector also comprises 4 franchise outlets. 
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Italy Europe Russia

United 

Arab 

Emirates

China Singapore Total

Airports 39 51 0 3 2 1 96

Railway stations 11 0 0 0 0 0 11

Motorways 21 0 0 0 0 0 21

Shopping centres and other locations 24 3 0 6 2 0 35

Total F&B points of sale 95 54 0 9 4 1 163

Direct Retail sales points 16 5 4 0 0 0 25

Indirect Retail sales points 15 12 0 0 0 0 27

Total Travel Retail sales points 31 17 4 0 0 0 52

Total Group sales points 126 71 4 9 4 1 215

Number of points of sale at 31/12/2012

 
 

During 2012, 29 new outlets were opened in all the business and geographical areas concerned. At the 
same time, Airest rationalised its own sales network, closing down 11 outlets considered non-strategic. 
The streamlining operations implemented by the Group during 2012, together with the development of 
the network, giving priority to foreign markets, were planned by Airest in order to guarantee benefits 
also in 2013 and beyond, based on the conviction that the market will start growing again between the 
end of 2013 and the beginning of 2014, according to the latest estimates.       
Within the framework of the plan for new openings undertaken by the Group, 24 new fast food 
outlets have been created both in Italy and abroad. In the travel retail business, 5 new outlets were 
opened in Italy and in a number of foreign markets.   
The closures concerned the sales outlets running at a loss, as part of the plan to streamline the network 
by eliminating the sales points that were not profitable for the company. These closures were mainly in 
the fast food business, both in Italy and abroad. In the travel retail business, one outlet was closed 
abroad. 
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Airest Group Structure 
 

In June 2012 the company Airest Singapore Pte Ltd. was incorporated. The company became actively 
operative with a fast food outlet opened in Singapore Airport in mid-December 2012 and is not, 
therefore, of significance for the Group’s results. 
 
In accordance with the agreements made and signed by the shareholders, during December 2012, 
Airest Group, through the sub-holding ATBC Holding, took control of Airest Restaurant Middle East 
Llc, thus assuming full voting and equity rights. 

 

Reference market 
 

The catering and travel retail market in mobility infrastructures is linked to how the mobility of people 
is, which is in turn influenced by GDP and the development of the infrastructure sector. Since it is 
closely linked to the wider economic situation, this is a sector characterised by constantly changing 
demand, and thus requires great flexibility in terms of the ability to adjust supply to the changing needs 
of both customers and licensing entities. 

In the “fast food” and “travel retail” market the Group operates in, the current crisis has a considerable 
impact, especially in Italy, but also in the rest of Europe, as a result of the drop in family spending 
power and the rise in unemployment that had already begun in 2011,. In Italy, family spending on 
catering services is estimated to have fallen by 2.5% in real terms compared to the previous year 
(Official Source FIPE). 
 
As regards customer flows, there was a drop in the main channels Airest is present in, i.e. airports and 
motorways.  In 2012, airports in Italy recorded a 1.3% drop in passenger traffic, following years of 
constant growth. The sector performed better in Europe, where traffic figures remained virtually 
unchanged (+0.2%), although with significantly varying trends evident in the airports the Group 
operates in, notably Vienna (+5.0%) and Prague (-7.9%), (Source Assaeroporti). Following the 1,1% 
drop registered in 2011, traffic on motorways, where Airest is present with the Ristop brand, fell a 
further 7.1% in 2012 (Source Aiscat). 
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Income Statement of the Food & Beverage & Retail Business Unit 

 
€/000

Operating revenue and other income 198,440 100.0% 200,453 100.0% (2,013) -1.0%

Raw materials and goods 72,450 36.5% 74,289 37.1% (1,839) -2.5%

Services 21,248 10.7% 19,633 9.8% 1,615 8.2%

Lease and rental costs 37,102 18.7% 35,258 17.6% 1,844 5.2%

Personnel costs 55,555 28.0% 53,665 26.8% 1,890 3.5%

Sundry operating expenses 939 0.5% 988 0.5% (49) -5.0%

Total operating costs 187,294 94.4% 183,833 91.7% 3,461 1.9%

EBITDA 11,146 5.6% 16,620 8.3% (5,474) -32.9%

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 3,641 1.8% 3,621 1.8% 20 0.6%

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 6,729 3.4% 5,944 3.0% 785 13.2%

Losses and bad debts 253 0.1% 218 0.1% 35 16.1%

Provision for risks and provision for renovation 604 0.3% 859 0.4% (255) -29.7%

Total amortisation, depreciation and allocations 11,227 5.7% 10,642 5.3% 585 5.5%

EBIT (81) 0.0% 5,978 3.0% (6,059) -101.4%

Financial income (expenses) (2,336) -1.2% (1,834) -0.9% (502) -27.4%

Pre-tax result (2,417) -1.2% 4,144 2.1% (6,561) -158.3%

Taxes (3,094) -1.6% (1,826) -0.9% (1,268) -69.5%

Profit/(loss) on continuing operations 677 0.3% 5,970 3.0% (5,293) -88.7%

(1,343) -0.7% (832) -0.4% (511) -61.4%

Profit (loss) for the year (666) -0.3% 5,138 2.6% (5,804) -113.0%

Profit /(loss) on discontinued operations/assets held for sale

2012 2011 Difference

 
 

Total revenue for FY2012 equalled € 198.4 million, down 1% compared to € 200.5 million in 2011.  
In this regard, it must however be noted that the 2011 figure is not directly comparable with the figure 
for this year, as a result of the transfer on the part of Airest, near the end of 1H 2011, of the travel retail 
business unit to a company specifically set up for the purpose, Airest Retail S.r.l., and the consequent 
transfer of said equity investment to Airest Collezioni Sàrl, a 75% joint venture with McArthur Glen 
Group. 
The aforementioned operation had the following main effects on the consolidated financial statements 
for 2011: 

- the recording of one-off income of € 2.7 million related to the net surplus realised following the 
transfer by Airest S.p.A. of its equity interest in Airest Retail to Airest Collezioni Sàrl; 

- the recording of the income statement data for 1H2011 of the travel retail business unit, 
subsequently the object of a 100% transfer, resulting in increased revenue equalling around € 
3.2 million. It was only from 2H 2011 that the economic data were consolidated proportionally, 
at 75%; 

- the non-recording of 75% of economic figures for the first six months of the McArthurGlen 
Group, deriving from the economic and equity positions set out for the purpose of the first 
consolidation of the Airest Collezioni Group. The main economic data used for the purpose of 
determining the figures on a like-for-like basis were revenue for € 1.3 million, EBITDA for € -
0.6 million and EBIT for € -0.7 million. 

 

The comments that follow, designed to illustrate Airest Group’s performance in more strictly 
accounting terms, refer to data on a like-for-like basis, net of the effects reported above. 

 
Total revenue recorded by the Group in 2012 was up € 2.6 million (+1.3%) compared to the 2011 
figure on a like-for-like basis. This increase is mainly attributable to the travel retail sector, where 
revenue went from € 24.5 to € 28.5 million (+16.4%) as a result of the growth of both the same stores 
(€ 3.1 million,  +13.4%) and the “non-same” stores (€ 0.9 million), thanks to the new stores opened in 
Italia and the UK.  
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In 2012 the fast food sector recorded a drop in turnover of € 1.1 million, down 0.6%. This result 
derives from revenue from the same stores 1, which recorded a loss of € 5.7 million, mainly attributable 
to motorway outlets in  Italy (-3.6 million, a drop of 6.8%) and from outlets in the old terminal of 
Vienna airport (€ -2.8 million), substantially offset, nonetheless, by revenue from the new sales outlets 
opened in Terminal 3, inaugurated in mid-2012. As regards same stores, there was a rise in revenue 
from stations (+ € 0.6 million, +6.0%) and the urban channel (+ € 0.5 million, +6.5%). Non-same 
stores, excluding the new outlets opened in Vienna airport, grew by € 1.7 million, thanks to the urban 
and airport sales outlets opened in Italy and China in the last 12 months.  

EBITDA totalled € 11.1 million. Nevertheless, EBIT for 2011, € 16.6 million, on a like-for-like basis 
would equal € 13.0 million. A comparison with 2011 therefore shows a decrease of € 1.9 million, with 
the margin on turnover falling from 6.5% to 5.6%. Contrasting trends were observed in 2012 for the 
two businesses the Group operates in. In the fast food area, EBITDA fell by € 2.6 million (-20.4%), as 
a result of the negative performance of the business in Italy, linked to the particular market situation 
highlighted above, while abroad, the 2011 results held up. There was a rise of € 0.8 million, on the 
other hand, in the travel retail sector, due to an improvement in performance in Italy (+ € 0.2 million) 
and the decrease in losses as regards business abroad (+ € 0.6 million). 
 
EBIT was negative to the tune of € 0.1 million, compared to a positive result of € 6.0 million recorded 
in 2011 which, on a like-for-like basis, equalled € 2.9 million. Compared to the 2011 restated figure, 
EBIT was down € 3.0 million, due to the decrease in EBITDA and the increase in depreciation and 
amortisation connected with the investments made in the new openings. 
 
The pre-tax result of the Group was negative for € 2.4 million, compared to a positive result of € 4.1 
million in 2011 (the pre-tax result of 2011 on a like-for-like basis amounted to € 1.1 million). Compared 
to 2011 on a like-for-like basis, the result was affected by the increase in net financial charges and 
investment expenses. 
 
The net result of the Group equalled € -0.7 million, compared to a positive result of € 5.1 million in 
2011 (the net result of 2011 on a like-for-like basis amounted to € 1.9 million). This result was affected 
negatively by the components commented on above and by losses deriving from assets held for sale, 
and positively by the effects of the tax benefit generated by the release of goodwill of Airest Retail S.r.l 
and the recording of the credit for the Ires from Irap refund, pursuant to art. 2 of Law Decree 
201/2011. 

 

Investments 
 

In 2012, the Airest Group continued to pursue its investment plans in tangible and intangible fixed 
assets for a total of € 13.9 million, of which about € 12.7 million in the fast food business, € 10.3 
million in Italy and € 2.4 million abroad, and € 1.2 million in the travel retail business. 
Specifically, investments in the fast food sector in Italy mainly regarded the creation of new premises in 
airports, towns and in outlet centres (€ 1.8 million), the reconstruction work in the Arino service areas 
(€ 4.8 million), the renovation and extraordinary maintenance work in a number of sales outlets (€ 2.8 
million), the work to improve the IT infrastructure and extraordinary maintenance at warehouses (€ 0.9 
million).  
In the fast food sector abroad, investments were mainly for the opening of new sales outlets in Austria 
(€ 1.8 million), in China (€ 0.3 million), and the implementation of Sap and extraordinary maintenance 
in  Prague (€ 0.3 million).  
Finally, in the travel retail business, investments totalled € 0.6 million in Italy (gross of contributions 
by third parties for € 0.2 million), and regarded both the opening of new outlets and the renovation of 

                                                 
1) In the analysis included in this document reference is made to the term "same-store sales “and "non-same-store-sales", "same stores" and 
"non-same stores ".  For a clearer understanding of these concepts, we specify that same stores are stores that have been in operation during 
the whole FY12 and FY11. Consequently, "non-same stores” refer to stores that were opened or closed during 2011 or 2012.  
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existing premises, as well as € 0.6 million abroad, mainly for the new store openings in Germany, the 
UK and Ireland.  
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Type and Management of Financial Risks  
 
The Group strategy for financial risk management complies with company objectives and aims to 
minimise interest rate risk and related optimisation of the cost of debt and credit and liquidity 
risk. 
These risks are managed while complying with principles of prudence and in accordance with 
“best practices” of the market, and all risk management transactions are handled on a central 
level. 
 

Interest rate risk 
 
The aims of the objectives set by the Group are: 

 to protect financial payables from the risk of interest rate fluctuations; 

 in hedging risks, to comply with general criteria of balance between uses and loans for the 
Group (variable or fixed rate portions, short or medium-long term portions). 

 
The group owns derivative financial instruments for the purpose of hedging its exposure to the 
risk of change in interest rates for approx. 7.6% of the Group investments’ value (cash flow 
hedges).  
 

Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that one of the parties executing a contract which envisages a deferred 
payment over time fails to fulfil a payment obligation, thus causing the other party to suffer a 
financial loss. 
This risk can be caused by technical and commercial factors or administrative and legal disputes 
(regarding the quality/nature of the supply, interpretation of contract provisions, invoices 
supporting payment, etc.) or by financial factors or, in short, by the credit standing of the other 
party. 
For the Group, exposure to credit risk mainly relates to the sale of aviation services and property 
transactions. 
To control this risk, the Group has implemented procedures and actions to evaluate customers, 
based on which to assign a level of attention. 
Maximum credit risk regarding the other financial assets of the Group, which include cash and 
cash equivalents, is equivalent to the book value of these assets in the event of insolvency on the 
part of the counterparty. 
 

Liquidity risk 
 
The Group has a prudent liquidity risk management policy – namely, it has developed a strategy 
to prevent cash disbursements from representing a critical factor for the Group. The minimum 
objective is to give the company the necessary lines of credit to repay debt falling due in the 
subsequent twelve months. Credit lines (including those used both as cash and credit 
commitments) not used by the banking system in the Parent Company equalled € 62 million, 
while at Group level the figure was € 63 million. 
The Group financial needs are guaranteed by long-term funding, obtained mainly through 
medium- to long-term loans, including in relation to individual acquisition transactions. The 
portion of loans recorded at amortised costs and falling due after more than one year—also 
including those related to the finance lease contracts in force—came to € 89.7 million, against a 
net financial position of € 81.6 million. 
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For further details on the medium/long-term loans outstanding at 31 December 2012, see the 
paragraph dedicated to “Financial payables to banks net of current share” in the Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 

Other main risks and variables to which Save S.p.A. and the Group are exposed 
 
Risks relating to general economic conditions 

 
The Group’s income statement, balance sheet, and financial position is impacted by various 
factors, which make up the macro-economic scenario – including the increase or decrease in 
GNP, level of loyalty among consumers and businesses, performance of interest rates for 
consumer credit, cost of raw materials, and the unemployment rate – in the various countries in 
which the Group operates. 
This report contains some anticipatory statements. These statements are based on the Group’s 
current expectations and projections with regard to future events, including patterns in the 
general economic conditions described above, which are subject to an intrinsic element of risk 
and uncertainty, and by nature, are out of the Group’s control. 
 

Risks resulting from a drop in the number of passengers or quantity of goods in transit at 
airports managed by the Group 

 
The volume of passengers and goods in transit at airports managed by the SAVE Group 
constitutes a key factor in the Group’s financial performance. Specifically, the potential reduction 
or suspension of flights by one or more airlines (particularly with regard to those that operate at 
airports managed by the SAVE Group), including as a consequence of the on-going financial 
issues of the airlines; the suspension or variation of connections to some of the destinations 
known for their high flow of passengers; termination of or change in alliances among carriers; or 
the occurrence of events liable to decrease the users’ overall perception of quality with regard to 
the services provided at  airports managed by the SAVE Group (e.g. due to lower quality 
standards in services provided by the handling companies operating at the airports, or 
interruptions in the activities they carry out) or unpredictable natural events, could result in the 
decrease of passenger flow, leading to a negative impact on the activities and financial 
performance of the Group itself. 
Nonetheless, based on past experience, the Group feels confident in facing risks relating to the 
reduction or suspension of flights by one or more airlines operating at airports managed by the 
SAVE Group (despite not having any certainty on the matter), in consideration of the fact that 
passenger flow would be redistributed to other airlines present in the market, and also based on 
the capacity of the SAVE Group to attract new carriers to the airports it manages. There is, 
however, a possibility that this redistribution could require a certain period of time, which may 
temporarily affect air passenger volumes. 
 

Risks resulting from a drop in the number of passengers in transit in other transportation 
networks where the Group operates. 

 
The volume of passengers in transit at the railway stations in which the Group operates, or a 
decrease in motorway traffic, are key factors affecting the Group’s financial performance. The 
extensive network of shops and services is, however, an element that allows this risk to be 
contained to an extent, due to diversification in the various transport infrastructures. 
 

Risks relating to Group results 
 
Any macro-economic event, such as a significant decline in one of the main markets, volatility of 
financial markets and the resulting deterioration of the capital market, an increase in commodity 
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prices, unfavourable fluctuations in specific factors such as interest rates – all of which are prone 
to having negative effects on the sectors in which the Group operates – could have a highly 
negative impact on the Group’s business activities and prospects, not to mention its income 
statement and financial position. The profitability of Group activities is also subject to risks 
relating to the fluctuation of interest rates and the inflation rate, solvency of counterparties, and 
the general economic conditions in the countries where activities are carried out. 
 

Risks relating to the role of certain key figures 
 
The SAVE Group’s success depends on certain key figures who have contributed significantly to 
the Group’s development. The Group believes it has an operational and managerial structure able 
to ensure continuity in the management of corporate affairs. However, in the event that any of 
the aforementioned figures should terminate their working relationship with the SAVE Group, 
there is no guarantee that the Group would be able to find an immediate replacement able to 
ensure the same contribution over the short term, and this could have negative repercussions for 
the SAVE Group. 
 

Risks relating to legal framework 
 
Through the Airport Management business unit, the SAVE Group carries out its activities in a 
sector governed by a number of legal provisions applicable at both national and international 
level. Any changes to the current legal framework (specifically, amendments concerning relations 
with the government, public entities, or authorities in the sector; establishment of airport charges 
and total concession fees; airport pricing system; slot assignment; environmental protection; or 
noise pollution) could have an impact on operations and financial performance for both the 
Company and the Group. 
For an in-depth look at the major changes in the legal framework and the business outlook, see 
the specific section on these matters contained in the Directors’ Report. 
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Parent Company’s Performance  
 

Parent Company’s Summary Data 
 

(€/million) 2012 2011 % change Change

Revenue 107.9 108.9 -0.9% (0.9)

EBITDA* 43.9 44.3 -0.9% (0.4)

EBIT** 33.4 33.0 1.4% 0.5

Gross result for the period 34.0 33.8 0.7% 0.2

Net profit/loss 23.6 23.0 2.6% 0.6

Fixed operating capital 254.5 261.7 -2.7% (7.2)

Net working capital (9.3) (17.8) -47.5% 8.5

Net invested capital*** 245.2 243.9 0.5% 1.3

NET EQUITY 250.6 248.0 1.0% 2.6

NET FINANCIAL POSITION 5.4 4.2 30.6% 1.3

EBIT/Revenue (ROS) 31.0% 30.3%

EBIT/Net invested capital (ROI) 13.6% 13.5%

NFP/Net equity - Gearing (0.02) (0.02)
 

 
 
 
* EBITDA” is the amount before the deduction of amortisation, depreciation, provision for risks and provision for 
renovation, write-downs, financial administration, taxes and non-recurring transactions. 
** EBIT is the amount before the deduction of financial administration, taxes and non-recurring transactions. 
*** “Net invested capital” is the sum of the “net working capital” (sum of inventories, trade receivables, payables to 
and receivables from tax authorities and social security institutions, other assets and liabilities, trade payables), and 
fixed assets before the deduction of the severance indemnity and provisions for risks.  
 
 
 
 



 

49 
 

Parent Company's performance results  
 
Below is the reclassified income statement for SAVE S.p.A.: 
 

107,940 100.0% 108,883 100.0% (943) -0.9%

Raw materials and goods 1,018 0.9% 713 0.7% 305 42.8%

Services 35,796 33.2% 37,367 34.3% (1,571) -4.2%

Lease and rental costs 3,387 3.1% 3,469 3.2% (82) -2.4%

Personnel costs 22,859 21.2% 21,993 20.2% 866 3.9%

Sundry operating expenses 1,011 0.9% 1,057 1.0% (46) -4.4%

Total operating costs 64,071 59.4% 64,599 59.3% (528) -0.8%

EBITDA 43,869 40.6% 44,284 40.7% (415) -0.9%

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 5,232 4.8% 5,053 4.6% 179 3.5%

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 2,571 2.4% 2,571 2.4% 0 0.0%

Losses and bad debts 0 0.0% 1,000 0.9% (1,000) 0.0%

Provision for risks and provision for renovation 2,631 2.4% 2,679 2.5% (48) -1.8%

Total amortisation, depreciation and allocations 10,434 9.7% 11,303 10.4% (869) -7.7%

EBIT 33,435 31.0% 32,981 30.3% 454 1.4%

Financial income / (expenses) 591 0.5% 810 0.7% (219) -27.0%

Pre-tax result 34,026 31.5% 33,791 31.0% 235 0.7%

Taxes 10,459 9.7% 10,827 9.9% (368) -3.4%

Profit /(loss) for the period 23,567 21.8% 22,964 21.1% 603 2.6%

Operating revenue and other income

€/000 2012 2011 Difference

 
 
The Parent Company achieved operating revenue and other income of around € 107.9 million, 
compared to € 108.9 million in 2011. This result was affected by the performance of airport 
traffic, which fell by 4.6% compared to 2011; note that in 2011 the airport benefitted from 1.3 
million passengers as a result of the closure of Treviso airport for some six months. The item 
breakdown is as follows: 
 

€/000 2012 Inc. in % terms 2011 Inc. in % terms Difference % difference

Aeronautical 67,363 62.4% 69,658 64.0% (2,295) -3.3%

Goods Handling Depot 3,140 2.9% 3,413 3.1% (273) -8.0%

Handling 704 0.7% 859 0.8% (155) -18.0%

Aeronautical revenue 71,207 66.0% 73,930 67.9% (2,723) -3.7%

Ticketing 133 0.1% 216 0.2% (83) -38.4%

Parking 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

Advertisement 1,498 1.4% 984 0.9% 514 52.2%

Commercial/Marketing 26,890 24.9% 26,973 24.8% (83) -0.3%

Non-aeronautical revenue 28,521 26.4% 28,173 25.9% 348 1.2%

Other revenue 8,212 7.6% 6,780 6.2% 1,432 21.1%

Total 107,940 100.0% 108,883 100.0% (943) -0.9%

 
 
EBITDA equalled € 43.9 million, basically in line with 2011 (€ 44.3 million). This result was 
affected by the revenue obtained, followed by an overall saving on costs for services, despite a 
significant rise in the cost of utilities. The increase in employment costs was also affected by the 
strengthening of the structure in order to support the growth expected over the coming years.  
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EBIT, at € 33.4 million, was up on the 2011 figure, as a result of the lower provision for bad 
debts. 
 
The pre-tax result amounted to € 34 million compared to € 33.8 million in the previous FY.  
 
Net profit amounted to € 23.6 million, up 2.6% compared to € 23 million in 2011. 
 

Reclassified balance sheet of the Parent Company  

 €/000 31-dic-12 31-dic-11 Change

Tangible fixed assets 9,918 9,737 181

Intangible fixed assets 134,343 138,913 (4,570)

Financial fixed assets 132,128 134,551 (2,423)

Deferred tax assets 9,522 8,859 663

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 285,911 292,060 (6,149)

Employee severance indemnity (2,439) (2,448) 9

Provision for liabilities and deferred taxes (28,961) (27,943) (1,018)

PERMANENT WORKING CAPITAL 254,511 261,669 (7,158)

Inventories 1,012 855 157

Trade receivables 19,896 17,473 2,423

Tax assets and deferred taxes 3,634 241 3,393

Other receivables and other short-term assets 20,455 21,459 (1,004)

Trade payables and advances (20,144) (21,704) 1,560

Tax liabilities (858) (3,828) 2,970

Payables to social security authorities (1,725) (1,618) (107)

Other payables (31,617) (30,688) (929)

TOTAL PERMANENT WORKING CAPITAL (9,347) (17,810) 8,463

NET NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE 0 0 0

TOTAL INVESTED CAPITAL 245,164 243,859 1,305

NET EQUITY 250,601 248,023 2,578

Cash and short-term assets (49,004) (9,266) (39,738)

Short-term payables to banks 16,092 12,188 3,904

Long-term payables to banks 40,935 7,813 33,122

Payables to other lenders 92 62 30

Financial receivables from group companies (27,812) (28,420) 608

Financial payables to group companies 14,260 13,459 801

TOTAL NET FINANCIAL POSITION (5,437) (4,164) (1,273)

TOTAL FINANCIAL SOURCES 245,164 243,859 1,305

 
 
Permanent working capital fell by € 7.2 million, following the block on investments during the 
year and the repayment of € 2.4 million for an interest-free loan by the subsidiary Archimede 3. 
 
Net working capital went from € -17.8 million to € -9.3 million, mainly due to changes 
regarding taxation, such as the credit recorded for the IRES from IRAP refund, amounting to 
around € 2.5 million at Group level.  
Net equity, € 250.6 million, rose by around € 2.6 million, as a result of the € 23.6 million profit 
for the year, less the € 21 million paid out in dividends.  
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NET FINANCIAL POSITION 

(€/000) 31-12-12 31-12-11

Cash and cash equivalents 48,908 9,183

** Financial assets 96 83

Financial receivables from group companies 27,812 28,420

Short-term assets 76,816 37,686

* Payables to banks 16,092 12,188

** Other financial liabilities – current share 92 62

Financial payables to group companies 14,260 13,459

Short-term liabilities 30,444 25,709

** Financial payables to banks net of current share 40,935 7,813

Long-term liabilities 40,935 7,813

Net financial position 5,437 4,164

* of which net liabilities for derivative contracts carried at fair value 92 62

** Total gross payables to banks 57,027 20,001

 
 
The net financial position to banks and other lenders, including financial receivables and payables 
to other Group companies, was positive for € 5.4 million, compared with a financial position that 
was also positive for € 4.2 million at the end of the last FY. 
 

Management and Coordination Activities 
 
SAVE is not subject to management and coordination activities carried on by another person or 
entity. 
Following the disclosure by Finanziaria Internazionale Holding S.p.A. concerning the acquisition 
of de facto control on SAVE, sent to the Italian Antitrust Authority and SAVE itself in July 
2011, the latter put in place the checks required under Articles 2497 et seq. of the Italian Civil 
Code and found that the parent did not appear to have ever imposed upon its subsidiary any 
binding market strategies nor to have assumed the management of relations with public and 
private institutions on behalf of the subsidiary; indeed, the Company and its Board independently 
defined the Company's strategic, operational and financial plans, examined and approved its 
financial policies and access to credit, and assessed the adequacy of its organisational, 
administrative and accounting structure. Therefore, also considering that there is no close affinity 
or complementarity between SAVE activities and those of Finanziaria Internazionale Holding 
S.p.A., nor is it expedient to pursue one common interest for the operational programs of these 
companies, SAVE has considered that in practice Finanziaria Internazionale Holding S.p.A does 
not carry out any management and coordination activity on the Company, pursuant to Articles. 
2497 et seq. of the Italian Civil Code. 
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Disclosure of Treasury Shares or Parent Shares in portfolio 
 
Pursuant to Article 2428, paragraphs no. 2, 3 and 4 of the Italian Civil Code, it is acknowledged 
that the Company and the Group, at 31 December 2012, owned no. 2,675,154 treasury shares 
directly through SAVE S.p.A.,. The nominal value of the treasury shares amounted to € 1.7 
million, equal to 4.834% of the share capital; they were recognised in the financial statements for 
€ 18.527 million. 
These purchases are made within the framework of the market practice relating to the 
establishment of the so-called "securities stock" in order to use the shares thus purchased, in line 
with the approval of the relevant shareholders’ meeting, as consideration for extraordinary 
transactions, including exchange of shares with other entities, as part of transactions that may be 
of interest to the Company. 
No treasury shares were purchased by SAVE S.p.A. 2012.  
 

Shares held by Directors and Statutory Auditors 
 
Based on the notifications provided in compliance with the law, the Directors and Statutory 
Auditors of SAVE S.p.A. who at 31 December 2012 directly and/or indirectly held shares in the 
company were:  

 Directors: 

 - Enrico Marchi (Chairman of the BoD):   541,266 shares  

 - Paolo Simioni (CEO):    1,500 shares 
 

Corporate Governance  
 
SAVE Group adheres to the Self-Regulatory Code of Italian listed companies, published in 
March 2006 and subsequently amended and promoted by Borsa Italiana S.p.A.  
The Company, as required by the regulations in force, has set out the “Report on corporate governance 
and company structure”, which contains a general description of the corporate governance system 
adopted, as well as information on the company structure and its adherence to the Self-
Regulatory Code.  
This document also provides a description of the governance practices applied and the main 
characteristics of the risk management and internal control systems.  The document, approved by 
the management body and published together with the report on operations, is provided together 
with these financial statements, and may also be consulted on the Company’s website 
(www.veniceairport.it) in the section "Investor relations/Shareholders’ Meetings”. The Self-Regulatory 
Code may be consulted on the website of Borsa Italiana S.p.A. (www.borsaitaliana.it). 
 

Organisation, management and control model as per Legislative Decree no. 
231/2001 

 
The Board of Directors of SAVE adopted the Organisation, Management and Control Model as 
per Legislative Decree no. 231/2001 at the meeting of 30 June 2009, and approved the updating 
thereof at the meeting held on 29 July 2011. The activities carried out for the purpose of updating 
the Model to cover the new liable offences introduced by legislation up to 31/12/2012 are in the 
process of completion. 
SAVE’s current Supervisory Body was appointed by the Board of Directors of 15 May 2012, and 
is composed of the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee, the Chairman of the Board of 
Statutory Auditors and the Head of the Internal Audit Management. 
The Supervisory Body has the specific task – in line with the provisions of Legislative Decree no. 
231/2001 – of watching over the functioning of the Model and compliance therewith, ensuring it 
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is kept constantly up to date and guaranteeing all relevant parties are made aware of it, also by 
means of appropriate training activities. 
The 231 Model of the Company has identified those activities regarded as sensitive in relation to 
the committing of offences classified under the regulation among liable offences, and documents 
the control protocols concerning the management of the company’s activities and decision-
making processes aimed at preventing the applicable liable offences. 
The 231 Model of the Company includes a Code of Ethics, already adopted during previous 
financial years. This code defines and explains the values and principles that govern activities and 
relationships with employees, collaborators, customers, suppliers, shareholders, institutions and 
all other stakeholders, as well as the main methods for pursuing and applying these principles and 
values. 
 

Dealings with subsidiaries, affiliates and related parties 
 
For details on relations entertained during the FY with affiliates and related parties, see the 
relevant paragraph of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 

Statement of Reconciliation of Net Equity and the Result for the Period 
 
In compliance with Consob Notification no. DEM/6064293 of 28.7.2006, please find below the 
statement of reconciliation between the Group’s FY profit and net equity and the comparable 
figures for the Parent Company. 
 

(€/000)
Net equity at 

31/12/2011

Result for the 

current period

Net equity at 

31/12/2012

SAVE SpA's financial statements (Parent Company) 248,022 23,567 250,602

Derecognition of the value of consolidated equity investments

- difference between book value and pro quota value and derecognition of dividends (33,014) 8,890 (24,875) 

- higher values allocated 88,480 (1,632) 86,848

Derecognition of profits earned on sale of assets and intra-group equity investments (538) 907 369

Derecognition of dividends (1,660) 

Effect of equity investments carried at equity 6,584 1,527 8,111

Other transactions 118 29 147

Tax effects on consolidation adjustments (630) 124 (507) 

Net equity and operating profit pertaining to the Group 309,021 31,751 320,694

Minority net interest 25,146 1,557 26,683

Net equity and result for the year of the consolidated financial statements 334,167 33,308 347,377  
 

Allocation of the year’s profit/loss 
 
The Board of Directors proposed to the Shareholders to pay a dividend totalling € 23,000,000, 
entirely from the profits realised by the Parent Company, i.e. € 0.41561 per share entitled to 
profits, thus excluding treasury shares held by the company (in compliance with the provisions of 
article 2357ter, para. 2, of the Italian Civil Code), the dividend of which will increase the dividend 
of the other shares pro-rata. 
 
Dear Shareholders, 
 
We are confident that you will agree with the criteria we used in drafting the financial statements 
for the FY closed on 31 December 2012 and we ask you to approve them. 
 
The Chairman of the Board of Directors 
Enrico Marchi
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Consolidated Statement  of Financial Position

Assets (€/000) Notes 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Cash and cash equivalents 1 58.968 17.896

Other financial assets 2 2.319 2.177

    related parties 2 398 722

Tax assets 3 4.325 608

Other receivables 4 20.242 21.195

    related parties 4 1.469 3.060

Trade receivables 5-31 37.933 37.718

    related parties 5-31 1.611 1.058

Inventories 6 13.694 12.098

Total current assets 137.481 91.692

Assets held for sale 38 310 0

Tangible fixed assets 7 117.841 108.605

Right of use of airport concessions 8 176.564 180.820

Concessions 8 78.717 82.890

Other intangible fixed assets with a definite life 8 5.293 6.543

Goodwill – other intangible fixed assets with an indefinite life 8 62.011 61.245

Equity investments in affiliates carried at equity 9 24.498 22.584

Other equity investments 9 1.185 2.892

Other assets 10 9.300 7.639

    related parties 10 584 1.155

Deferred tax assets 11 47.108 43.946

Total non-current assets 522.517 517.164

TOTAL ASSETS 660.308 608.856

Liabilities (€/000) Notes 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Trade payables 12 71.509 81.407

    related parties 12 166 133

Other payables 13 42.155 36.301

    related parties 13 2.558 928

Tax liabilities 14 2.838 5.524

Payables to social security authorities 15 6.001 5.689

Payables to banks 16 52.139 39.332

Other financial liabilities – current share 17 1.660 949

    related parties 17 649 196

Total current liabilities 176.302 169.202

Financial liabilities linked to assets held for sale 38 285 0

Other payables 18 292 226

Financial payables to banks net of current share  19 86.612 54.450

Financial payables to others net of current share 20 3.082 3.700

Provision for deferred taxes 21 16.595 17.377

Provision for severance indemnity and other staff provisions 22 7.134 7.181

Other provisions for liabilities and charges 23-33-34 22.629 22.553

Total non-current liabilities 136.344 105.487

TOTAL LIABILITIES 312.931 274.689

Net equity (€/000) Notes 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Share capital 24 35.971 35.971

Share premium account 24 130.351 130.351

Legal reserve 24 7.194 7.194

Reserve for treasury shares 24 (18.527) (18.527)

Other reserves and profits carried forward 24 133.954 113.715

Profit for the period 24 31.751 40.317

Total Group net equity 320.694 309.021

Minority net equity 24 26.683 25.146

TOTAL NET EQUITY 24 347.377 334.167

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET EQUITY 660.308 608.856

The reference period at 31 December 2011, according to the provisions of IFRS 3 Revised, was restated further to the final allocation of the capital gains that

had been temporarily allocated to goodwill in the Interim Financial Report at 30 June 2011, further to the combination that occurred on 30 June 2011. See the

paragraph “Business Combinations” for further details.
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Consolidated Separate Income Statement

(€/000) Notes

Operating revenue 25 336,395 329,710

Other income 25 16,104 17,528

Total operating revenue and other income 352,499 347,238

Cost of production

Raw and ancillary materials, consumables, and goods 26 76,089 76,124

Services 27 67,123 63,938

Lease and rental costs 28 39,123 37,883

Personnel costs:

Wages and salaries and social contribution charges 29 92,322 88,246

Severance indemnity 29 4,498 4,017

Other costs 29 936 1,081

Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs

Intangible fixed assets 30 13,103 11,822

Tangible fixed assets 30 11,322 10,172

Write-downs of short-term assets 31-5 532 1,344

Change in inventories of raw and ancillary materials, consumables and goods 32 (1,549) (327)

Allocations for risks 33-23 1,187 1,752

Allocations to the maintenance provision 34-23 2,420 2,370

Other charges 35 2,507 2,627

Total cost of production 309,613 301,049

EBIT 42,886 46,189

Financial income and write-ups of financial assets 36 3,295 2,627

Interest, other financial charges and write-downs of financial assets 36 (4,387) (5,003)

Profits/losses on affiliates carried at equity 36 3,664 4,102

2,572 1,726

Pre-tax result 45,458 47,915

Income taxes 37 10,807 5,251

current 37 15,223 28,043

def erred 37 (4,416) (22,791)

Profit (loss) for the period on continuing operations 34,651 42,664

Net profit (loss) on discontinued operations/assets held for sale 38 (1,343) (832)

Gross result for the period 33,308 41,832

Minority profit (loss) for the period 1,557 1,515

Group profit (loss) for the period 31,751 40,317

EPS

 - non diluted 0.603 0.765

 - diluted 0.603 0.765

Earnings per share exlcuding profit on assets held for sale

 - non diluted 0.628 0.781

 - diluted 0.628 0.781

2012 2011

The reference period at 31 December 2011, according to the provisions ofIFRS 3 Revised, was restated further to the final allocation of the

capital gains that had been temporarily allocated to goodwill in the Interim Financial Report at 30 June 2011, further to the business combination

that occurred on 30 June 2011. See the paragraph “Business Combinations” for further details.

 



 

57 
 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

(€/000) Notes 2012 2011

Profit (loss) for the period 33,308 41,832

Differences from conversion of financial statements of non-Euro companies 24 56 (259)

Other comprehensive income / (expenses) 24 867 (199)

Total Profit (Losses) of other items of the statement of comprehensive 

income after taxes 923 (458)

Total statement of comprehensive income 34,231 41,374

Minority comprehensive profit (loss) for the period 1,557 1,515

Total comprehensive result pertaining to the Group 32,674 39,859

The reference period at 31 December 2011, according to the provisions ofIFRS 3 Revised, was restated further to the final allocation of the capital

gains that had been temporarily allocated to goodwill in the Interim Financial Report at 30 June 2011, further to the business combination that

occurred on 30 June 2011. See the paragraph “Business Combinations” for further details.
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Consolidated cash flow statement 

(€/000) 2012 2011  Notes 

Assets for the year

Profit on continuing operations 33,094 41,148

Profit on discontinued operations/assets held for sale (1,343) (832)

Amortisation and depreciation 24,684 22,276 30

Net changes in provision for employee severance indemnity (49) (1,054) 22 - 29

Accrual to (Use of) provision for liabilities and charges 1,679 2,795 22 - 33 - 34

(Capital gain) Capital losses on disposal of assets (2) (54)

(Income) from tax exemption of intangible fixed assets (2,246) (11,156) 3 - 11 - 14 - 21

(Capital gain) on contribution of equity investments (1,657) (3,824)

(Write-up) Write-down of equity investments carried at equity (1,463) (2,030) 36

Subtotal self-financing (A) 52,697 47,269

Decrease (increse) in trade receivables (158) (210) 5 - 31

Decrease (increase) in other operating activities (2,270) (1,768) 4 - 6 - 10

Decrease (increase) in assets/liabilities to/from tax authorities (8,106) (13,427) 3 - 11 - 14 - 21

Increase (decrease) in trade payables (10,819) 19,528 12

Increase (decrease) in payables to social security authorities 312 349 15

Increase (decrease) in other liabilities for the year 8,009 6,573 13 - 18 - 24

Subtotal (B) (13,030) 11,045

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (A + B) = ( C ) 39,667 58,314

Investment activities

(Acquisition) of tangible fixed assets (17,093) (14,383) 7 - 30

Divestments of tangible fixed assets 474 947 7 - 30

(Acquisition) of intangible fixed assets (7,436) (32,176) 8 - 30

Divestments of intangible fixed assets 663 140 8 - 30

Transfer (Acquisition) of minority interests 0 (9,750) 9

Decrease in financial fixed assets 3,626 9 9

(Increase) in financial fixed assets (168) (5) 9

(Increase) decrease in non-current financial assets to related parties (496) (573) 10

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES (D) (20,430) (55,791)

Lending activities

Acquisition of payables to other lenders 473 417 17 - 20

(Repayment) of payables to other lenders (640) (5,523) 17 - 20

(Repayment) and other changes in loans (20,863) (19,915) 16 - 19

New loans opened 63,779 30,600 16 - 19

(Increase) / decrease in financial assets other than fixed assets 725 (1,352) 2

Dividends paid (21,000) (18,000) 24

Purchase of treasury shares 0 (975) 24

Change in short-term net debt arising from acquired companies (2,662) (318)

Other (5) (274)

CASH FLOW FROM LENDING ACTIVITIES (E) 19,807 (15,340)

CASH FLOW FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS/ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (F) (25) 141

NET CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR (C+D+E+F) 39,019 (12,676)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD 4,428 17,104

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 43,447 4,428

Additional information:

Interest paid 3,031 2,053

Taxes paid 21,014 31,191

The reference period at 31 December 2011, according to the provisions ofIFRS 3 Revised, was restated further to the final allocation of the capital

gains that had been temporarily allocated to goodwill in the Interim Financial Report at 30 June 2011, further to the business combination that

occurred on 30 June 2011. See the paragraph “Business Combinations” for further details.  
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Statement of Changes in Consolidated Shareholders' Equity 
Re: Note 24 
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Balance at 1 January 2011 35,971 7,194 130,351 (17,552) 45,112 148 512 20,385 69,239 291,361 28,289 319,650

Result of separate income statement 40,357 40,357 1,515 41,872

Other comprehensive profits / losses (259) (199) (458) (458)

Other changes (3) (3)

Result of statement of comprehensive income 35,971 7,194 130,351 (17,552) 45,112 (111) 512 20,385 109,397 331,261 29,801 361,061

Dividend payment (18,000) (18,000) (18,000)

Other changes (3,225) (3,225) (4,655) (7,880)

Treasury shares purchased (975) (975) (975)

Balance at 31 December 2011 35,971 7,194 130,351 (18,527) 45,112 (111) 512 20,385 88,172 309,061 25,146 334,207
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Balance at 1 January 2012 35,971 7,194 130,351 (18,527) 45,112 (111) 512 20,385 88,172 309,061 25,146 334,207

Effect of reinstatement (40) (40) (40)

Balance at 1 January 2012 reinstated 35,971 7,194 130,351 (18,527) 45,112 (111) 512 20,385 88,132 309,021 25,146 334,167

Result of separate income statement 31,751 31,751 1,557 33,308

Other comprehensive profits / losses 56 867 923 923

Other changes 0 (21) (21)

Result of statement of comprehensive income 35,971 7,194 130,351 (18,527) 45,112 (55) 512 20,385 120,750 341,694 26,683 368,377

Dividend payment (21,000) (21,000) (21,000)

Other changes

Treasury shares purchased

Balance at 31 December 2012 35,971 7,194 130,351 (18,527) 45,112 (55) 512 20,385 99,750 320,694 26,683 347,377

The reference period at 31 December 2011, according to the provisions ofIFRS 3 Revised, was restated further to the final allocation of the capital gains that had been temporarily allocated to goodwill in the Interim Financial Report at 30 June 2011, further

to the business combination that occurred on 30 June 2011. See the paragraph “Business Combinations” for further details.
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GROUP ACTIVITIES 
 
The Group is active in three main business areas: airport management, transport infrastructures 
(railway stations) and traveller services (management of commercial and food & beverage 
activities). 
 

Accounting Standards adopted in drafting the Consolidated Financial Statements 
at 31 December 2012 

 

Drafting criteria 
 
These consolidated financial statements refer to FY closed on 31 December 2012. 
They were drafted based on the principle of historical cost, with the exclusion of the section 
regarding derivative financial instruments or financial assets held for sale, which are recorded at 
fair value, and on a going concern basis. The Group considered that, despite the persistence of 
the difficult economic and financial situation, there are no significant uncertainties (as defined by 
par. 25 of IAS 1) regarding business continuity. 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euros, the Group’s operating currency, 
and all of the figures are rounded off to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated. 
 

Compliance with IAS/IFRS and the provisions issued to enforce article 9 of Legislative Decree 
38/2005 

 
The consolidated financial information at 31 December 2012 has been drafted in compliance 
with the IFRS adopted by the European Union and in force at the date of drafting, and with the 
measures issued to enforce art. 9 of Legislative Decree no. 38/2005 (Consob Resolutions nos. 
15519 and 15520 of 27 July 2006). 
 

Form and content of consolidated financial statements 
 
These financial statements were drafted by the Board of Directors based on account documents 
and consolidated figures updated to 31 December 2012. 
For the purpose of comparison, the financial statements contain reports presenting balance sheet 
data at 31 December 2011 and the economic figures for 2011. 
The company chose to use the preferred schemes outlined in IAS 1 for the income statement and 
statement of comprehensive income, considering this to be the most effective way to illustrate 
the company’s performance. More specifically: balance sheet divided into current and non-
current assets and liabilities; income statement recording income and charges by cost nature; and 
cash flow statement (drafted according to the indirect method) divided into operations, 
investment, and financing activities. 
 

Scope of Consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2012 include, in accordance with the 
global integration method, the companies in which the Parent Company SAVE S.p.A. – 
hereinafter “SAVE” – directly or indirectly holds the majority of the shares or equity interests 
and voting rights. 
All intra-group balances and transactions, including any uncollected profits and losses from 
dealings between companies in the Group, were completely written-off. 
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The subsidiaries were consolidated line-by-line starting at the date of acquisition, or the date on 
which the Group gained control, and ceased to be consolidated as of the date on which control 
was transferred outside the Group. 
The book value of the equity investments included within the scope of consolidation is written 
off against the net equity of the subsidiaries, in accordance with the line-by-line method. 
Any difference between the acquisition price and the book value of the net equity of the 
subsidiaries at the time the equity interest is purchased is posted to specific assets, liabilities or 
potential liabilities of the companies purchased, based on their fair value at the date of 
acquisition, with the remainder being posted, if the conditions therefor exist, to Goodwill. In this 
case, these amounts are not amortised, and are subjected instead to impairment tests at least once 
a year and in any case whenever impairment indicators are envisaged. 
Minority interests represent the portion of profits or losses and net assets not held by the Group 
and were recorded separately on the income statement. On the balance sheet they were charged 
to net equity, separate from the Group’s net equity. Minority interest acquisitions that occurred in 
the previous FYs were entered using the “parent entity extension method,” where the difference 
between the price paid and the book value for the share in the net acquired assets was recorded 
as goodwill. In application of IAS 27 Revised, changes to the portion of interest that do not 
represent a loss of control were treated as equity transactions and were therefore offset by net 
equity. 
SAVE also holds equity interests in enterprises subjected to joint control, where, on the basis of 
contractual agreements, there is shared control over decisions of a strategic and financial nature, 
which must be adopted with the consent of all the participants; these equity investments were 
consolidated using the proportional method: the balance sheet and income statement were 
integrated “pro-rata,” based on the percentage held; the book value for the share held was written 
off for the corresponding net equity. 
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The companies included in the scope of consolidation using the line-by-line or proportional 
methods are listed below: 

PARENT COMPANY:

SAVE S.p.A. € 35,971,000

its subsidiaries:

Marco Polo Park S.r.l. € 516,460 100 100

Save International Holding SA € 7,450,000 100 99.97

its subsidiary:

           Belgian Airports SA € 5,600,000 65 64.98

Save Engineering S.p.A. € 120,000 100 97

N-AITEC S.r.l. € 50,000 100 100

Aer Tre S.p.A. € 13,119,840 80 80

Aeroporto Civile di Padova S.p.A. € 400,000 62.86 62.86

Società Agricola Ca’ Bolzan a r.l. € 98,800 100 100

Triveneto Sicurezza S.r.l. € 100,000 93 93

Airest S.p.a. € 20,000,000 99.84 99.84

Very Italian Food S.r.l. € 100,000 99.84 99.84

Airline Terminal & Business Catering Holding GmbH € 35,000 99.84 99.84

its subsidiaries :

           Airest Catering d.o.o. € 142,505 99.84 99.84

           Shanghai Airest Catering Company Ltd USD 3,250,000 99.84 99.84

           East Holding Gmbh € 300,000 99.84 99.84

          Airest   Restaurant Middle East Llc AED 150,000 48.92 -

          Airest Gastronomy & Retail GmbH € 35,000 99.84 99.84

               its subsidiary:

                  Airest Czech Republic a.s. CZK 60,660,000 99.84 99.84

Airest Collezioni S.a.r.l. (*) € 52,500 74.88 74.88

its subsidiaries:

        Airest Retail  S.r.l. (*) € 100,000 74.88 74.88

        Airest Russia O.O.O. (*) RUB 13,200,000 74.88 74.88

        Airest Collezioni Venezia S.r.l. (*) € 10,000 74.88 74.88

        Airest Collezioni Dublin Ltd (*) € 1,460,451 74.88 74.88

        Airest Collezioni Glasgow Ltd (*) GBP 1 74.88 74.88

        Airest Collezioni Gmbh  (*) € 25,000 74.88 -

€ 25,000,000 60 60

its subsidiary:

     Centostazioni S.p.A. (*) € 8,333,335 24 24

Archimede 3 S.r.l. € 50,000 100 100

its subsidiary:

Idea 2 S.r.l. € 10,000 100 100

(*) consolidated with the proportional method.

31/12/2011

its subsidiaries :

Archimede 1 S.p.A.

Company Currency Share capital 31/12/2012

 
 
During FT 2012, no relevant changes occurred in the scope of consolidation of the Group 
compared to 31 December 2011. Nevertheless, the following should be noted: 
 

 During Q4 2012, the Group, through its subsidiary N-aitec S.r.l., acquired at 2011 equity 
values, the minority share of Save Engineering S.p.A. from the shareholders Agorà 
Investimenti S.r.l. and Marco Polo Holding S.r.l.. After the closing date of these consolidated 
financial statements, the share capital of Save Engineering S.p.A. was held for 97% by SAVE 
S.p.A. and for 3% by N-aitec S.r.l.. 

 Airest Restaurant Middle East Llc is to be consolidated line by line from 31 December 2012, 
in accordance with agreements reached by the shareholders. 
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 The subsidiary 3A – Advanced Airport Advisory S.r.l. was not consolidated, because it was 
not operative at the date of these consolidated financial statements.  

 The companies Rustichelli & Mangione S.r.l. and Airest Singapore Pte Ltd were not 
consolidated on a line-by-line basis in these financial statements of the Group, given the 
limited extent of their operations. 2A Airport Advertising Srl, incorporated in February, was 
not consolidated line by line in these financial statements of the Group, but was carried at 
equity in consideration of its minor impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

 

CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES  
 

Changes in accounting standards  
 
The accounting standards adopted to draft the consolidated financial statements are compliant 
with those adopted for drafting the yearly financial statements of the Group at 31 December 
2011. 
 

Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations effective from 1 January 2012 
 
With regard to accounting standards, please note that an amendment is applicable from 1 January 
2012 that complements the information provided pursuant to IFRS 7 and concerns an analysis of 
the quantity and quality of financial assets wholly or partially written off in which the group 
maintains an outstanding involvement. 
 

Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations effective from 1 January 2012 and not 
relevant to the Group 

 
The following amendment, applicable from 1 January 2012, governs circumstances and cases that 
were not present in the Group at the date of this Yearly Financial Report, but which could have 
accounting effects on the future transactions or agreements. 
On 20 December 2010 the IASB issued a minor amendment to IAS 12 - Income Taxes, which 
clarifies the determination of deferred taxes on investment property measured at fair value. The 
amendment introduces the presumption that deferred taxes related to investment property 
measured at fair value in accordance with IAS 40 should be determined taking into account the 
fact that the book value will be recovered through sale. As a result of this amendment, SIC-21 – 
Income Taxes – Recovery of revalued non-depreciable assets -  will no longer apply. The 
amendment shall be applicable retrospectively from 1 January 2012. The adoption of this 
amendment will have no impact on the Group financial statements. 

 

Accounting standards and amendments  not yet effective and not adopted in advance by the 
Group 

 
On 12 May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements, which will 
replace SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities (SPV) and parts of IAS 27 – 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements which will be renamed Separate Financial 
Statements and will regulate the accounting treatment of investments in separate financial 
statements. The new standard derives from existing standards and introduces a new control 
model applicable to all entities, including SPVs. The standard must be applied retrospectively, at 
the latest from the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014. At the date of this 
Annual Report, the Group is evaluating the consequences that may derive from the adoption of 
the new standard. 
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On 12 May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 11 – Joint arrangements, which will replace IAS 31 - 
Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 – Jointly controlled entities – Non-monetary contributions 
by venturers. The new standard provides criteria for identifying joint arrangements based on the 
rights and obligations arising from the arrangements rather than on their legal form and 
establishes the equity method as the only method to account for investments in jointly controlled 
entities in the consolidated financial statements. The standard must be applied retrospectively, at 
the latest from the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014. Following the issue of the 
standard, IAS 28 – Investments in associates – was amended to include in its scope also investments 
in joint ventures, as from the effective date of the standard. At the date of this Annual Report, 
the Group is evaluating the consequences that will derive from the adoption of the new standard. 
On 12 May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 12 – Disclosure of interests in other entities, which is a 
new and comprehensive principle on additional disclosure to be provided on each type of 
interests, including those in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, affiliates, special purpose entities and 
other unconsolidated structured entities. The standard must be applied retrospectively, at the 
latest from the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014. At the date of this Annual 
Report, the Group is evaluating the consequences that will derive from the adoption of the new 
standard. 
On 12 May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 13 – Fair value measurement, which explains how fair value 
should be determined for financial statement purposes and is applicable to all the standards that 
require or permit fair value measurement or information to be presented on the basis of fair 
value. The principle must be applied prospectively from 1 January 2013.  
On 16 June 2011, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 1 – Presentation of financial statements, 
which requires entities to group together all the items presented under "Other comprehensive 
income/(loss)" depending on whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss 
subsequently. This amendment is applicable to the financial years beginning on or after 1 July 
2012. The adoption of this amendment will have no impact in terms of the evaluation of items in 
the financial statements. 
On 16 June 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits, effective 
retrospectively from the financial year beginning on 1 January 2013. Since it alters the rules 
governing the recognition of plans with defined benefits and termination benefits, the amendment 
eliminates the option to defer recognition of actuarial gains and losses with the corridor method, 
which has never been applied by the Group, as well as the possibility of recording them in the 
income statement. This amendment requires the separate recognition of cost items related to 
work performance and net interest expense in profit or loss, as well as the recognition of actuarial 
gains and losses resulting under "Other comprehensive income/(loss)". In accordance with the 
transition rules provided for by IAS 19 in paragraph 173, the Group will apply this standard 
retrospectively from 1 January 2013, adjusting the initial equity and financial situation figures at 1 
January 2012 and the economic data for 2012 as if the amendments to IAS 19 had always been 
applied. 
On 16 December 2011 the IASB issued amendments to IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: 
Presentation to clarify the application of some criteria for offsetting financial assets and financial 
liabilities in IAS 32. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively from the financial years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2014.  
On 16 December 2011, the IASB published some amendments to IFRS 7 – Financial 
Instruments: additional disclosures. The amendment requires information on the effect or 
potential effects deriving from the rights to offset financial assets and liabilities on an entity’s 
financial position. The amendments shall be applied from the financial years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013 and interim periods subsequent to that date. The information must be 
provided retrospectively. The adoption of the amendment is not expected to have a significant 
effect on the Group’s  financial statements. 
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As at the date of this Yearly Financial Report, the relevant European Union bodies have not yet 
completed the standardisation process necessary for the adoption of the following accounting 
standards and amendments: 
On 12 November 2009 the IASB published IFRS 9 – Financial instruments; the same standard was 
subsequently amended. The standard, which shall be applied from 1 January 2015, 
retrospectively, is the first part of a multi-step process that aims to fully replace IAS 39 and 
introduces new criteria for the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities. In 
particular, with regard to financial assets, the new standard uses a unified approach based on how 
an entity manages its financial instruments and the characteristics of contractual cash flows of the 
financial assets to determine the measurement criteria, replacing the different rules in IAS 39. For 
financial liabilities, the main change introduced concerns the accounting treatment of changes in 
fair value of a financial liability designated as a financial liability at fair value through profit or 
loss, if these changes are due to a variation in the creditworthiness of the liability itself. According 
to the new standard these changes should be recognised in "Other comprehensive 
income/(loss)" and no longer through profit or loss. 
On 17 May 2012, the IASB issued a set of amendments to IFRS (“Annual Improvement to IFRS’s – 
2009-2011 Cycle”) that shall be applied retrospectively from 1 January 2013. Mentioned below are 
those that could result in a change to the presentation, recognition and evaluation of the items in 
the financial statements; no mention is made of those involving simple changes in terminology or 
wording that have minimal effects in terms of accounting, or those that have an effect on 
standards or interpretations that do not apply to the Group: 
IAS 1 – Presentation of the financial statements: the amendment clarifies the way in which 
comparative information is to be presented in the event that a company makes changes to 
accounting standards, re-presents information retrospectively or reclassifies it, or provides extra 
equity situation details not required by the standard; 
IAS 16 - Real estate, plants and machinery: the amendment makes it clear that spare parts and 
replacement equipment are to be capitalised only if they can be defined as real estate, plants and 
machinery; otherwise, they must be classified as Inventories; 
IAS 32 – Financial instruments: Presentation: the amendment eliminates a contradiction between 
IAS 12 – Income Taxes and IAS 32 on the recognition of taxes deriving from distributions to 
shareholders, establishing that these must be recorded in the income statement insofar as the 
distribution refers to income generated by transactions originally entered in the income 
statement. 
 

Seasonal nature of business 
 
Because of the cyclical nature of the sectors the Group operates in, higher revenue and operating 
results are generally expected in the second and third quarter of the year than in the first and last 
quarters. The highest sales figures are concentrated in the period from June to September, the 
peak summer holiday period when the highest number of users is recorded in the directly run 
mobility infrastructures (airports) and in those where the Food & Beverage and Retail points of 
sale are located (airports, railway stations, motorways and shopping centres). 
 

Significant accounting estimates 
 
Below are the key assumptions regarding the future and other important sources of uncertainty in 
the year-end estimates, which could produce significant adjustments in the book values of assets 
and liabilities by the end of the financial year. 
 
Impairment on goodwill and on other specific intangible fixed assets 
Goodwill is subject to annual verification to check for impairment; this check requires an 
estimate of the use value of the cash-generating unit which goodwill is attributed to, in turn based 
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on the estimate of the cash flows expected from the unit and time-discounting based on an 
appropriate discount rate. At 31 December 2012 goodwill entered totalled € 62 million. For 
further details, refer to note 8. 
For the purpose of verifying a potential impairment on the goodwill posted to the financial 
statements, the company adopted the method described in the paragraph “Impairment on 
tangible and intangible fixed assets”. The cash flows of the cash generating units attributable to 
each goodwill item were deduced from the Business Plans approved by the Boards of Directors.  
With regard to the other specific fixed assets with a definite useful life, a yearly impairment check 
is carried out on the residual value, resulting from the posting of the higher value paid upon 
purchase. At 31 December 2012 the residual value of specific intangible fixed assets with definite 
useful life entered totalled € 78.7 million. For further details, refer to note 8. 
Also in this case, for the purpose of verification the cash flows of the relevant cash generating 
unit have been deduced from the Business Plans approved by the Boards of Directors.  
For a more detailed analysis of the checks carried out at 31 December 2012 on the individual 
goodwill items and other specific intangible assets, see the paragraph below “Check on the 
recoverable value of assets or groups of assets”, before the evaluation criteria. 
 
Deferred tax assets 
Prepaid taxes are referred to the interim difference between book values and the values 
recognised for tax purposes, due to deferred deductibility costs, mainly concerning provisions for 
liabilities, and fiscal losses of some Group companies carried forward.  
These assets are entered when their recovery is probable, based on the discretion of directors, 
valued with particular concern for the ability of the parent company and subsidiaries to generate 
positive taxable income, also as a result of the decision to take advantage of "tax consolidation". 
Directors must estimate the probable time and amount of future taxable income. 
The evaluation was made based on the expected tax rate for the year in which the interim 
difference is expected to take place. At 31 December, deferred tax assets amounted to € 47.1 
million. For further details, refer to note 11. 
 
Provision for bad debts 
The provision for bad debts is determined based on a specific analysis of disputes and other 
items that, while not in dispute, demonstrate symptoms of a potential delayed collection. Overall 
assessment of the realisable value of trade receivables calls for estimates regarding the probability 
of collecting on these items and is therefore subject to uncertainty. At 31 December, provision 
for bad debts amounted to € 18.9 million. For further details, refer to note 5. 
 
Provision for renewal of licensed assets  
Against property held under concession agreements by some Group companies, a special 
provision was allocated for maintenance and renovation work that needs to be done on the 
licensed assets entered in the balance sheet. These assets must be transferred to the State in 
perfect operating conditions at the end of the concession period. 
The provision for renewal is allocated yearly – and used in accordance with the actual 
maintenance carried out during the FY – based on a technical evaluation of the estimate of future 
charges related to scheduled maintenance required to maintain the assets that must be returned 
free of charge at the end of the concession period (2041). At 31 December, the provision 
amounted to € 19 million. 
 
Pension funds and other post-employment benefits 
The cost of pension plans with defined benefits and of other post-employment benefits is 
determined by actuarial means. This actuarial means of evaluation requires hypotheses to be 
made regarding discount rates, the expected yield on investments, future salary increases, 
mortality rates and future increases in pensions. As a result of the long-term nature of these 
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plans, estimates are subject to a significant degree of uncertainty. Further details are given in note 
22. 
 
Current taxes 
Current taxes for the year in progress are carried at the amount that is expected to be reimbursed 
by or paid to the tax authorities. Tax rates and tax regulations used to calculate the amount are 
those issued or essentially issued at year-end of the consolidated financial statements. Current 
taxes relating to items posted directly to shareholders' equity are recorded directly to the balance 
sheet and not to the income statement. 
 

Check on the recoverable value of assets or groups of assets 
With the aid of an independent advisor, the impairment test were carried out in order to assess 
any impairment of the amounts allocated to Goodwill or Concessions, recognised in this and 
in previous years. 
The test is performed by comparing the carrying value of the asset or group of assets that make 
up the cash-generating unit (CGU) with the recoverable amount of said asset, given by the higher 
of the fair value (Net of any selling costs) and the present value of future net cash flows expected 
to be produced by the asset or by the group of assets (Value in use). 
 

 

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a further non-controlling interest in Aer Tre S.p.A. 
 
The impairment test was carried out to assess whether there were any impairment losses in 
relation to the amount of € 6.9 million, allocated to "goodwill", following the acquisition of a 
35% shareholding in the company Aer Tre S.p.A from non-controlling shareholders, which 
occurred in 2007. 
The Cash Generating Unit identified coincides with the legal entity Aer Tre S.p.A. 
 
The cash flows from the Cash Generating Unit were derived from the Business Plan, approved 
by the company's Board of Directors, which covers a time horizon between 2013 and 2052, and 
whose key elements are to be found in: (i) the forty-year total management concession obtained, 
(ii) trade revenue growth, owing to the appropriate investments made in the light of the growth 
in traffic (iii) the prudent reconsideration, in the light of the persistently difficult macroeconomic 
situation, of a number of revenue growth drivers and related investments. 
The gross Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) used to discount the cash flow is equal to 
9.0%, corresponding to an after- tax 6.4% WACC. 
The value in use identified exceeds the carrying value of the CGU by 8% approx. 
The value in use identified amounted to € 45.1 million, to be compared with a carrying value of € 
41.9 million, including the value of the invested capital related to the CGU for € 33.2 million. The 
sensitivity analysis applied to the changes in the discount rate used in the Plan show that the 
after-tax WACC that makes the value in use of the CGU equal to its carrying amount is equal to 
6.8%. 
 

Concession value arising on the acquisition of the interest in Centostazioni S.p.A. 
 
The impairment test was carried out to assess whether there were any impairment losses in 
relation to the amount of € 58.8 million (to be considered net of amortisation accrued up to 31 
December 2012), allocated to "Concessions", following the acquisition of a 40% interest in 
Centostazioni S.p.A., which was completed in FY2001. 
The Cash Generating Unit identified coincides with the legal entity Centostazioni S.p.A. 
The cash flows from the Cash Generating Unit were derived from the plan developed by the 
shareholder Archimede 1 S.p.A., the basic assumptions of which are derived from the guidelines 
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for development approved by the Board of Directors of Centostazioni S.p.A. The plan includes 
the full implementation of a series of development projects that take advantage of the 
opportunities within the framework of the core business of Centostazioni.  
These developments include the management of commercial areas and the extension of facility 
management services in new stations. The reference period has been subdivided into two periods: 
the first (2013-2017) refers to the explicit flows of the plan provided by the Management, while 
the second (2018-2041) refers to the flows deriving from the application of a growth rate, “g”, 
equal to 1.5% of revenue from 2017 until the expiry of the Concession. According to a large 
number of international indications, the typical range of the growth factor “g” in real terms is 
approximately between 0.5% and 2.5%. In practice, we have considered it appropriate to refer to 
the long-term inflationary index forecast for the Euro area.  
The gross WACC used to discount the cash flow is equal to 10.0%, corresponding to an after- 
tax 6.4% WACC.  
The analyses carried out show that the value in use identified is superior to approx. 18% of the 
carrying value, which includes, in addition to the value of the concession, the net capital invested 
related to the C.G.U. 
The value in use related to Archimede 1 amounted to around € 94.4 million, to be compared with 
a carrying value of € 79.8 million, including the net assets of the CGU for € 21.0 million approx.. 
The reference value was tested by applying a sensitivity analysis assuming both a constant WACC 
and a variable WACC. 

A sensitivity analysis assuming a constant WACC was carried out, assuming lower growth and 
profit margins than those in the Basic Plan, on the prudent assumption that a number of 
development activities will not be implemented. The value in use resulting from the sensitivity 
analisys exceeds the corresponding carrying amount by more than 11%. 
The resulting value in use stood at around € 89.2 million, exceeding the corresponding carrying 
amount. 
The results of the scenario analysis performed did not show sufficient indications of an 
impairment of the carrying value. 
The sensitivity analysis applied to the changes in discount rate show that the discount rate that 
makes the value in use of the CGU equal to its carrying amount corresponds to 7.9%. 
 
 

Concession value arising on the acquisition of the interest in Airest Czech Republic A.s. 
 
The impairment test was carried out to assess whether there were any impairment losses in 
relation to the amounts allocated to “Concessions” and “Goodwill” following the acquisition in 
2008 of the companies Fast Food Service A.s. (FFS) and ITP Services S.r.o. (ITPS), merged in 
2010 into one company named Airest Czech Republic A.s.. 
The capital gain allocated to “Concessions” totalled € 17.1 million, (to be considered net of 
amortisation accrued up to 31 December 2012), whereas € 4 million was allocated to “Goodwill”, 
generated as an offsetting to the recording of the Deferred Tax Provision, calculated on the value 
allocated to Concession. The residual Deferred Tax Provision amounted to € 3.25 million. 
The Cash Generating Unit identified is represented by Airest Czech Republic A.s.. 
The cash flows from the Cash Generating Unit were derived from the plan developed and 
approved by the directors of Airest Czech Republic A.s. and Airest SpA. The plan considers an 
expected yearly rise in passenger airport traffic of around 2% in 2013, on the upswing in 2014, 
with a significant rise between 2015 and 2016 when the second runway will be open and the 
current night flights will become daily flights, based on the estimates supplied by the management 
and the “studi di settore” (business sector analyses). 
The reference period for the plan runs until 2030, the year in which the concession expires.  
The gross WACC used to discount the cash flow is equal to 7.5%, corresponding to an after- tax 
5.4% WACC. 
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The value in use calculated on the basis of the plan developed by the management equalled € 28.7 
million, compared to a carrying amount of € 21.8 million. A sensitivity analysis has been carried 
out to test the ability of the value to hold steady even with a higher WACC. 
The above-mentioned analysis applied to the changes in discount rate shows that the after-tax 
discount rate that makes the recoverable value of the CGU equal to its carrying amount 
corresponds to 8.6% (more than 3 percentage points than the value attributable to the project). 
 

Concession value arising on the acquisition of the interest in R&M Airport S.r.l. (merged by 
incorporation in Airest S.p.A.) 

 
The impairment test was carried out to assess whether there were any impairment losses in 
relation to the amount of € 0.2 million (to be considered net of amortisation accrued up to 31 
December 2012), allocated to "Concessions", following the acquisition of R&M Airport S.r.l. – 
which was completed during the previous FY – merged by incorporation into its parent company 
Airest S.p.A., and to the amount allocated to “Goodwill”, € 0.2 million, arising on the deferred 
taxes calculated on the value allocated to “Concession”. 
The cash flows of the 6 sales outlets run in Fiumicino were derived from the plan developed and 
approved by the shareholders of Airest S.p.A.. The plan foresees an increase in revenues that 
considers the growth rate forecast by inflation equal to 2% on an annual basis and an expected 
average yearly increase of 5% in the number of passengers passing through the areas in which the 
points of sale run by the company are located. The cost of sales is considered as accounting for a 
proportion of turnover slightly on the rise and in line with the historical trends of the company. 
The time period considered by the Plan runs from 2012 to 2018, with the assumption that the 
contracts currently in force are likely to be renewed for a further 5 years (with the exception of 
Rustichelli Mangione at Terminal 5, for which closure is planned when the concession expires at 
the end of 2013). 
The gross WACC used to discount the cash flow is equal to 22.9%, corresponding to an after-tax 
7.1% WACC. 
The value in use has been estimated on the basis of the plan, assuming that the cash flows 
expected in the renewal period are 75% likely to be realised, also excluding the possibility of any 
further renewals and the attribution of a terminal value. 
The value in use identified amounted to € 0.9 million, to be compared with a carrying value of € 
0.8 million. 
A sensitivity analysis has been carried out to test the ability of the value to hold steady even with 
a higher WACC. 
The above-mentioned analysis applied to the changes in discount rate shows that the discount 
rate that makes the recoverable value of the CGU equal to its carrying amount corresponds to 
8.7%. 
 
 

Goodwill and concession value arising on the acquisition of the “Terminal Catering” business 
unit, further to the acquisition of the interest in the Airest Austrian Group. 

 
The impairment test was carried out to assess whether there were any impairment losses in 
relation to the higher amount paid, compared to the equity value, further to the acquisition, 
completed in FY2006, of the Terminal Catering business unit, managed to date by the Airest 
Austrian Group in Vienna (Cash Generating Unit “Vienna”) and Salzburg, Graz, Klagenfurt and 
Ljubljana (Cash Generating Units “Other locations”), and respectively allocated for: 

 € 9.3 million to “Goodwill” (€ 8.8 million “Vienna” and € 0.5 million “Other locations”), 
which for “Other locations” was generated as an offsetting to deferred taxes; such 
Goodwill is set against the residual Deferred Tax Provision for € 0.2 million; 
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 € 0.6 million (net value of accumulated amortisation at 31 December 2012) to 
“Concessions” (amortised over 10 years). 

The Cash Generating Units have been identified on the basis of a managerial approach, also used 
by the Management for decision-making purposes, which does not take into consideration the 
corporate legal entities. 
The carrying amount amounted to € 11.5 million for the CGU “Vienna” and € 2.2 million for the 
CGU “Other locations”, both amended by the net invested capital pertaining to the CGUs, € 2.7 
million and € 1.3 million respectively. The cash flows from the Cash Generating Units were 
derived from the plan developed and approved by the directors of ATBC and Airest SpA. 2013 
will be the first year in which the new points of sale in the new terminal in Vienna airport will 
become fully operative, which justifies the rise in turnover expected as a result of the change to 
the substantially flat traffic through the airports concerned. 
Over the coming years, the most interesting growth prospects are offered by Vienna airport 
(CAGR planned +4.3%), while in the “Other locations” turnover is expected to remain largely 
stable. 
The cost of sales is considered as accounting for a proportion of basically constant turnover and 
in line with the budget values for 2013. 
For both Cash Generating Units, the plan covers a period of time from 2013 and 2017, with 
explicit cash flows provided by the Management, while for the years following 2017 a terminal 
value has been calculated using the perpetual income actuarial method, applied to the flow 
calculated starting from a turnover equal to the one expected in 2017, increased by a growth rate, 
“g”, of 1.5%, considering profit margins, at EBITDA level, equal to the value forecast for the last 
year of the plan (2017). 
For concessions due to expire, renewal is estimated as 50% likely.  
The gross WACC used to discount the cash flow of both Cash Generating Units is equal to 
6.4%, corresponding to an after- tax WACC of 5.2%. 
The values in use calculated amount to € 56.6 million for the CGU “Vienna” and € 4.2 million 
for the CGU “Other Locations”, and both exceed the Carrying Amount value. 
For both CGUs, a sensitivity analysis was carried out with reference to the value in use, assuming 
a combined variation in the growth rate, “g”, of the free operating cash flow for the 
determination of the terminal value (in the worsening scenarios, a fall in the basic hypothesis 
from 1.5% to 0.5%) and in the after-tax WACC (in the worsening scenarios, a rise from 5.2% to 
6.2%). 
Even in these hypothetical cases, the recoverable value of the CGUs remains higher than the 
Carrying Amount: 

 for Vienna, the capital gain, i.e. the difference between the value in use and the carrying 
amount, goes down from € 45.1 million in the basic hypothesis to € 25.3 million in the worst-
case scenario; 

 for “Other Locations” the capital gain goes from € 2 million in the basic hypothesis to € 0.3 
million in the worst-case scenario. 

The sensitivity analysis applied to the changes in discount rate show that the after-tax discount 
rate that makes the value in use of the CGU Vienna equal to its carrying amount corresponds to 
16.8%, whereas for the CGU “Other Locations” it corresponds to 7.8%, assuming in both cases 
a growth rate, “g”, equal to 1.5%. 
 

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of the catering business unit further to the acquisition of the 
interest in Ristop, now transferred into the subsidiary Airest S.p.A. 

 
An impairment test was carried out to assess whether there were any impairment losses in 
relation to the higher amount paid, compared to the net equity value, on the purchase of the 
“Motorway Catering” business unit and the “Urban Catering” business unit of Ristop S.r.l., today 
incorporated into Airest S.p.A. and allocated for € 37.7 million to “Goodwill” and for € 0.7 
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million (net of amortisations accrued at 31 December 2012) to “Concessions” and for € 0.4 
million to Licences. 
The two Cash Generating Units coincide with the business units mentioned above, and have 
been identified on the basis of a managerial and organisational approach that is also used by the 
Management for decision-making purposes. 
The cash flows from the Cash Generating Units were derived from the plan developed and 
approved by the directors of Airest S.p.A.. The assumptions this plan is based on consider, for 
the motorway channel, an average yearly rise in revenue of 18.7%, as a result of: 

 the systematic growth of same stores; 

 the renewal of concessions expiring during the period of analysis of the plan; 

 the opening and entry into full operation – during the five-year period – of points of sale 
already provided for and agreed on; 

 the possibility of new service areas being awarded during the round of tenders set to be called 
over the coming four-year period, with numbers equalling the current market share held by 
Ristop with reference to the motorway channel. 

For the urban channel, an average yearly rise of 10.8% in revenue is expected, thanks to the 
systematic growth of same stores, the development of points of sale open at the end of 2011 and 
during 2012 and the opening of 4 new outlets between 2014 and 2017. 
For both Cash Generating Units, the plan covers a period of time from 2013 and 2017, with 
explicit cash flows provided by the Management, while for the years after 2017 a terminal value 
calculated by discounting the perpetual income has been applied to the last flows available on the 
basis of a growth rate “g” of 1.5%. 
The gross WACC used to discount the cash flow of both the above-mentioned business units is 
equal to 10.1%, corresponding to an after-tax WACC of 7.1%. 
Concerning the “Motorway Catering” business unit, the value in use identified amounted to € 
53.3 million, to be compared with a carrying value of around € 39.4 million, amended by the 
invested capital (net of the deferred tax provision) related to the CGU, i.e. around € 4.8 million. 
 
Concerning the “Urban Catering” business unit, the value in use identified, an 7.1% WACC, 
amounted to € 11.6 million, to be compared with a carrying value of around € 6.7 million, 
amended by the net invested capital related to the CGU, i.e. around € 3.1 million. 
As regards the CGU “Motorway Catering” a sensitivity analysis was carried out, using a constant 
WACC, on the prudent assumption that the current scope of service areas operated will remain 
unchanged. The resulting value in use stood at around € 35.4 million, therefore lower than the 
corresponding adjusted carrying amount (€ -4 million approx.). 
A sensitive analysis was also carried out, in relation to the hypotheses on which the Plan is based, 
on a change to the growth rate, “g”, of the free operating cash flows for the determination of the 
terminal value from 0.5% to 2.5% and on a change to the WACC from 6.1% to  8.1%. 
The differentials between the resulting value in use and the carrying amount vary from € -3.2 
million to € 50.2 million, with the value in use inferior to the carrying value only on the 
pessimistic assumption of a WACC of 8.1% and a “g rate” of 1%. 
The sensitivity analysis applied to the changes in discount rate, with growth rate, “g”, of 1.5%, 
show that the discount rate that makes the value in use of the CGU equal to its carrying amount 
is equal to 8.5%. 
The results of the scenario analysis performed did not show sufficient indications of an 
impairment of the carrying value. 
 
As regards the CGU “Urban Catering” a sensitivity analysis was carried out, using a constant 
WACC, on the prudent assumption that the current number of sales outlets will remain 
unchanged. 
The resulting value in use stood at around € 5.7 million, therefore lower than the corresponding 
carrying amount (€ -1 million approx.). 
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Moreover, a sensitive analysis was carried out on a change to the growth rate, “g”, of the free 
operating cash flows for the determination of the terminal value from 0.0% to 2.0% and on a 
change to the WACC from 6.6% to 10.6%. The differentials between the resulting value in use 
and the carrying amount vary from € -1.3 million to € 7.7 million, with the value in use inferior to 
the carrying value only on the pessimistic assumption of a WACC of 9.2% and a “g rate” of 0%. 
The sensitivity analysis applied to the changes in discount rate, with a growth rate, “g”, of 1.5%, 
show that the discount rate that makes the recoverable value of the CGU equal to its carrying 
amount is equal to 10.2%. 
The findings of the aforementioned sensitivity analyses therefore provide sufficient support for 
passing the impairment test. 
 

Trademark value arising on the acquisition of a further 50% interest in Very Italian Food S.r.l. 
 

The impairment test was carried out to assess whether there were any impairment losses in 
relation to the amount of € 0.4 million (to be considered net of amortisation accrued up to 31 
December 2012), allocated to "Trademarks", following the acquisition of the residual 50%-
interest in the company V.I.F., and to the amount allocated to “Goodwill”, € 0.2 million, arising 
on the deferred taxes calculated on the value allocated to “Trademarks”. 
The Cash Generating Unit identified coincides with the legal entity Very Italian Food S.r.l.. 
The cash flows from the Cash Generating Unit were derived from the plan developed and 
approved by the directors of the direct parent company Airest SpA. The plan covers a period of 
time from 2013 and 2017, with explicit cash flows provided by the Management, while for the 
years following 2016 a terminal value has been calculated by discounting perpetual income, 
applying a 1.5% growth rate, “g”, to the last flows available. 
The rise in revenue, about 95% of which is strictly linked to the turnover of captive clients 
(Airest group companies), reflects the expected growth in sales of the Airest group. Operating 
costs rose in line with inflation (based on an average yearly rate of 2%), plus a component that 
varies depending on the turnover; rising personnel costs reflect the increase in labour to meet 
growing demand. 
The gross WACC used to discount the cash flow is equal to 9.9%, corresponding to an after-tax 
WACC of 7.1%. 
The value in use identified amounted to € 19.6 million, to be compared with a carrying value of € 
8.3 million, amended by the net assets of the CGU for € 7.7 million. 
A sensitivity analysis was carried out on a change to the growth rate, “g”, of the free operating 
cash flows for the determination of the terminal value from 0.5% to 2.5% and on a change to the 
WACC from 6.1% to 8.1%. The differentials between the resulting value in use and the carrying 
amount vary from € 6.6 million to € 21.4 million. 
The sensitivity analysis applied to the changes in discount rate, with growth rate, “g”, of 1.5%, 
show that the discount rate that makes the value in use of the CGU equal to its carrying amount 
is equal to 14.5%. 
The findings of the aforementioned sensitivity analyses therefore provide sufficient support for 
passing the impairment test. 
 

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of Airest Collezioni Sàrl 
 
The impairment test was carried out to assess whether there were any impairment losses in 
relation to the amounts allocated to “Concessions” and “Goodwill” following the acquisition 
in 2011 of the companies belonging to the McArthurGlen group—representing its operating 
branch in the airport travel retail sector—and merged into the joint venture concluded with 
the Airest group. 
75% of the capital gain pertaining to the Airest Group was allocated as follows: 
“Concessions” for € 1.1 million (to be considered net of amortisation accrued up to 31 
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December 2012), “Goodwill” for € 2.9 million, also including deferred taxes calculated on the 
value allocated to “Concessions”, offset by a Deferred Tax Provision amounting to €  0.3 
million at 31 December 2012. 
The Cash Generating Unit identified is represented by the three companies operating at the 
airports of Venice, Dublin and Glasgow, by Holding Collezioni Sarl and by the new projects, 
among which the Pittsburgh project to be activated in 2013. 
The cash flows from the Cash Generating Unit were derived from the plan developed and 
approved by the directors of Airest SpA. The plan considers an expected yearly rise in passenger 
traffic in those airports of around 3%, without prejudice to the higher growth (between 4% and 
5%) expected in Venice up to 2017. 
The plans for Glasgow and Dublin take account of the renovation scheduled for the premises, 
with the opening of new directly operated stores and the renegotiation of a number of contracts 
with indirectly operated stores. 
For each company, the reference period of the plan runs until the date set for the expiry of each 
concession outstanding, and for the subsequent years a terminal value is calculated, taking into 
consideration the likelihood of the contract being renewed (estimated between 20% and 30%). 
The Terminal Value was calculated using the perpetual income actuarial method, applied to the 
flow calculated starting from a turnover equal to the one expected in the last year of the plan, 
increased by a growth rate, “g”, of 1.5%, considering profit margins, at EBITDA level, equal to 
the value forecast for the last year of the plan. 
The net WACC used is different for each company; specifically: Venice (Italy) 7.1%, Glasgow 
(UK) 5.4%, Dublin (Ireland) 7.5%, new projects 5.2%. 
The value in use calculated on the basis of the plan developed by the management equalled € 
6.6 million, compared to a carrying amount (100%) of € 5 million. All are to be referred to 
75%. 
A sensitivity analysis has been carried out to test the ability of the value to hold steady even 
with a higher WACC. 
The above-mentioned analysis applied to the changes in discount rate shows that the 
discount rate that makes the recoverable value of the CGU equal to its carrying amount is 
higher than the average value to be attributed to the project, i.e. 1.5%. 
The findings of the aforementioned sensitivity analyses therefore provide sufficient support 
for passing the impairment test. 
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VALUATION CRITERIA 
 
The IAS/IFRS standards applied are uniform with those applied in the previous FYs, indicated in 
the following points 

 

Intangible fixed assets 
 
Intangible assets refer to assets without identifiable physical form, controlled by the company, 
which can generate future economic benefits, in addition to assets arising from business 
combinations. 
The useful life of intangible assets may be assessed as limited or unlimited. 
Intangible fixed assets with a definite useful life are entered at purchase or production cost or, if 
derived from business combination operations, are capitalised at their fair value at the date of 
acquisition. They include incidental costs and are amortised on a straight-line basis in relation to 
their remaining useful life, according to IAS 36, and submitted to impairment tests each time 
there is indication of a possible impairment. 
The outstanding value at the end of the useful life is presumed to be zero, unless there is a 
commitment by third parties to acquire the asset at the end of its life or if there is a market for 
the asset. Directors review the useful life of the intangible asset at the end of each year. 
Accumulated amortisation of intangible assets with a definite life is posted in the income 
statement in the cost category, consistent with the function of the intangible asset. 
 
Intangible assets with an indefinite life are submitted to annual review of their recoverable value, 
individually or as cash-generating units (impairment test). 
Recovery of the book value is verified by adopting the criteria below. 
No amortisation is calculated for these assets. Intangible assets with an indefinite life are 
reviewed annually at year-end to check the continuation of the conditions this classification is 
based on. 
 
The estimated useful life of the various types of intangible assets is shown below: 
 
 
 
 

Category Amortisation period 

Patent and intellectual property rights: software 3, 5 years 

Right of use of airport concessions Airport concession duration 

Concessions  Concession duration 

Licenses, trademarks and other similar rights Contractual duration 

Sundry deferred expenses 
5 years or duration of the 
concession 

 
The item “Patents and use of intellectual property rights” refers mainly to the costs of using and 
personalising operating software. 
 
The item “Right of use of airport concessions” includes the amount of intangible assets 
pertaining to the airport infrastructures held in relation to the right of concession acquired for the 
management of those infrastructures in exchange for the right to charge users for the use of said 
infrastructures in order to provide a public service in compliance with IFRIC 12 – Service 
Concession Arrangements. 
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The item “Concessions” mainly refers to the higher value paid, with respect to the relevant net 
assets on the purchase of the stake in Centostazioni S.p.A., for obtaining the concession to use 
and exploit the retail spaces of 103 medium-sized stations. It is amortised on the basis of the 
duration of the right (40 years). 
Furthermore, the item concession refers to the fair value recognised for concession contracts, on 
the purchase of the companies operating in the Food & Beverage and Retail segment, mainly in 
infrastructure under concession, sub-concession or similar contracts. 
The useful life of an intangible asset deriving from contractual rights or other legal rights is 
determined based on the shorter period between the duration of the contractual or legal rights 
(duration of the concession) and the period of use of the asset itself. The recoverability of the 
book value reduced by the amortisation is verified annually by adopting the criteria relating to the 
impairment test. 
 
The item “Licenses, trademarks and other similar rights” essentially refers to amounts capitalised for 
the registration of catering trademarks and licenses for the sale of tobacco relating to countries in 
the Food & Beverage and Retail sector. 
 
The item “Sundry deferred expenses” mainly refers to indemnities paid to licensees for the 
opening of Food & Beverage sales points in rail stations and on motorways. 
 

Business combinations and goodwill 
 

Business combinations before 1 January 2010 
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of 
acquisition is calculated by adding up the values of assets transferred, liabilities assumed, 
instruments representing capital, issued by the purchaser in exchange for control of the acquired 
company on the date of exchange, including costs directly attributable to the business 
combination. 
The cost of acquisition is allocated to assets, liabilities and potential liabilities of the acquired 
company, measured at their respective fair value at the date of acquisition, which meet the criteria 
provided for by IFRS 3. Any difference recorded between the cost of the business combination 
and the acquirer's interest at fair value of the assets, liabilities and potential liabilities shall be 
accounted as goodwill. 
The goodwill acquired in a business combination is not amortised. It is necessary to check for 
impairment annually, or more frequently if specific events or changed circumstances indicate the 
possibility that it could have been affected by impairment, according to IAS 36 “Impairment of 
Assets”. 
For the purpose of determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities and impairment tests, 
the assessments of the directors are supported by the contribution of independent experts. 
The minority interest in the acquired companies is initially in proportion to the minority interest 
of the current values of recognised assets, liabilities and potential liabilities. 
 
Business combinations after 1 January 2010 
Following the introduction of IFRS 3 Revised, as from 1 January 2010, the date of its first 
prospective application, all business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. 
The cost of an acquisition is measured as the sum of the consideration transferred, measured at 
fair value at the acquisition date and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  
For each business combination, the acquirer shall measure any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree at fair value or in proportion to the share of the non-controlling interest in the 
identifiable net assets of the acquiree. Acquisition costs are recognised in the income statement 
and classified as administrative expenses. 
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When the group acquires a business, it must classify or designate the financial assets acquired or 
the liabilities assumed in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions and other 
relevant conditions existing at the acquisition date. This includes an assessment to determine 
whether an embedded derivative should be separated from the host contract. 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquirer shall remeasure the fair value of 
the investment previously held and accounted for with the equity method and shall recognise any 
resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. Any contingent consideration must be recognised by the 
purchaser at fair value at the acquisition date. The change in fair value of the contingent 
consideration classified as asset or liability shall be recognised pursuant to IAS 39 in profit or loss 
or in other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified in equity, its value 
should not be remeasured until its extinction is entered against equity. Goodwill is initially 
measured at cost, which emerges as excess between the sum of the consideration paid and the 
amount recognised for non-controlling interests, compared to the net identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed by the Group. If the consideration is less than the fair value of the net 
assets of the acquiree, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.  After initial recognition, 
goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. To test goodwill for 
impairment, the goodwill acquired in a business combination shall, from the acquisition date, be 
allocated to each cash generating unit of the group that is expected to benefit from the 
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to 
those units. 
If goodwill was allocated to a cash-generating unit and the entity divests part of the assets of that 
unit, the goodwill associated with the divested assets must be included in the carrying amount of 
the assets when determining the profit or loss on disposal. The goodwill associated with the 
discontinued operation must be determined on the basis of the relative values of the discontinued 
operation and the part of the cash-generating unit retained. 
 

Tangible fixed assets 
 
Tangible fixed assets are initially entered at the purchase or realisation cost, or if derived from 
business combination operations, at the fair value on the date of acquisition. The value includes 
the price paid to purchase or construct the asset (net of discounts and allowances) and any costs 
directly attributable to the purchase and the putting into operation of the asset. Assets held by 
third parties are valued at the fair value based on a specific assessment.  
The purchase price or realisation cost is understood to be net of public capital contributions 
which are disclosed when the conditions for their concession are verified. 
Land, whether free of construction or annexed to civil and industrial buildings, was posted 
separately and is not subject to depreciation, in that it has an indefinite useful life. 
Tangible assets are shown net of related accumulated depreciation and any impairment, 
determined according to the methods described below. Depreciation is calculated at fixed rates 
based on the asset's estimated useful life. 
Impairment is reported in the income statement under depreciation costs. These losses are 
reversed should the reasons which generated them cease to exist. 
At the moment of sale, or when future economic benefits for using the good no longer subsist, 
these are removed from the financial statements, and potential losses or profits (calculated as the 
difference between the sales value and the book value) are entered into the income statement for 
the year in which they were removed. 
If an asset is made up of components that have different useful lives or provide benefits, 
depreciation is made for each individual component. Land is not subject to depreciation and 
tangible assets held for sale are carried at the lower of the book value and the fair value, net of 
disposal charges. 
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Maintenance and repair charges that are not the object of revaluation and/or extend the 
outstanding residual life of the assets, expensed in the year in which they are incurred; otherwise, 
they are capitalised. 
Tangible fixed assets are depreciated at fixed-rate instalments on the basis of their remaining 
useful life, as indicated in the table below: 
 

Category Rates 

Light constructions and 
buildings 

3% 

Runway equipment machinery 32% 

Operating machinery 10% 

Remote signalling equipment 25% 

Other systems 8% - 12% 

Equipment 15% - 25% 

Motor vehicles 20% - 25% 

Electronic equipment 20% 

Office equipment and 
furnishings 

10% - 12% - 15% 

Leasehold improvements 
The lower between the residual duration of the 
concession and the economic utility of the improvement 

 

Assets on finance lease 
 
Finance lease contracts that transfer all the risks and rewards coming from the property of the 
leased good to the Group are capitalised from the start date of the lease contract at the fair value 
of the leased good or, if lower, at the present value of the lease fees while also recording the 
corresponding financial liability to lease companies with payables.  
The lease fees are divided between the capital quota and the interest quota in order to apply a 
constant interest rate on the remaining balance of the debt (capital quota). Financial charges are 
charged to the income statement. 
Capitalised leased goods are amortised based on their estimated useful life. 
 
 

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
 
The accounting values of the tangible and intangible assets are valued each time there are clear 
internal or external signals indicating the possibility of a value loss of the asset or group of assets 
(known as the Cash-Generating Unit or CGU). 
The recoverable value is the greater between the fair value of the asset or cash generating unit, 
net of selling costs, and its value in use. The recoverable value is determined per individual asset, 
except when these assets generate financial flows that are not widely independent from those 
generated by other assets or groups of assets. 
If the book value of an asset is higher than its recoverable value, this asset has suffered 
impairment and is consequently written down until its recoverable value is recorded. In 
determining the use value, the Group discounts estimated future cash flows at the present value 
using the time-discounted pre tax rate that reflects the market value on the present value of cash 
and specific risks of the asset. In determining the fair value net of selling costs, an appropriate 
valuation model is used. These calculations are reached using appropriate evaluation multipliers, 
share prices listed for subsidiaries whose securities are publicly traded, and other available fair-
value indicators. 
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Impairments on continuing operations are recorded in the income statement in the cost 
categories that match the use of the asset that has suffered the impairment. 
At year-end, with reference to assets other than goodwill, the Group also checks for any signs of 
elimination (or reduction) of previously recorded impairment and, if these indications exist, 
estimates the recoverable value. Impairment of an asset previously written down can be reversed 
only if changes have taken place in the estimates on which calculation of the recoverable value 
was determined, subsequent to recording the most recent loss in value. Impairment reversal 
cannot exceed the book value that would have been determined, net of amortisation, in the case 
where no impairment had been recorded in previous years. This recovery is recorded in the 
income statement unless the asset is booked at the revalued value, in which case the recovered 
value is treated as an increase from revaluation. 
Reversal of an impairment loss for goodwill is prohibited. 
 
The following criteria are used for accounting for impairment related to specific kinds of assets: 
 
Goodwill and Concession 
The Group submits the values entered to goodwill and concession to tests for impairment on an 
annual basis, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
accounting value could be subject to loss of value. 
Impairment of the above-mentioned intangible fixed assets is determined by evaluating the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of CGUs) to which they are related. An 
impairment loss should be recognised whenever the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit 
(or group of CGUs) is below the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of 
CGUs) to which the intangible assets are allocated. 
Reversal of an impairment loss for goodwill is prohibited. 
The Group carries out an annual check on impairment of the intangible assets identified above 
during the process of closing the financial statements for the year. 
To test for impairment, the carrying value of the asset or cash-generating unit is compared with 
its recoverable value, given by the higher of fair value (net of sales expenses) and the value of time-
discounted net cash flows that are expected to be produced by the asset or the CGU. 
Each unit or group of units to which the specific intangible asset is allocated represents the 
lowest level in the Group in which it is monitored for internal management purposes. 
The conditions and methods for reversing the value of an impaired asset applied by the Group, 
without prejudice to the inability to reverse impairment on goodwill, are as laid down by IAS 36. 
 

Equity investments in subsidiaries and affiliates 
 
The Group holds a number of equity investments in subsidiaries that have, however, not been 
consolidated, because they are currently considered as non-operative, and therefore the effect on 
the balance sheet and the income statement that would derive from the line-by-line consolidation 
of said equity investments is substantially attributable to the value at which they are recognised in 
the financial statements of the Group. 
 
Group equity investments in affiliates are carried at equity. An affiliate is a company in which the 
Group has significant influence but not control or joint control. 
 
With the equity method, the equity investment in an affiliate is initially carried at cost, and the 
book value is increased or decreased to indicate the investor’s share of the profits and losses of 
the affiliate made after the date of acquisition.  
Goodwill relating to the affiliate is included in the book value of the investment and is neither 
subject to amortisation nor to a single impairment test. 
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The income statement reflects the Group share of the affiliate’s result for the year. If an affiliate 
recognises adjustments directly to shareholders' equity, the Group recognises its share and posts 
it, where applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Income and losses arising from 
transactions between the Group and the affiliate are eliminated in proportion to the investment 
in the affiliate. 
The Group share of the affiliate’s result for the year is recorded in the income statement. The 
share represents the result of the affiliates attributable to shareholders; it is therefore the result 
net of tax and the shares pertaining to the other shareholders of the affiliate.  
The date of closure of the financial statements must correspond to the date of closure of the 
financial statements of the parent company.  The financial statements of the affiliate must be 
drafted in accordance with uniform accounting standards applying to similar transactions and 
events in similar circumstances. 
After applying the equity method, the Group decides whether it is necessary to recognise further 
impairment of its equity investment in the affiliate. At the date of each financial statements, the 
Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that the equity investment in the affiliate has 
suffered impairment. If this is the case, the Group calculates the loss as the difference between 
the recoverable value of the affiliate and the value at which it is recognised in its financial 
statements, recording this difference in the statement of profits (losses) for the FY.   
Once the significant influence on the affiliate has been lost, the Group evaluates and records any 
remaining equity investment at fair value. Any difference between the book value of the equity 
investment at the date on which the significant influence was lost and the fair value of the 
remaining investment and the consideration received must be recorded in the income statement. 
 

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 
 
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as "held for sale" must be measured at the 
lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets and disposal 
groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale 
transaction rather than through their continuing use. This condition is considered as satisfied 
only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate 
sale in its current condition. The management must be committed to the sale, which is expected 
to be completed within one year from the date the asset is classified as held for sale. 
In the consolidated income statement and for the comparative previous period, profits and losses 
from discontinued operations are shown separately from profits and losses from continuing 
operations, below the after-tax profit line, even when, after the sale, the Group maintains a non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary. The resulting profit or loss, net of taxes, is shown separately 
in the income statement. 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classified as held for sale must no 
longer be depreciated or amortised. 
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Other financial assets 
 
IAS 39 contemplates the following types of financial instruments: financial assets at fair value 
with changes recognised in the income statement; loans and receivables; investments held to 
maturity; and assets available for sale. 
Initially, all financial assets are carried at fair value, plus incidental costs in the event of assets 
other than fair value with changes recognised in the income statement. At the time of 
recognition, the Group decides whether a contract includes implicit derivatives. 
Implicit derivatives are separated out from the host contract if this is not valued at fair value 
when the analysis shows that the economic characteristics and risks of the implicit derivative are 
not strictly related to those of the host contract. 
The Group classifies its financial assets after initial recognition and, where appropriate and 
allowable, reviews this classification at the end of each financial year. 
 
Financial assets at fair value with changes charged to the income statement 
This category includes financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated on initial 
recognition as at fair value with changes charged to the income statement.  
Assets held for trading are represented by assets purchased for the purpose of selling in the short 
term. Derivatives, including separated-out assets, are classified as financial instruments held for 
trading, unless they have been designated as hedge instruments. Gains or losses on assets held for 
trading are posted to the income statement. 
If a contract includes one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract can be 
designated as a fair value financial asset with adjustments charged to the income statement, 
except for those cases in which the implicit derivative does not substantially modify cash flows or 
it is clear that the embedded derivative must not be separated out. 
Initially, financial assets should be carried at fair value, with adjustments booked to the income 
statement provided the following conditions apply: (i) the fair value option designation eliminates 
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would arise by assessing or measuring the 
gains or losses that these assets generate, according to other criteria; or (ii) the assets are part of a 
group of financial assets managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in 
accordance with a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the financial asset contains an 
implicit derivative that should be separated out or accounted for separately. 
 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payment that 
are not listed on an active market. After initial recognition, these assets are valued according to 
the amortised cost method using the actual discount rate, net of provisions for impairment. 
The amortised cost is calculated taking into consideration every purchase discount or bonus and 
includes fees that are an integral part of the actual interest rate and of transaction costs. Any gain 
or loss is recognised in the income statement when the loans or receivables are written off or 
impairment appears, or through the amortisation process. 
 
Financial assets available for sale 
Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS) are any non-derivative financial assets designated on 
initial recognition as available for sale and not classified in any other of the previous categories. 
AFS assets are initially recognised at fair value and gains or losses are recognised in a separate 
item in shareholders’ equity. Fair value is determined in reference to the bid price at the date of 
closure of the period in question; the fair value of instruments not listed is determined using 
commonly used financial assessment techniques. When the assets are written off, cumulative 
gains or losses are recognised in the income statement. Accrued or paid interest on these 
investments is accounted for as interest income or charges, using the actual interest rate. 
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Dividends accrued on these investments are charged to the income statement as "dividends 
received" when the right to collection arises. 
 
Fair value 
For securities widely traded on regulated markets, the fair value is determined by referring to the 
bid price at the end-of-period trading date. For investments for which there is no active market, 
the fair value is determined by appraisal techniques, based on (i) recent transaction prices 
between independent parties; (ii) current market value of a substantially similar instrument; (iii) 
analysis of time-discounted cash flows; and (iv) models of  appreciation of the options. 
 

Impairment on financial assets 
 
The Group checks if a financial asset or group of financial assets has suffered impairment at the 
financial statement date. 
 
Assets carried at amortised cost. 
If there is an objective indication that a loan or receivable booked at the amortised cost has 
suffered impairment, the amount of the loss is carried as the difference between the accounting 
value of the asset and the present value of future estimated cash flows (not including future 
losses on receivables not yet incurred) discounted at the actual original interest rate of the 
financial asset (i.e. the actual interest rate calculated at the date of original posting). The book 
value of the asset is reduced through the use of an amortisation provision and the amount of the 
impairment is recorded in the income statement. 
The Group evaluates the existence of objective indications of impairment on an individual level, 
for financial assets that are individually significant, and then on an individual or collective level 
for financial assets that are not. In the absence of objective indications of impairment, for a 
financial asset valued individually, whether it is significant or not, this asset is included in a group 
of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and this group is subjected to checks for 
impairment on a group level. Assets valued on an individual level where there is or there 
continues to be impairment will not be included in a group valuation. 
Later, if the amount of impairment is reduced and this reduction can be objectively attributed to 
an event taking place after the impairment, the value reduced previously can be reinstated. Any 
subsequent reinstatement of value is booked to the income statement, in the amount in which the 
book value of the asset does not exceed the amortised cost at the date of reinstatement. 
With reference to trade receivables, an allocation for impairment is made when there are 
objective indications (such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of 
the debtor) that the Group will not be able to recover all the amounts due based on the original 
invoice terms. The book value of the receivable is reduced by making use of a specific provision. 
Receivables subject to impairment are reversed when they prove uncollectible. 
 
Financial assets available for sale 
In the event of impairment of a financial asset available for sale, a value equal to the difference 
between its cost (net of the reimbursement of capital and amortisation) is transferred from the 
shareholders' equity to the income statement and its current fair value, net of impairment 
previously booked to the income statement. 
Reinstatements of value relating to shareholdings classified as available for sale are not booked to 
the income statement. Reinstatements of value relating to debt instruments are recorded in the 
income statement if the increase in the fair value of the instrument can be attributed to an event 
taking place after the impairment was posted to the income statement. 
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Treasury shares 
 
Repurchased treasury shares are entered at cost as a reduction of net equity. The purchase, share 
or cancellation of treasury shares do not generate any profit or loss in the income statement. The 
difference between the purchase price and the consideration, in the event of a transfer, is 
recorded in the share premium reserve. Voting rights linked to treasury shares are cancelled, as is 
the right to receive dividends. If options on shares are exercised during the period, these are 
satisfied with treasury shares. 
 

Inventories 
 
Inventories, except for work in progress to order, are stated at the lower of the purchase or 
production cost and the estimated realisable value represented by the amount that the company 
expects to obtain from their sale in ordinary operations. The cost of inventories is determined by 
applying the weighted average cost method. 
Work in progress to order is based on the amounts agreed upon in relation to completion status 
using cost-to-cost method. Advances paid by customers are deducted from the value of the 
inventories in the amounts of the considerations accrued; the remainder is posted to liabilities. 
Any impairment arising from the closure of orders is posted entirely during the period in which 
they are expected to occur. 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include quantifiable investments that are short-term or convertible on 
demand, without risk of significant changes in value and expenses for their conversion. 
 

Employee benefits 
 
The benefits guaranteed to employees distributed during or subsequent to ending the 
employment relationship through defined benefits programmes (employee severance indemnity) 
or other long-term benefits are recognised in the period the benefit accrues. 
The pertinent liability, net of any assets used in the plan, is determined on the basis of actuarial 
projections, and is shown on an accrual basis in relation to the services necessary to obtain these 
benefits; this liability is calculated by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit 
method. Gains and losses arising from the actuarial calculation are charged to the income 
statement as a cost or revenue regardless of their value, without using the "corridor method". 
The amount reflects payables accrued at the year-end date of the consolidated financial 
statements as well as future salary increases (only for companies with fewer than 50 employees) 
and correlated statistical dynamics. 
As a result of the changes to employee severance indemnity brought about by Law no. 296 of 27 
December 2006 (2007 Budget Act) and the Decrees and Regulations that followed, the employee 
severance indemnity of Italian companies with fewer than 50 employees accrued from 1 January 
2007 or from the date on which the employees chose one of the available options is included in 
the defined contributions category, both for employees who opted for supplementary pension 
schemes and for those who opted to pay into the INPS Treasury Fund. The accounting 
treatment of said employee severance indemnity has therefore been assimilated to that applied to 
the payment of other kinds of contributions. 
 

Provisions for liabilities and charges 
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Provisions for liabilities and charges concern specific costs and charges and those which are 
certain or probable and whose amounts are as yet to be determined at the closing date of these 
financial statements. Provisions are posted when: 
(i) there is likely to be a current, legal or implicit obligation arising from a past event; 
(ii) it is likely that the obligation is fulfilled for a consideration; 
(iii) the amount of the obligation can be estimated in a reliable manner. 
Provisions are registered at a value representative of the best estimate – sometimes supported by 
experts – of the amount the business would pay to discharge the obligation, that is, to transfer it 
onto a third party at year-end. When the financial effect of the time is significant and the payment 
dates of the liabilities can be reliably estimated, the provision is subjected to time-discounting. 
The increase in the provision connected with the passage of time is recognised in the income 
statement under the item “Financial income (expenses)”. 
When the liability refers to tangible assets (demolition of assets), the provision is posted to cover 
the asset it refers to; the income statement is charged through the depreciation process. 
The provisions are periodically updated to reflect changes in the cost estimates, implementation 
times and the discount rate; reviews of the estimate of the reserves are charged to the same item 
in the income statement which has previously held the allocation or, when the liability relates to 
tangible assets, to balance the asset to which it refers. 
 

Trade payables and other non-financial liabilities 
 
Payables, which mature within a normal commercial time-span, are entered at cost (their face 
value). Payables denominated in foreign currency are recorded at the exchange rate in force on 
the date of the transaction and are subsequently converted to the year-end rate. Gains or losses 
arising from the conversion are booked to the income statement. 
Other liabilities are posted at cost (identified by the par value). 
 

Loans 
 
Other financial liabilities, except for derivatives, are initially recognised at cost, which 
corresponds to the fair value of the liability, net of the transaction costs which are directly 
attributed to issue of the liability. 
After initial recording, financial liabilities are valued using the amortised cost method, using the 
actual original interest rate represented by the rate that equalises the present value of the cash 
flows and the value of original posting (the amortised cost method) at the time of initial posting. 
Gains or losses are booked to the income statement when the liability is extinguished, as well as 
through the amortisation process. 
 

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
 
Financial assets 
A financial asset (or where applicable, part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is written off from the financial statements when: 
• rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
• the Group holds the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has undertaken the 
contractual obligation to pay them in full and immediately to a third party; 
• the Group has transferred the right to receive cash flow from the asset and (a) has essentially 
transferred all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset or (b) has not transferred 
nor retained the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control thereof. 
If the Group has transferred the right to receive cash flow from an asset and has neither 
transferred nor held the risks and rewards nor has it lost control of them, the asset is recognised 
in the Group financial statements to the extent of its outstanding involvement in the asset. 
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Residual involvement that takes the form of a guarantee on the transferred asset is valued at the 
lower of the original book value of the asset and the maximum value of the amount that the 
Group could be required to pay. 
 
Financial liabilities  
A financial liability is written off from the financial statements when the obligation underlying the 
liability is extinguished, voided or fulfilled. 
 

Derivative financial instruments and hedging contracts 
 
The Group uses financial derivatives such as interest rate contracts to hedge risks arising mainly 
from fluctuations in the interest rate (i.e. cash flow hedge). These financial derivatives are initially 
booked at fair value at the date they are signed; subsequently, the fair value is periodically 
recalculated. They are accounted for as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities 
when the fair value is negative. 
Any gains or losses resulting from changes in fair value of derivatives not indicated in a hedge 
relationship appropriate to apply "hedge accounting" are charged directly to the income 
statement during the year. 
The fair value of swap contracts on interest rates is determined with reference to the market 
value for similar instruments. 
In keeping with the strategy it has chosen, the Group does not perform derivative transactions 
for speculative purposes. 

 

Accounting for income 
 
Revenue is posted in the amount in which it is possible to reliably determine the fair value and it 
is likely that the related economic benefits will be used. 
According to the type of operation, revenue is reported on the basis of the specific criteria 
illustrated below: 
- revenue from sales is shown when the significant risks and rewards of the ownership are 
transferred to the purchaser; 
- revenue from services is accounted for when the service is performed; 
- revenue from services related to contract work is recorded with reference to the state of 
completion of the assets based on the same criteria provided for work in progress to order. 
Revenue is booked net of returns, discounts, bonuses, and  promotional charges directly related 
to sales revenues as well as directly related taxes. 
Commercial discounts, directly charged as a deduction of revenue, were calculated based on 
contracts signed with airline carriers and tour operators. 
Royalties are booked on an accrual basis according to the substance of the contract agreements. 
Interest income is booked according to an accrual basis, based on which the actual yield of the 
asset to which it refers is considered. 
Dividends are shown when shareholders become entitled to receive payment. 
 

Recording of costs and expenses 
 
Costs are recognised when they relate to assets and services sold or used during the period or by 
systematic allocation, or when the future use cannot be determined. 
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Income taxes 
 
Current taxes 
Current taxes for the year in progress are carried at the amount that is expected to be reimbursed 
by or paid to the tax authorities. Tax rates and tax regulations used to calculate the amount are 
those issued or essentially issued at year-end of the consolidated financial statements. Current 
taxes relating to items posted directly to shareholders' equity are recorded directly to the balance 
sheet and not to the income statement. 
 
Deferred taxes 
Deferred taxes are calculated using the "liability method" on the interim differences resulting at 
the date of these consolidated financial statements, between fiscal values used as reference for the 
assets and liabilities and values shown in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax 
liabilities are posted against all the taxable interim differences, except for the initial posting of 
goodwill or an asset or liability of a transaction that is not a business combination and which, at 
the time of the transaction, does not lead to effects on the income of the year, calculated for 
financial statement purposes, nor on the profit or loss calculated for tax purposes. 
Taxable provisional differences associated with equity investments in subsidiaries, affiliates or 
joint ventures, can be controlled, and they are unlikely to have an effect in the foreseeable future. 
A deferred tax asset should be recognised for deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses 
and unused tax assets to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised, unless the deferred tax asset arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset/liability other than in a business combination which, at 
the time of the transaction, does not affect the accounting or the taxable profit. In the case of 
deductible temporary differences associated with equity interests in subsidiaries, affiliates and 
joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent to which they are likely to have an 
effect in the foreseeable future and that there is likely to be sufficient taxable income to allow for 
the recovery of said temporary differences. 
 
The rates used to calculate deferred taxation, which reflect prospective taxation in compliance 
with national current legislation, are mainly the following: 
IRES 27.50%  
IRAP 4.20% (Airport Companies) 
IRAP   3.90% 
 
Income tax for the Austrian subsidiaries of Airest Group  25% 
Income tax for the subsidiary of Airest Czech Republic A.s. 19% 
 

Conversion of entries in foreign currency  
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Euros, which is the functional currency 
adopted by the Company. Each company of the Group defines their functional currency, which 
is used to evaluate the items in the financial statements. Transactions denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised at the exchange rate (with reference to the functional currency) in force 
at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are converted 
into the exchange rate current at the closing date of the consolidated financial statements. 
Exchange gains and losses are posted to the income statement. Non-monetary items valued at 
the historic cost in foreign currency are converted using the exchange rates in force at the original 
date of recognition of the transaction. Non-monetary items booked at fair value in foreign 
currency are converted using the exchange rate at the date of calculating this value. 
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At the closing date of these consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of 
Shanghai Airest Catering Company Ltd, recorded in CNY (Chinese Renmimbi Yuan), were 
converted according to the exact exchange rate at 31 December 2012, i.e. 8.22 Renmimbi for 1 
Euro, whereas their economic components were converted according to the average exchange 
rate for the year, i.e. 8.11 Renmimbi for 1 Euro. The assets and liabilities of Airest Czech 
Republic a.s, recorded in CZK (Czech Crowns), were converted according to the exact exchange 
rate at 31 December 2012, i.e. 25.15 Crowns for 1 Euro, whereas their economic components 
were converted according to the average exchange rate for the year, i.e. 25.15 Crowns for 1 Euro. 
The assets and liabilities of Airest Russia o.o.o., recorded in their respective financial statements 
in RUB (Russian Ruble), were converted according to the exact exchange rate at 31 December 
2012, i.e. 40.33 Rubles for 1 Euro, whereas their economic components were converted 
according to the average exchange rate for the year, i.e. 39.93 Rubles for 1 Euro. The assets and 
liabilities of Airest Collezioni Glasgow Ltd, recorded in GBP (Pounds), were converted according 
to the exact exchange rate at 31 December 2012, i.e. 0.82 Pounds for 1 Euro, whereas their 
economic components were converted according to the average exchange rate for the year, i.e. 
0.81 Pounds for 1 Euro. 
 
Exchange differences arising from different conversion rates are reported in shareholders' equity 
and are recorded separately in a special reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, accrued 
exchange rate differences that form part of shareholders' equity are included in the income 
statement. 
 

Earnings per share 
 

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit for the period attributable to the 
Group’s shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the 
period. 
For the purposes of measuring diluted earnings per share, the weighted average of outstanding 
shares is modified while assuming the conversion of all the potential shares having a diluting 
effect. The net results of the Group are adjusted to consider the effects of the conversion, net of 
related taxes. 
No share-based payment transactions are under way (stock option plans). 
 

Potential liabilities 
 
Airest S.p.A. was subject to an audit by the Revenue Agency – Provincial Department of Venice 
– Inspectorate Office, which ended in December 2011 with notification of the relevant report on 
findings (PVC). The audit covered the 2007 merger of Ristop motorway "Food and beverage" 
business division into Airport Elite (now Airest) and the disposal of the related investment 
property. 
The PVC was followed by an invitation on the part of the Agency asking for the reasons for the 
transaction, to which Airest provided a timely, accurate response. During summer 2012, Airest 
SpA and Save SpA, the latter in its role as parent company and the consolidating entity, received 
a tax demand that contested the objections raised in the PVC. The subsequent attempt at a tax 
settlement proposal, solely with a view to avoiding lengthy, costly litigation, proved unsuccessful, 
and in February 2013 the company presented an appeal. 
The findings of a higher taxable base, about € 42 million, were almost entirely attributable to the 
contested tax deductibility of the realised capital loss, as the transaction was considered as 
apparently driven by tax avoidance purposes. 
The Company, assisted for this purpose by its own tax advisors entrusted with handling the 
dispute, believes that the stance adopted at the time is supported by valid economic reasons, that 
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the claim is unfounded, and that the liability associated with this charge is not likely and as such 
does not require the allocation of any provision in the financial statements. 
The taxes ascertained and any sanctions applied, together with the pertinent interest, may be 
officially listed, if the company loses the appeal, only after the pertinent sentence has been issued 
by the Provincial Taxation Commission. 
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SEGMENT REPORTING 
 
IFRS 8 Segment Reporting. This standard requires the presentation of information regarding the 
segments in the Group, and replaces the requisites for the determination of the Group’s primary 
(business) and secondary (geographical) sectors. 
The Group’s presentation outline is divided according to business area, given that the risks and 
profitability of the Group reflect the differences in the products and services provided.  
 
The segments in which the Group operates have been determined based on the reports used by 
the Managing Directors of the Group to take strategic decisions. These reports, which also reflect 
the current organisational structure of the Group, are based on the different products and 
services supplied, and are provided using the same accounting standards described above in the 
paragraph “Standards used for drafting the financial statements”.  
 
The business areas identified are: 

 Airport management; 

 Infrastructure management; 

 Food & Beverage and Retail services management. 
 
The performance of the areas is assessed on the basis of the EBIT deriving from the sub-
consolidation of the companies that make up the three different Business Units, removing from 
the overall total the income and expenses, receivables and payables deriving from transactions 
conducted between companies operating in different Business Units. 
 
Sector assets are those used by the sector in carrying out its characteristic business, or that can 
reasonably be allocated thereto based on its characteristic business. Sector liabilities are those 
directly deriving from the carrying out of the characteristic business of the sector, or that can 
reasonably be allocated thereto based on its characteristic business.  
The sector assets and liabilities presented are evaluated using the same accounting criteria 
adopted for drafting the Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
For a detailed analysis of economic data or figures for specific areas, reference should be made to 
the Directors’ Report. The balance sheet broken down by sectors and major amounts is as 
follows. 
 

ANALYSIS OF REVENUE AND MARGINS BY BUSINESS AREA

(€/000)

Year to date 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Operating revenue and other income 133,529 126,596 32,292 31,094 198,440 200,453 11,762 10,905 352,499 347,238

of which to third parties 123,253 117,121 31,626 30,430 197,620 199,687 0 0 352,499 347,238

of which to other sectors 10,276 9,475 666 664 820 766 11,762 10,905 0 0

EBIT 38,962 36,031 4,001 4,180 (81) 5,978 0 0 42,886 46,189

Pre-tax result 41,975 39,818 5,901 3,953 (2,417) 4,144 0 0 45,458 47,915

Profit (loss) for the period 29,870 34,100 4,105 2,594 (666) 5,138 0 0 33,308 41,832

Total Airport M anagem ent

Infrastructure 

M anagem ent F& B and Retail

Cancellation am ong 

segm ents
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BALANCE SHEET BY BUSINESS AREA

ASSETS

(€/000)

31/12    

2012

31/12    

2011

31/12    

2012

31/12    

2011

31/12    

2012

31/12    

2011

31/12    

2012

31/12    

2011

31/12    

2012

31/12    

2011

Total current assets 115,124 54,467 16,593 18,333 35,531 32,892 (29,765) (14,001) 137,483 91,692

Assets held for sale 0 0 0 0 310 0 0 0 310 0

Total non-current assets 303,770 308,892 97,853 100,052 146,849 136,523 (25,952) (28,303) 522,519 517,164

TOTAL  ASSETS 418,894 363,359 114,446 118,386 182,691 169,415 (55,718) (42,304) 660,312 608,856

L IABIL ITIES

(€/000)

31/12    

2012

31/12    

2011

31/12    

2012

31/12    

2011

31/12    

2012

31/12    

2011

31/12    

2012

31/12    

2011

31/12    

2012

31/12    

2011

Total current liabilities 83,656 86,367 22,040 22,201 100,839 75,086 (30,234) (14,453) 176,302 169,202

Liabilities linked to assets held for sale 0 0 0 0 285 0 0 0 285 0

Total non-current liabilities 95,624 47,097 39,044 46,927 26,815 38,968 (25,139) (27,505) 136,344 105,488

TOTAL  L IABIL ITIES 179,281 133,465 61,084 69,129 127,939 114,054 (55,372) (41,958) 312,931 274,690

Total 

Cancellation am ong 

segm entsF& B and Retail

Infrastructure 

M anagem entAirport M anagem ent

Airport M anagem ent

Infrastructure 

M anagem ent F& B and Retail

Cancellation am ong 

segm ents Total 

 
 
 

INFORMATION ON GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS  
 
Below is a breakdown of total consolidated revenue from third-party clients, in relation to the 
geographical areas the various Group companies are headquartered in. 
 

(€/000) 2012 2011

Italy 303,368 298,932

Other Eurozone countries 33,371 33,246

Other non-Eurozone countries 15,760 15,060

Total revenue from consolidated separate income statement 352,499 347,238

 
 
Below is a breakdown of non-current assets (Tangible and Intangible Fixed Assets, as per the 
statement of equity and financial position) in relation to the geographical areas the various Group 
companies are headquartered in. 
 

(€/000) 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Italy 397,885 401,421

Other Eurozone countries 13,930 13,546

Other non-Eurozone countries 28,611 25,136

Total 440,426 440,103

Non-current assets illustrated in the table consist of the sum of tangible and intangible fixed assets as per 

notes 7and 8, pursuanto to the statement of consolidated equity and financial position.  
 

INFORMATION ON MAIN CLIENTS  
 
With regard both to the Parent Company SAVE S.p.A. and to the other companies consolidated 
using the line-by-line or proportional methods, the analyses carried out show that, generally 
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speaking, there are no cases in which revenues deriving from transactions with a single external 
client are equal or superior to 10% of the total revenue of the company concerned. 
The only significant exception is Aer Tre S.p.A., about 55.4% of whose total turnover is 
accounted for by Ryanair, and about 14.3% by Wizz Air. 
 

NET FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
Indicated below is the net financial position, in accordance with Consob notification no. 
6064293, which takes up Consob resolution no. 15519 of 27 July 2006. 
 

(€/000) 31-12-12 31-12-11

Cash and cash equivalents 58,968 17,896

Financial assets available for sale

Other financial assets 2,903 2,265

Financial assets held for sale 47 0

Financial assets 61,918 20,161

** Payables to banks 52,139 39,332

* Other financial liabilities – current share 1,660 950

Short-term liabilities 53,799 40,282

** Financial payables to banks net of current share 86,612 54,450

Financial payables to others net of current share 3,082 3,700

Long-term liabilities 89,694 58,150

Net financial position (81,575) (78,271)

* of which net liabilities for derivative contracts  carried at fair value 165 62

** Total gross payables to banks 138,751 93,782
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BUSINESS COMBINATIONS  
 
Transfer of the equity investments Airest Retail S.r.l. and Airest Russia ooo 
 

During 1H 2011, Airest S.p.A., a subsidiary of the listed company SAVE S.p.A., carried out the 
following transaction: 
 
1) in April 2011, the company incorporated a NewCo under Italian law, named Airest Retail S.r.l., 
with a minimum share capital of € 10 thousand, which will adopt the Italian accounting 
standards; 
 
2) subsequently, effective from1 May 2011, it transferred a going concern from Airest S.p.A. to 
Airest Retail S.r.l. related to the retail points of sale located at the Venice, Treviso, Bari, Lyons 
(permanent establishment) airports, in addition to the 1% investment in the capital of Airest 
Russia ooo (the residual 99% is held by and will be transferred by the Austrian company ATBC 
Gmbh, a 100% subsidiary of Airest S.p.A., to Airest Collezioni Sàrl – formerly MGE Travel 
Retail Sàrl). 
 
This transfer was supported by a report drawn up by an independent professional, who – on the 
basis of the Discount Cash Flow method – valued the business unit for transfer at about € 16 
million; 
 
3) Following the transfer operation, during June 2011, the equity investment in the 
aforementioned company, Airest Retail S.r.l., 100% of which was held by Airest S.p.A., was 
transferred to Airest Collezioni Sàrl, a company under Luxembourgish law that in turn holds 
equity investments in another three companies that hold the sub-concession contracts for the use 
of commercial areas in a number of European airports. This transfer was made at fair value, 
based on the values contained in the expert’s report indicated above. 
 
Airest Collezioni Sàrl was fully owned by the multinational McArthurGlen Travel Retail LLC, 
with which Airest S.p.A. signed a Joint Venture Agreement aimed at setting up a partnership to 
boost business, with each company contributing its specific experience and resources, 
streamlining business and cutting costs by means of centralisation, thus enhancing future 
potential for expansion in Europe (for example by taking part in tenders).  
By virtue of the interest transferred to Airest Retail S.r.l., Airest Group now holds 75% of Airest 
Collezioni Sàrl; and the residual 25% is held by McArthurGlen Travel Retail LLC. 
Once the transaction was completed, the situation was as follows: the Airest group holds 75% of 
Airest Collezioni Sàrl, which in turn holds 100% of the subsidiaries Airest Collezioni Dublin Ltd, 
Airest Collezioni Glasgow Ltd, Airest Collezioni Venezia S.r.l., Airest Retail S.r.l. and Airest 
Russia ooo.  
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Airest Collezioni

Book values at 75% 

at the date of 

transaction 

Allocation of 

capital gain on 

contribution

Current values at 

75% at the date of 

transaction 

Restatement at acquisition date

Cash and cash equivalents 592                          592                          

Receivables 3,846                       3,846                       

Inventories 3,495                       3,495                       

Tangible fixed assets 1,110                       1,110                       

Intangible fixed assets 12,670                     1 ,246                13,916                     

Other equity investments 28                            28                            

Other non-current assets 553                          553                          

Total assets 22,294               1 ,246                23,540               

Payables 7,507                       7,507                       

Non-current liabilities 1,057                       391                   1,449                       

Total liabilities 8,564                391                   8 ,955                

Net assets 13,730               855                   14,585               

Goodwill 2,887                2 ,887                

Value of net assets contributed 13,730               3 ,742                17,472               

Net assets contributed - Airest Retail 16,286               

Net assets contributed - Airest Russia 1,185                 
 
The value of the net assets following the transfer of the companies acquired was € 18,307 
thousand, which, when compared at 75% of value with the value of the net assets, at the 
provisional allocation at 30 June 2011 resulted in a higher figure of € 3,742 thousand. 
Considering that the transaction was recorded at fair value, it was necessary to apply IFRS 3 
Amended regarding purchase price allocation. 
 
The original allocation, since specific intangibles to attribute the higher value paid to were not 
identified, had provided for this amount, totalling € 3.7 million to be attributed in full to 
Goodwill. 
The redetermination of the allocation process, carried out with effect backdated to the date of 
acquisition, has led to a redefinition of the criteria adopted for the original purchase price 
allocation, aimed at identifying any intangible assets specific to the Cash Generating Unit, given 
the new information acquired regarding circumstances outstanding at the date of acquisition. 
 
The analyses carried out have identified a specific intangible asset, i.e. the value of the contractual 
rights relating to the use of sub-concession contracts at airports, entered into by the companies 
purchased (hereinafter “Concessions”), the fair value of which at the original purchase date was 
estimated at € 1.2 million. This value is subject to amortisation over the duration of the 
concessions. 
The remaining part, amounting to € 2.5 million, was maintained as Goodwill. 
On the amount allocated to Concessions, it was then necessary to calculate the deferred tax 
liabilities, totalling € 0.4 million, offset by the amount of Goodwill. 

 
The comparative balance sheet and income statement data at 31 December 2011 were presented, 
related to the above-mentioned items, as emerges from the Statement of consolidated equity and 
financial position, the consolidated separate income statement, the statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated cash flow statement and the statement of changes in consolidated net 
equity presented. 
The effect on net equity at 31 December 2011 was negative and totalled € 40 thousand. 



 

94 
 

 

Airest   Restaurant Middle East Llc 
 
In accordance with the agreements made and signed by the shareholders, during December 2012, 
Save Group, through the sub-holding ATBC Holding, despite the minority share held in the 
capital of Airest Restaurant Middle East Llc, took de facto control of the company assuming full 
voting and equity rights. 
In consideration of the above, in the consolidated financial statements of Save S.p.A. closed at 31 
December 2012, the equity investment in Airest Restaurant Middle East Llc was consolidated on 
a line by line basis, without any minorities being recognised. 
For the purpose of consolidation, the acquisition of full control compared to the previous 
situation in which Save Group held – legally and de facto – a minority interest, can be regarded as 
a  business combination, and must be treated as such from an accounting point of view. 
Considering that the acquisition took place near the close of FY 2012, for accounting purposes, 
the consolidation of the equity investment was treated as follows: 
- the balance sheet of the company was consolidated on a line-by-line basis, because the 

closing date of the consolidated financial statements was near the actual date on which 
control was acquired, i.e. 31 December 2012; 

- the income statement of the company was consolidated on a line by line basis as of the date 
on which control was effectively acquired; therefore, the economic effects pertaining to the 
Group (equal to 48.92%) accrued up to 31 December 2012 are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement using the equity method in the line “Profits/losses from affiliates using the 
equity method”; 

- the allocation of the higher value paid for the acquisition of control of the company – 
compared to its equity at the date on which it was effectively acquired, i.e. € 766 thousand – 
took place in accordance with the rules set by IFRS 3. 
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Book values Current values Current values

at 31 12 2012 at 31 12 2012 at 31 12 2012

100% 100% 51%

Cash and cash equivalents 117                       117                      60                        

Receivables 285                       285                      145                      

Inventories 53                         53                        27                        

Tangible fixed assets 3,247                    3,247                   1,656                   

Intangible fixed assets 102                       102                      52                        

Long-term receivables 320                       320                      163                      

Total assets 4,124                     4,124                    2,103                   

Current payables - trade payables and other 1,666                    1,666                   850                      

Non-current payables 3,960                    3,960                   2,020                   

Total liabilities 5,626                     5,626                    2,869                   

Net assets (1,502) (1,502) (766)

Goodwill deriving from the transaction 766

Total cost for the transaction 0  
 
When the purchase price was allocated, none of the fair values of the assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities were found to be different from those already present in the Company’s 
financial statements; the higher value paid was therefore allocated to Goodwill. 
Goodwill was not amortised, but subjected to an impairment test. 
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ANALYSIS OF THE MAIN BALANCE SHEET ITEMS 
(unless expressly specified, the amounts are given in thousands of Euro) 

 

ASSETS 
 

Current Assets 
 
The above-mentioned item may be broken down as follows: 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 137,481 

31.12.2011   € 91,692 

Change     47,350 

 

1. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 58,968 

31.12.2011   € 17,896 

Change     41,072 

 
They are represented by the balances of the bank current accounts available and the cash 
available at the date of closure of the financial statements. The main credit balances are held by 
the Parent Company, with € 48.9 million, and by Airest Group, with € 7.5 million, of which € 5.1 
million in Italy and € 2.4 million abroad. The significant credit balance registered at the closing 
date is the result of two major loans taken out towards the end of the FY, totalling € 52 million. 
Cash and cash equivalents are shown at their book value, considered to be reasonably close to 
their fair value at the date of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

2. Other Financial Assets 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 2,319 

31.12.2011   € 2,177 

Change     142 

 
The balance of “Other financial assets” was mainly composed, for € 1.9 million, of investments 
in listed shares and for a total of € 0.4 million of financial receivables from non-consolidated 
companies belonging to the Group. 
 

3. Tax assets 
Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 4,325 

31.12.2011   € 608 

Change     3,717 

 
The item mainly comprises € 2.6 million relating to the Ires refund on Irap for the 2007-2011 
period, applied for by SAVE S.p.A. as parent company in control of the tax consolidation, 
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pursuant to article 2, para. 1-quater of Law Decree no.201/2011; € 10 thousand for Ires advances 
paid in 2012 net of Ires due for the FY for € 9.3 million; € 0.5 million relating to the Irap credit 
for the year; € 0.3 million relating to the previous Ires refund on Irap pursuant to article 6 of Law 
Decree no.185/2008 and € 0.2 million for other receivables for the Revenue Office. 
 

4. Other receivables 
 

Amount:    

31.12.2012   € 20,242 

31.12.2011   € 21,195 

Change     (953) 

 
The breakdown is as follows: 

           

(€/000)   31.12.12   31.12.11 Change 

From associated companies of Centostazioni (FFSS 
Group) 

  10,956  8,306 2,650 

From E.N.A.C. for contributions   3,706  3,706 0 

From Veneto Region for loans   0  324 (324) 

From suppliers for advances    403  521 (118) 

From social security authorities    294  259 35 

VAT receivable   873  1,918 (1,045) 

Sundry receivables    2,541  3,101 (560) 

Receivables from related parties  1,469  3,060 (1,591) 

Total other receivables   20,242  21,195 (953) 

        

 
Of the total amount under consideration, € 11 million was for Centostazioni’s receivables from 
companies belonging to the Ferrovie dello Stato S.p.A. Group. Receivables from E.N.A.C. for 
contributions for investments do not show any changes  and regard Venice airport for a total of € 
3,681 thousand and Padua airport for a total of € 25 thousand; receivables were collected from 
the Veneto Region for € 324 thousand.  
 

5. Trade receivables 
 

Amount:    

31.12.2012   € 37,933 

31.12.2011   € 37,718 

Change     215 

 
These are composed mainly of receivables from airlines for aviation activities and receivables 
from sub-licensees of commercial areas in the mobility infrastructures the Group operates in. 
Trade receivables are basically in line with the figure at 31 December 2011. 
The schedule below shows the composition of trade receivables and respective adjustment 
provisions: 
 
            

(€/000)   31.12.12   31.12.11 Change 

Trade receivables   56,853  56,628 225 
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Provision for bad debts   (18,920)  (18,910) (10) 

Total trade receivables   37,933  37,718 215 
            

 
The Group’s provision for bad debts amounted to € 18.9 million. This was quantified by taking 
account both of the analysis of specific positions – for some of which credit recovery risk persists 
– and of the evaluation of how long the receivable has been owed. This is in line with the 
evaluation methods applied over time. 
The changes in the provision for bad debts for the year were as follows: 
 

(€/000) 

Balance at 31/12/2011 (18,910) 

Uses and other changes 498 

Allocation for the year (508) 

Balance at 31/12/2012 (18,920) 

 
Below is a breakdown by maturity of the trade receivables of the Group outstanding at 31 
December 2012: 

Trade receivables from third parties Total Not yet due

Due           

< 30 days

Due            

30-60 

days

Due     

60-90 

days

Due        

90-120 

days

Due        

> 120 

days

31/12/2012

Net receivables 37,933      17,653     3,841    3,938   2,418  1,317  8,766   

Trade receivables from third parties Total Not yet due

Due             

< 30 days

Due      

30-60 

days

Due      

60-90 

days

Due      

90-120 

days

Due        

> 120 

days

31/12/2011

Net receivables 37,718      17,533     5,368    4,566   1,396  1,139  7,716    
 
In order to limit credit risk, monitoring activity and constant work on collection from customers 
continued. 
As regards the balances of trade receivables, pursuant to actions – including legal action 
undertaken to protect credit and collections and based on the information available to date – 
supported by the lawyers handling the respective disputes, and considering the guarantees and 
sureties received, the above-mentioned net value is considered to prudently reflect the presumed 
realisable value. 
Trade receivables are shown in the financial statements at their book value, net of any write-
downs; this value is considered to be reasonably close to the fair value of the receivables, since at 
Group level there are no specific medium-to-long-term receivables that need to be discounted. 
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6. Inventories 
 

Amount:    

31.12.2012   € 13,694 

31.12.2011   € 12,098 

Change     1,596 

 
The inventory value is for the most part attributable to the companies that make up the Food & 
Beverage and RetailBusiness Unit, and refer to inventories of raw and ancillary materials and 
consumables, for goods for resale. The balance is attributable to Airest S.p.A. for € 6.1 million, to 
the foreign companies of Airest group for € 1.9 million, to Airest Retail S.r.l. for € 4.2 million and 
to V.I.F. S.r.l. for € 0.2 million. 
 
Current assets also include “Assets held for sale” for € 310 thousand; see Note 38. 
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Non-current assets 
 

Amount:    

31.12.2012   € 522,517 

31.12.2011   € 517,164 

Change     5,353 

 
They are broken down as follows: 
 

7. Tangible fixed assets 
 
Amount:    

31.12.2012   € 117,841 

31.12.2011   € 108,605 

Change     9,236 

 
The € 9.2 million change in the balance for the period was due to new investments for around € 
17.1 million, net of depreciation of € 11.3 million. In addition, the entry of Arme Llc within the 
scope of consolidation led to the entry of a total of € 3.3 million in “Tangible Fixed Assets”. 
 

8. Intangible fixed assets 
 
Amount:    

31.12.2012   € 322,585 

31.12.2011   € 331,498 

Change     (8,913) 

 
Also shown in a separate item are “Right of use of airport concessions”, "Concessions", "Other 
intangible fixed assets with a definite life" and "Goodwill-other intangible fixed assets with an 
indefinite life." 
 
More specifically: 
 

           

(€/000)   31.12.12   31.12.11 Change 

Right of use of airport concessions   176,564  180,820 (4,256) 

Concessions   78,717  82,890 (4,173) 

Other intangible fixed assets with a definite life   5,293  6,543 (1,250) 

Goodwill – other intangible assets with an 
indefinite life 

  62,011  61,245 766 

Total intangible fixed assets   322,585  331,498 (8,913) 

        

 
The composition of these intangible fixed assets is detailed in Annex A, which reports the figures 
related to the historical cost, amortisation and outstanding values to amortise, posted by 
individual asset category. 
During the period there was a net decrease of € 8.9 million, considering amortisation for about € 
13.1 million and investments, net of contributions received during the FY, for € 4.2 million. 
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Concessions are broken down as follows: 
 

           

(€/000)   31.12.12   31.12.11 Change 

Centostazioni S.p.A.   58,821  60,849 (2,028) 

Airest Czech Republic a.s.   17,107  18,057 (950) 

Airest S.p.A. (formerly Ristop)   744  1,107 (363) 

Airest S.p.A. (formerly R&M Airport S.r.l.)   190  572 (382) 

Other concessions Terminal Catering Airest Austria   634  830 (196) 

Airest Collezioni Sàrl  1,071  1,186 (115) 

Other minor concessions Airest S.p.A.    150  289 (139) 

Total Concessions   78,717  82,890 (4,173) 

        

 
Regarding “Concessions”, the higher value paid for the acquisition of the equity interest in 
Centostazioni S.p.A. equalled about € 84.4 million. At 31 December 2012, the residual amount 
was € 58.8 million, net of amortisation accrued. For this and for the other Concessions, the 
change in the period refers to the amortisation of the allocated capital gains. 
The item “Concessions” also include, net of the pertinent amortisation accrued, € 17.1 million 
related to the acquisition of the company Airest Czech Republic a.s. (a company resulting from 
the merger between Fast Food Servisa.s. and ITP Services s.r.o.), and for € 0.7 million for the 
higher amount paid for the purchase of Ristop. 
Also shown is € 1.1 million for the capital gains allocated to concessions in relation to the 
transaction regarding Airest Collezioni Sàrl: see the paragraph on business combinations for 
further details. 
 
The breakdown of Goodwill, with reference to the cash generating units deriving from the 
purchase transactions that generated the amount, is as follows: 
 

            

(€/000)   31.12.12  31.12.11 Change 

Airest Austrian Group   9,321  9,321 - 

Ristop S.r.l.   37,652  37,652 - 

Aer Tre S.p.A.   6,937  6,937 - 

N-Aitec S.r.l.   40  40 - 

Czech Republic a.s.  4,021  4,021 - 

R&M. S.r.l.  152  152 - 

V.I.F. S.r.l.   234  234 - 

Airest Collezioni  Sàrl   2,888  2,888 - 

Airest Restaurant Middle East Llc  766   766 

Total goodwill   62,011  61,245 766 

            

 
See the paragraph on business combinations for further details in relation to the increase of € 766 
thousand in “Goodwill”. 
For this purpose, as described in detail in the paragraph “Business combinations”, it is important 
to highlight that the 2011 figure has been restated in order to consider the definitive purchase 
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price allocation of the higher value paid upon acquisition of 75% of the capital of Airest 
Collezioni Sàrl with the signing of the joint venture agreement. 
At the time of the original allocation on 30 June 2011, the higher value paid - € 3.7 million – was 
temporarily posted to Goodwill. 
The redetermination of the allocation process led to the identification of a specific intangible 
asset (Concessions), the fair value of which at the date of the original acquisition was estimated at 
€ 1.2 million. Only the residual value - € 2.5 - was therefore posted to Goodwill. On the amount 
allocated to Concessions, it was then necessary to calculate the deferred tax liabilities, totalling € 
0.4 million, offset by the amount of Goodwill. 
 
In order to assess the recoverable value both of the Goodwill posted and of the Concessions, the 
Company carried out impairment tests, a breakdown of the results of which can be consulted in 
the paragraph “Verification of the recoverable value of assets or groups of assets”. 
 

9. Equity investments 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 25,683 

31.12.2011   € 25,476 

Change     207 

 
”Equity interests in companies carried at equity” and “Other equity investments” are shown 
separately. 
 
            

(€/000)   31.12.12  31.12.11 Change 

Equity investments in companies carried at equity   24,498  22,584 1,914 

Other equity investments   1,185  2,892 (1,707) 

Total equity investments    25,683  25,476 207 
            

 
The balance of “Equity investments in companies carried at equity” is broken down as follows. 

             

(€/000) % held   31.12.12  31.12.11 Change 

Nicelli S.p.A. 49.23   367  367 - 

Venezia Terminal Passeggeri S.p.A. 22.18   6,821  6,088 733 

GAP S.p.A. 49.87   292  290 2 

Brussels South Charleroi Airport SA 27.65   16,928  15,839 1,089 

2A – Airport Advertising S.r.l. 50.00  90  - 90 

Total equity investments carried at 

equity 
  24,498 

 
22,584 1,914 

             

 
The effect of the carrying at equity of the companies Brussels South Charleroi Airport SA and 
VTP SpA led to an increase in the value of the equity investment of € 1.8 million, due to the 
combined effect between the pro-rata write-up following the positive result achieved in the 
reference period and the resolution on the dividend accrued on the result of the previous FY. 
 
The balance of “Other equity investments” is broken down in the following table. 
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(€/000) 
% 

held 
  31.12.12  31.12.11 Change 

Società delle Autostrade Venezia e 
Padova S.p.A.  

4.64  -  1,490 (1,490) 

3A – Advanced Airport Advisory S.r.l. 100  10  10 - 

Other =  1,175  1,392 (217) 

Total other equity investments   1,185  2,892 (1,707) 
             

 
The change in the item “Other equity investments” was basically due to the disposal of the 
interest Archimede 3 S.r.l. held in “Società delle Autostrade di Venezia e Padova S.p.A.” – no. 
104,457 shares corresponding to 4.64% of the overall share capital – that took place in May. 
Further to this disposal, a capital gain totalling € 2.1 million was recorded in these consolidated 
financial statements. 
 

10. Other assets  
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 9,300 

31.12.2011   € 7,639 

Change     1,661 

 
This item includes receivables for loans to affiliates, receivables for security deposits on utilities, 
and deposits on rental contracts. Also shown is a receivable for security deposits paid to ENAC 
by Aer Tre S.p.A for about € 2.8 million as advances for occupation of airports, calculated as the 
progressive amount of 10% of the monthly fees collected. 
 
They are broken down as follows: 
 
            

(€/000)   31.12.12  31.12.11 Change 

Sundry guarantee deposits   1,111  1,183 (72) 

Advances on contracts  3,729  2,716 1,013 

Security deposits to ENAC   2,820  2,517 303 

Other assets    1,640  1,223 417 

Total   9,300  7,639 1,661 
            

 
The change in other financial assets is mainly attributable to the posting, on the part of the 
subsidiary Centostazioni S.p.A., of a medium-long-term financial receivable for a renegotiation 
with a client, the increase in contractual deposits to ENAC, and the rise in long-term loans issued 
in favour of non-consolidated subsidiaries. 
 

11. Deferred tax assets 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 47,108 

31.12.2011   € 43,946 

Change     3,162 
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Deferred tax assets totalled € 47.1 million are fully usable in the medium-to-long-term. The key 
timing differences on which advance tax assets are booked concern: 

 taxes prepaid to realign fiscal values with the higher book values of goodwill, concessions 
and controlling interests, in application of art. 15, para. 10 and10 bis, of Law Decree 
no.185/2008 and of art. 176, para.2 ter of the Income Tax Consolidation Act;  

 funds tax deductible in future FYs, such as the provision for renewal of licensed assets, the 
provision for liabilities and charges, and the provision for bad debts; 

 tax losses carried forward;  

 adjustments connected to the application of international accounting standards (mainly 
deferred expenses that cannot be capitalised); 

 write-downs of intangible fixed assets, from the use of which future benefits cannot 
necessarily be derived; 

 other negative components deductible in subsequent financial years; 

 other consolidation adjustments that generate prepaid taxes. 
 
The tables below illustrate the types that determine how deferred tax assets are recorded, 
distinguishing between IRES and IRAP: 
 

ASSETS FOR PREPAID TAXES

(€/000)

Rate 27.5%- 25%-24%-19% 31/12/2011 INCREASES DECREASES 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 INCREASES DECREASES 31/12/2012

Provision for bad debts 6,941               260                  357                  6,845               1,899               72                    94                    1,877               

Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs 2,535               158                  157                  2,535               650                  43                    40                    654                  

Multi-year charges 4,110               11                    895                  3,223               1,122               12                    247                  887                  

Losses to be c/fwd 10,194             389                  1,098               9,485               2,711               94                    261                  2,544               

Provision for renewal of licensed assets 10,168             2,729               403                  12,494             3,122               751                  111                  3,763               

Provision for risks and other deferred deductibility costs 6,025               2,384               1,973               6,436               1,611               666                  530                  1,746               

Goodwill amortisation 46,553             11,060             4,225               53,388             12,803             5,795               3,496               15,101             

Concession amortisation 63,524             314                  -                   63,838             17,469             86                    -                   17,555             

Other 17                    39                    16                    40                    4                      11                    4                      11                    

Balance of prepaid taxes - Ires 150,066            17,343              9,124                158,284            41,391              7,531                4,783                44,138              

(€/000)

Rate 3.9%- 4.2% 31/12/2011 INCREASES DECREASES 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 INCREASES DECREASES 31/12/2012

Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs 705                  17                    100                  622                  40                    1                      4                      37                    

Multi-year charges 2,492               3                      209                  2,284               102                  0                      9                      93                    

Provision for renewal of licensed assets 10,120             2,337               1,436               11,021             474                  98                    60                    512                  

Provision for risks and other deferred deductibility costs 2,267               239                  1,009               1,497               96                    9                      41                    64                    

Goodwill amortisation 46,552             119                  4,225               42,446             1,817               573                  165                  2,225               

Concession amortisation 647                  314                  -                   961                  25                    12                    -                   37                    

Other 17                    39                    16                    40                    1                      2                      1                      2                      

Balance of prepaid taxes - Irap 62,800              3,068                6,995                58,871              2,555                695                   280                   2,970                

TOTAL CHANGES IN PREPAID TAXES 43,946              8,226                5,063                47,108              

TAXABLE BASE TAX

TAXABLE BASE TAX
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LIABILITIES 
 

Current liabilities 
 

Amount:     

31.12.2012  € 176,302 

31.12.2011  € 169,202 

Change   8,661 

 
They are broken down as follows: 
 

12. Trade payables 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012  € 71,509 

31.12.2011  € 81,407 

Change   (9,898) 

 
Payables, except for those of the foreign companies of the Airest Group, are mainly owed to 
national suppliers. The decrease is mainly attributable to the payment of significant balances 
owed to suppliers made in the earlier part of FY2012. 
Trade payables are posted in the financial statements at their book value, which is assumed to be 
reasonably close to their fair value, since at Group level there are no specific medium-to-long-
term payables that need to be discounted. 
 

13. Other payables 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 42,155 

31.12.2011   € 36,301 

Change     5,854 

 
The item includes, in addition to payables for advances and VAT payable, payables to personnel 
for deferred compensation and payables of Centostazioni S.p.A. to associated companies 
belonging to the Ferrovie dello Stato Group for current transactions. 
The item “Other payables” is broken down as follows: 
            

(€/000)   31.12.12  31.12.11 Change 

For advances   273  1,604 (1,331) 

Payables to affiliates   2,558  928 1,630 

Payables to Centostazioni’s associated 

companies 
  4,892 

 2,325 
2,567 

Payables to personnel for deferred 

compensation 
  8,977 

 8,227 
750 

VAT payable   63  53 10 

Payables for airport concession fee   10,605  8,503 2,102 

Payables for additional municipal tax   8,792  8,169 623 

Other payables   5,995  6,492 (497) 
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Total  42,155  36,301 5,854 
            

 

14. Tax liabilities 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 2,838 

31.12.2011   € 5,524 

Change     (2,686) 

 
The item is broken down in the following table: 
 
            

(€/000)   31.12.12  31.12.11 Change 

Payables for withholdings on employment 

income 
  

1,714  1,510 204 

Other payables to Revenue Office   476  364 112 

Payables for direct / income taxes   648  3,650 (3,002) 

Total   2,838  5,524 (2,686) 
            

 
The item Payables for direct taxes mainly includes € 0.6 million for IRAP payable for the FY. 
The change from the previous FY is attributable to the payment of IRES owed during the 
previous FY.  
 

15. Payables to social security authorities 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 6,001 

31.12.2011   € 5,689 

Change     312 

 

16. Payables to banks 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 52,139 

31.12.2011   € 39,332 

Change     12,807 

 
The item may be broken down as follows:  
            

(€/000)   31.12.12  31.12.11 Change 

Ordinary current accounts   5,575  3,968 1,607 

Current share of bank loans   36,616  25,864 10,752 

Short-term advances   9,948  9,500 448 

Total  52,139  39,332 12,807 
            

 
The nominal amounts of loans to be paid within 12 months amounted to € 36.6 million. 
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The table below provides a summary of the allocation of credit facilities granted by banks used 
and available at 31 December 2012.  

TYPE Granted Used Residual

Cash credit facilities 66,404 (15,523) 50,881

Endorsement credit 37,364 (21,450) 15,914

Cash and credit commitment 12,500 0 12,500

Finance lease 11,684 (3,684) 8,000

Mortgages / loans 124,350 (124,350) 0

Total 252,302 (165,007) 87,295  
 

17. Other financial liabilities – current share 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 1,660 

31.12.2011   € 949 

Change     711 

 
This item mainly includes the short-term amount of the outstanding payable of the finance lease 
contracts in force at 31 December 2012 for € 0.68 million, a payable arising from the IRS 
derivative financial instruments carried at fair value for a total of € 0.2 million, as well as short-
term financial liabilities vis-à-vis related parties for € 0.6 million. 
 
The table below shows the breakdown of the item concerned: 
 
            

(€/000)   31.12.12  31.12.11 Change 

Financial payables for derivative instruments 

carried at fair value 
  165  62 103 

Financial payables for finance lease contracts – 

current share 
  684  632 52 

Payables to minority shareholders for 

contributions 
  441  88 353 

Other financial payables    370  167 203 

Total   1,660  949 711 
            

 
The Group holds derivative financial instruments for the purpose of hedging its exposure to the 
risk of a change in interest rates with regard to specific liabilities (cash flow hedges). 
The Group has not executed any transactions on derivatives for purely speculative purposes; 
however, in the absence of formal and documentary requirements, these transactions, while 
economically qualified as hedges, are not perceived as such based on a strict application of the 
pertinent accounting standards. 
The accounting methods applied require changes to fair value to be recorded in the income 
statement. 
For a detailed analysis of the derivative instruments held by at Group level, see note 39 of the 
financial statements on “Type and management of financial risks”. 
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Current assets include “Liabilities linked to assets held for sale”, all of a non-financial nature, 
totalling € 285 thousand. For a detailed analysis of the above, see note 38 of these Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 

Non-current liabilities 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 136,344 

31.12.2011   € 105,487 

Change     30,857 

 
They are broken down as follows: 
 

18. Other payables 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 292 

31.12.2011   € 226 

Change     66 

 

19. Financial payables to banks net of current share  
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 86,612 

31.12.2011   € 54,450 

Change     32,162 

 
Payables to banks, net of the current share, are made up of the medium/long-term portion of 
loans granted to the Group and in force at 31 December 2012. 
The value of the loans to be repaid within one year amounted to € 36.6 million and beyond the 
year € 86.6 million, € 17.5 million of which fall due beyond five years.  
Medium- to long-term bank loans, including the amount falling due in the coming 12 months (€ 
39.9 million), amount to € 123.2 million, already net of € 1.1 million for up-front fees paid upon 
the signing of loan agreements and recognised as a deduction from the value of the loans, based 
on the amortised cost method. 
Approximately 7.6% of the total value (of principal) of medium and long-term loans is subject to 
hedging (IRS) against the risk of rising interest rates. 
During FY2012, loans totalling € 20.9 million were repaid, while new loans totalling € 63.8 
million were taken out. The further effect on the change is due to the shift of loan amounts with 
variable instalments from long to short term. 
 
The breakdown, by calendar year, of the medium/long-term bank loans, including the short-term 
share, is as follows:  
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Deadline Principal
up-front 

fees
Interest (*) Total

31/12/2013 36,930 (312) 3,197 39,815

31/12/2014 21,549 (250) 2,251 23,550

31/12/2015 22,031 (203) 1,682 23,510

31/12/2016 16,317 (156) 1,176 17,337

31/12/2017 9,967 (110) 784 10,641

31/12/2018 9,539 (67) 456 9,928

31/12/2019 8,017 (23) 147 8,141

Total medium and long term payables

to banks
124,350 (1,121) 9,693 132,922

(*) the interest indicated is estimated based on the last rate applied to the various loans outstanding.  

 
 

The medium/long-term loans outstanding at 31 December 2012 were made up of: 
 
• a loan taken out by SAVE S.p.A. for an original amount of € 12.5 million subscribed to in 2005 
and issued in December 2006 for the purchase of land adjacent to the grounds of Venice airport 
for further development. This loan is to be repaid in two instalments per year from June 2007 to 
December 2016 and is covered by a mortgage guarantee on the land purchased in 2005. The rate 
applied provides for a spread on the 6-month Euribor rate. The residual value at 31 December 
2012 was € 5 million; 
 
• a further loan taken out by SAVE S.p.A. in mid-February 2011 for € 4.5 million; The loan will 
be repaid in 8 half-yearly instalments, starting on 22 August 2011 and ending on 22 January 2015. 
The interest rate applied corresponds to the Euribor rate plus a spread. At 31 December 2012, 
the residual amount was € 2.8 million. A non-speculative hedge was taken out against the risk of a 
rise in interest rates (I.R.S.) for 100% of the loan; 
 
• at the end of June 2012 Save S.p.A. took out a loan for a total of € 10 million, € 2 million of 
which was issued at the end of June 2012 and € 8 million of which was issued at the beginning of 
July 2012. An up-front fee was paid upon issue, recognised using the amortised cost method. The 
loan requires compliance with a financial covenant represented by the ratio between NFP and 
EBITDA, which must be equal to or less than 3.5. This must be complied with by the closing 
date of the financial statements. This loan is to be repaid in two constant instalments and 
extinguished on 27 December 2013; the interest rate corresponds to the 6-month Euribor rate 
plus a spread; 
 
• during July 2012 a loan taken out by SAVE S.p.A. for € 5 million was converted from short-
term to medium/long-term. The loan will be repaid in 8 half-yearly instalments, starting on 17 
January 2013 and ending on 17 June 2016. When this change was made, an up-front fee was paid, 
which was recognised using the amortised cost method. Interest will be at the Euribor rate plus a 
spread. At 31 December 2012, the residual amount was € 5 million. A non-speculative hedge was 
subsequently taken out against the risk of a rise in interest rates (I.R.S.) for 100% of the loan; 
 
• during October 2012 a further loan was taken out by SAVE S.p.A. for € 35 million. The loan 
will be repaid in 13 half-yearly instalments, starting on 9 October 2013 and ending on 9 October 
2019. An up-front fee was paid upon issue, recognised using the amortised cost method. Interest 
will be at the Euribor rate plus a spread. At 31 December 2012, the residual amount 
corresponded with the original amount. The loan requires compliance with financial covenants 
represented (i) by the ratio between NFP and equity, which must remain less than or equal to 1; 
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(ii) by the ratio between NFP and EBITDA, which must be equal to or less than 3; and  (iii) by 
the ratio between EBITDA and gross financial charges, which must remain less than or equal to 
5.  At the closure of the financial statements, these covenants had been complied with. No real or 
personal guarantees were issued for this loan;  
 
• a loan was requested by Archimede 1 S.p.A. for an original amount of € 36 million, with a view 
to covering financial needs arising from the acquisition of the equity investment in Centostazioni 
S.p.A. The terms of the loan envisaged two years of pre-amortisation until 30 June 2008 and 
repayment in 2016. The interest includes a spread on the reference rate. The loan requires 
compliance with the covenants represented by (i) the ratio between financial debt and net equity, 
which must remain below 0.80; (ii) equity restrictions based on which the company’s net equity 
must not fall below € 51 million. The loan is backed by a pro-rata guarantee provided by the 
shareholders of Archimede 1; the residual value of the loan at 31 December 2012 was € 24.9 
million. Because the financial obligations indicated above had not been complied with at the 
closure of the financial statements at 31 December 2012, a special waiver was applied for and 
obtained from the bank; 
 
• a loan required by Airest S.p.A. for an original amount of € 10 million, was granted on 14 
November 2011. This loan requires a bullet repayment after eighteen months falling due on 14 
May 2013, with interest paid quarterly. The interest rate applied is the 3-month EURIBOR plus a 
spread. No real or personal guarantees were issued for this loan; 
 
• At the end of 2012, Aer Tre S.p.A. took out two loans for € 6 million and € 11.5 million 
respectively, issued in full during the FY. Both loans are to be repaid over 7 years, in half-yearly 
instalments, and the interest is calculated at the 6-month Euribor rate plus a spread; the € 6 
million loan issued with the support of EIB funds requires a lower spread than the other loan. 
Upon issue, an up-front fee was paid, recognised for the purpose of the consolidated financial 
statements in line with the application of the method for valuing financial liabilities at amortised 
cost. As a guarantee for these loans,  Save S.p.A. has agreed to jointly guarantee payment. No 
covenants are required. The residual value at 31 December 2012 corresponded to the original 
value. 
 
• a loan for a total of € 14 million requested by Centostazioni S.p.A., and issued in 2009, the 
share of which pertaining to the Save Group was € 3.8 million at 31 December 2012, net of 
repayments made. This loan provides for an amortisation schedule with increasing principal, to 
be extinguished in 2018 and with a 6 month Euribor market rate plus a spread applied; 
 
• a loan taken out by Centostazioni S.p.A. on 15 June 2011 for € 14 million, paid out in full. The 
loan in question will be repaid over 8 years, in 16 half-yearly instalments, falling due on 31 May 
2019. Interest will be calculated with an interest rate equal to a six-month Euribor rate plus a 
spread. The amount pertaining to SAVE Group at 31 December 2012 stood at € 4.7 million, net 
of the repayments made;  
 
• during the FY Centostazioni S.p.A. obtained a further loan for € 6 million, paid out in full. The 
loan in question will be repaid over 5 years, in half-yearly instalments, falling due on 31 October 
2017. Interest will be calculated with an interest rate equal to a six-month Euribor rate plus a 
spread. The amount pertaining to SAVE Group at 31 December 2012 stood at € 2.4 million;  
 
• on 1 March 2011, a loan of € 5.5 million was granted to the company Belgian Airport S.A. The 
loan will be repaid over 5 years, with the last instalment on 31 August 2015. Principal is to be 
repaid yearly, with the first instalment falling due on 31 August 2011, while interest is to be paid 
quarterly. Interest will be at the Euribor rate plus a spread. The residual value at 31 December 
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2012 was € 3.3 million. As a guarantee for this loan, a pledge has been made on the shares held in 
the company’s portfolio (equity interest in Brussels South Charleroi Airport); in addition, a non-
speculative hedge was taken out against the risk of a rise in interest rates for 50% of the loan. 
 

20. Financial payables to others net of current share   
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 3,082 

31.12.2011   € 3,700 

Change     (618) 

 
Other financial payables, net of the current portion, are made up of the medium/long-term 
portion of the outstanding amounts of finance lease contracts in force at that date, for € 3 
million. 
 
Outstanding finance lease contracts are broken down in the following table: 
 

Item breakdown

Company

31/12/2012 31/122011 31/12/2012 31/122011

Airest S.p.A 504266 Centro Leasing Specific plants 30/03/2012 200 2 13

Airest S.p.A 1224254 Unicredit Leasing Car 30/12/2012 15 0 4

Airest S.p.A 01353242 Unicredit Leasing Car 20/02/2016 31 0 7 17

Very Italian Food S.r.l. 912914 Leasint Operator machinery and plants 28/02/2014 328 3 68 64 3 71

Very Italian Food S.r.l. 913929 Leasint Specific plants 24/03/2014 55 1 11 11 2 13

Very Italian Food S.r.l. 912925 Leasint Specific plants 12/03/2014 83 1 17 16 2 19

Very Italian Food S.r.l. 913940 Leasint Specific plants 23/02/2014 188 2 39 37 2 41

Very Italian Food S.r.l. 908408 Leasint Property 01/07/2026 3,276 32 136 129 2,563 2,699

Very Italian Food S.r.l. 912880 Leasint Kilns and appurtenances 04/04/2014 573 6 118 111 26 144

Very Italian Food S.r.l. 912917 Leasint Specific plants 05/04/2014 183 2 38 36 8 46

Very Italian Food S.r.l. 913931 Leasint Specific plants 11/04/2014 86 1 18 17 4 22

Very Italian Food S.r.l. 917104 Leasint Operator machinery and plants 22/04/2014 370 3 76 72 17 93

Very Italian Food S.r.l. 913919 Leasint Specific plants 01/08/2014 69 1 14 13 8 22

Very Italian Food S.r.l. 913936 Leasint Storage plant 01/03/2015 546 5 106 100 128 234

Aeroporto di Civile Padova  S.p.A. 964196 Leasint Flight simulator 01/06/2019 310 3 37 36 221 257

Save Group Total 62 684 658 3,000 3,661

Short-term financial 

payable

Long-term financial 

payable

Contract 

number

Finance lease 

company

 M aturity 

date 

Amount of 

supply

Redemption 

value

 
 

21. Provision for deferred taxes 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 16.595 

31.12.2011   € 17.377 

Change     (782) 

 
The provision for deferred taxes amounted to € 16.6 million. 
The main factors affecting the recognition of provision for deferred tax are: 

 adjustments related to the discounting of provisions for pensions in order to align them with 
international accounting standards; 

 adjustments related to the first-time adoption of IFRIC 12 “Service Concession Arrangements”; 

 adjustments related to the recording of leases in accordance with the financial criteria provided 
for by IAS 17;  

 the recognition of surpluses allocated to intangible assets within the framework of business 
combination operations; 

 capital gains generated by the disposal of tangible fixed assets, the taxation of which has been 
deferred to future FYs. 

 
The tables below illustrate the types that determine how provision for deferred tax is recorded, 
distinguishing between IRES and IRAP: 
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DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 

(€/000)

Rate 27.5%- 25%-19% 31/12/2011 US E INCREAS ES 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 US E INCREAS ES 31/12/2012

Capital gains taxable in subsequent FYs 559                 272             -                       287                 154                 75               -                       79                   

Severance indemnity provision 1,346              317             22                        1,051              364                 69               21                        316                 

Finance lease 9,726              358             266                      9,634              2,677              99               73                        2,651              

Other amortisation and depreciation 1,300              341             129                      1,088              357                 94               35                        299                 

Accumulated depreciation of licensed assets 28,088            474             -                       27,614            7,724              130             1                          7,595              

Other provisions 240                 43               -                       197                 64                   12               -                       52                   

Capital gain on concessions and goodwill 21,246            1,673          -                       19,573            4,287              374             -                       3,913              

Multi-year charges 240                 101             32                        171                 57                   19               9                          47                   

Balance of deferred tax liabilities - Ires 62,745           3,579        449                     59,615           15,684           872            139                     14,951           

(€/000)

Rate 3.9%- 4.20% 31/12/2011 US E INCREAS ES 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 US E INCREAS ES 31/12/2012

Finance lease 9,725              358             266                      9,633              377                 14               10                        374                 

Other amortisation and depreciation 734                 298             -                       436                 33                   12               -                       21                   

Accumulated depreciation of licensed assets 28,088            474             -                       27,614            1,180              20               -                       1,160              

Other provisions 131                 6                 129                      254                 5                     0                 5                          10                   

Capital gain on concessions and goodwill 2,361              527             -                       1,834              93                   21               -                       73                   

Multi-year charges 139                 -             32                        171                 5                     -             1                          6                     

Balance of  deferred tax liabilities -  Irap 41,178           1,663        427                     39,942           1,693             66              17                       1,644             

TOTAL DEFERRED TAXES PROVISION 17,377           938            156                     16,595           

TAXABLE BAS E TAX

TAXABLE BAS E TAX

 
 

22. Provision for severance indemnity and other staff provisions 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 7,134 

31.12.2011   € 7,181 

Change     (47) 

 
Liabilities for severance indemnity at 31 December 2012 are broken down in the following 
schedule. The changes are linked to the transactions indicated below:  
 

(€/000) 

Balance at 31/12/2011 7,181 

Use and other changes (542) 

Advances granted during the period and transfers (379) 

Payments to supplementary provision and INPS treasury 

fund 

(3,600) 

Lieu tax article 11 of Legislative Decree 47/2000 (24) 

Allocations and revaluation 4,498 

of which: change due to time-discounting (311) 

Balance at 31/12/2012 7,134 

 
The actuarial estimate of the Employee severance indemnity is carried out on the basis of 
"benefits accrued” using the Projected Unit Credit Method” pursuant to IAS 19. This method 
consists of valuations expressing the average present value of pension obligations accrued based 
upon the service rendered by the employee up to the date of the valuation, and not using 
estimates based on the employee's salary in accordance to the law amendments introduced by the 
recent pension reform. 
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The calculation method is summarised below: 
- projection of allocated employee severance indemnity for each employee engaged at the 
valuation date, at the yet undetermined settlement date; 
- determination of estimated severance indemnity payments, for each employee, which must be 
made by the Company in the event of the termination of an employee’s contract due to dismissal, 
resignation, incapacity, death and retirement and in the event of advance payment requests; 
- discounting, at the pricing date, of each payment estimate. 
For the purposes of time-discounting the Provision for Employee Severance Indemnity, the 
Group used the evaluations carried out by an independent actuary, who determined the value 
based on the following fundamental assumptions: 

 Mortality rate: Tables IPS55 

 Disability rate: INPS Tables – 2000 

 Personnel turnover rate: 1.5% 

 Discount rate: 4.25% 

 Rate of salary increase: 2% 

 Rate of advance payment: 1% 

 Inflation rate: 2% 
 

23. Other provisions for liabilities and charges 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 22,629 

31.12.2011   € 22,553 

Change     76 

 
The item is broken down as follows: 
            

(€/000)   31.12.12  31.12.11 Change 

Provisions for liabilities and charges   3,489  4,202 (713) 

Provision for measurement of non-consolidated 

equity investments 
  121  421 (300) 

Provision for renewal of licensed assets   19,019  17,930 1,089 

Total other provision for liabilities and 
charges 

  22,629  22,553 76 

            

 

Provision for liabilities and charges 
 
The changes in the provision for the year were as follows:  
 

(€/000) 
Balance at 31/12/2011 4,202  

Uses and other changes (1,900)  

Allowances for future risks and charges 1,187  

Balance at 31/12/2012 3,489  

 
This item is composed of provision to cover the estimated risk Group companies are exposed to, 
mainly as a result of disputes with suppliers and former employees.  
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It is believed that the reserves are sufficient to cover the risk arising from lawsuits and disputes of 
a specific nature where the Group is plaintiff or respondent, based on a reasonable estimate made 
using the information available and after seeking the opinion of legal consultants. 
 

Provision for renewal of licensed assets 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 19,019 

31.12.2011   € 17,930 

Change     1,089 

 
This provision represents the estimate for maintenance and replacement work to be done on 
licensed assets. These assets shall be returned to the government free of charge in perfect 
operating conditions at the end of the Group’s airport concessions. The entire provision refers to 
scheduled repair and maintenance operations on the airport area of Venice. 
The provision for renewal relating to the grounds of Venice airport is allocated based on a 
technical appraisal of the estimate of future charges relating to scheduled maintenance required to 
maintain the assets that must be returned free of charge at the end of the license period. The 
provision is used for such maintenance during the period. During the FY, the provision was 
increased by € 2.4 million, for the allocation of the part relevant to the period, and used for € 1.3 
million. 
 

Net equity 
 

24. Net equity 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 347,377 

31.12.2011   € 334,167 

Change     13,210 

 
Net equity is made up of Group equity for € 320.7 million and minority equity for € 26.7 million. 
Group net equity is broken down as follows:  
 

Share capital 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 35,971 

31.12.2011   € 35,971 

Change      

 
The share capital – € 36 million – is made up of 55,340,000 shares with a par value of € 0.65 each, 
and is fully paid up. 
 

Share premium account 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 130,351 

31.12.2011   € 130,351 



 

115 
 

Change     - 

 
It arises from a share premium allowed and paid pursuant to the initial public offering in 2005, 
net of costs incurred for the stock market listing process. 
 

Legal reserve 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 7,194 

31.12.2011   € 7,194 

Change     - 

 

Treasury share reserve 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € (18,527) 

31.12.2011   € (18,527) 

Change      

 
At 31 December 2012, the Group owned 2,675,154 treasury shares, directly through SAVE 
S.p.A., for a book value of € 18.527 million. No treasury shares were purchased by SAVE S.p.A. 
during FY2012.  
 

Other reserves and profits carried forward 
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 133,954 

31.12.2011   € 113,715 

Change     20,239 

 
The change in “Other reserves and profits carried forward” was due to the positive result 
achieved in FY2011, to the dividends paid out for € 21 million, i.e. € 0.39875 per share entitled to 
profits, thus excluding the treasury shares held by the Parent Company, and to the securities in 
portfolio carried at fair value, positive to the tune of € 0.9 million. 
 

Minority interest 
 
Minority equity represents the amount of shareholders' equity and results for the year of non-
100%-owned subsidiaries.  
 

Amount:        

31.12.2012   € 26,683 

31.12.2011   € 25,146 

Change     1,537 

 
The change in minority interest was mainly due to the result achieved over the year. 
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Presented below is the reconciliation between the number of outstanding shares at the beginning 
and end of the FY, as required by IAS 1, par. 76 (the par values of the shares outstanding are 
expressed in Euros): 

Shares making 

up the share 

capital

Trasury shares 

owned

Outstanding 

shares

Par value per 

share

Total par value 

of outstanding 

shares

(A) (B) (C) = (A - B) D E = C*D

Situation at 31/12/2011 55,340,000 2,675,154 52,664,846 0.65 34,232,150

Shares purchased over the period 0 0 0.00 0

Situation at 31/12/2012 55,340,000 2,675,154 52,664,846 0.65 34,232,150  
 
The table below shows the reconciliation statement of net equity and the results of the year of 
SAVE S.p.A. and the SAVE Group. 
 

(€/000)
Net equity at 

31/12/2011

Result for the 

current period

Net equity at 

31/12/2012

SAVE SpA's financial statements (Parent Company) 248,022 23,567 250,602

Derecognition of the value of consolidated equity investments

- difference between book value and pro quota value and derecognition of dividends (33,014) 8,890 (24,875) 

- higher values allocated 88,480 (1,632) 86,848

Derecognition of profits earned on sale of assets and intra-group equity investments (538) 907 369

Derecognition of dividends (1,660) 

Effect of equity investments carried at equity 6,584 1,527 8,111

Other transactions 118 29 147

Tax effects on consolidation adjustments (630) 124 (507) 

Net equity and operating profit pertaining to the Group 309,021 31,751 320,694

Minority net interest 25,146 1,557 26,683

Net equity and result for the year of the consolidated financial statements 334,167 33,308 347,377  
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 ANALYSIS OF MAIN INCOME STATEMENT ITEMS 
 (unless expressly specified, the amounts are given in thousands of Euro) 
 
Changes in the main items on the separate income statement at 31 December 2012 – compared 
to 31 December 2011 – are commented below. The Group reclassified among “Assets and 
Liabilities held for sale” the book values of the assets and liabilities that are to be disposed of 
within one year. In the income statement, the revenue and the costs relating to these business 
units were deconsolidated line by line, and the result was shown on a single line, appropriately 
highlighted in the income statement. 
 

OPERATING REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 
 

25. Operating revenue and other income 
 
Amount:    

2012   € 352,499 

2011   € 347,238 

Change     5,261 

 

Operating revenue 
 
Amount:    

2012   € 336,395 

2011   € 329,710 

Change     6,685 

 

Other income 
 
Amount:    

2012   € 16,104 

2011   € 17,528 

Change     (1,424) 

 
This item basically includes revenue from leases of air terminal spaces and chargebacks for 
condominium costs from sub-licensees, in addition to the fees for the technical expert of 
Centostazioni S.p.A.. Compared to the indications provided at 31 December 2011, in order to 
show the figure more correctly, the item “Other income” has been reduced and “Operating 
revenue” has been increased by a total of € 1.5 million. 
For a more detailed analysis of Revenue and Income, see the Directors’ Interim Report. 
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COSTS OF PRODUCTION 
 
Amount:    

2012   € 309,613 

2011   € 301,049 

Change     8,564 

 
Costs of production are broken down as follows: 
 

26. Raw and ancillary materials, consumables and goods  
 
Amount:    

2012   € 76,089 

2011   € 76,124 

Change     (35) 

 
The costs mainly refer to the purchase of goods for resale in the Food & Beverage and Retail 
sector. 
 

27. Services  
 
Amount:    

2012   € 67,123 

2011   € 63,938 

Change     3,185 

 
Details of remuneration paid to the directors of the Parent Company SAVE, including those 
obtained from other companies in the Group, are provided in the table below, indicated in 
Euros. 
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Office Director
Emoluments 

Save S.p.a.
Notes

Other 

remuneration 

Group Total 

remuneration

Chairman of the BoD Marchi Enrico 01/01/12 31/12/12 Approval of f.s. 31/12/15 674,562      71,650       746,212            

CEO Scarpa Monica 01/01/12 31/12/12 Approval of f.s. 31/12/15 37,229       * 296,218      333,447            

CEO Simioni Paolo 01/01/12 31/12/12 Approval of f.s. 31/12/15 37,229       * 429,201      466,430            

Director Andreola Gabriele 18/04/12 31/12/12 Approval of f.s. 31/12/15 13,062       6,582         19,644              

Director Boschieri Manuela 18/04/12 31/12/12 Approval of f.s. 31/12/15 13,062       -            13,062              

Director De Giovanni Daniele 01/01/12 31/12/12 Approval of f.s. 31/12/15 18,000       38,096       56,096              

Director De Piccoli Cesare 01/01/12 18/04/12 5,438         2,375         7,814                

Director Donzelli Alberto 01/01/12 31/12/12 Approval of f.s. 31/12/15 18,500       -            18,500              

Director Lazzarotto Dino 01/01/12 18/04/12 5,438         -            5,438                

Director Mencattini Andrea 01/01/12 31/12/12 Approval of f.s. 31/12/15 18,500       8,548         27,048              

Director Ortica Marco 01/01/12 18/04/12 5,438         -            5,438                

Director Pigaiani Matteo 18/04/12 31/12/12 Approval of f.s.31/12/15 13,062       -            13,062              

Director Sartori Amalia 01/01/12 31/12/12 Approval of f.s.31/12/15 18,500       8,548         27,048              

Director Sbroggiò Mauro 01/01/12 31/12/12 Approval of f.s.31/12/15 18,500       -            18,500              

Director Trevisanato Sandro 01/01/12 31/12/12 Approval of f.s.31/12/15 18,000       8,890         26,890              

Director Visentin Igor 18/04/12 31/12/12 Approval of f.s.31/12/15 13,062       -            13,062              

Total fees 927,582    870,108    1,797,690       

* The amount indicated in the column "other remuneration" is collected as top manager of SAVE S.p.A.

Office period
Expiration of term

 
It should be noted that there are no top managers with strategic responsibilities other than the 
two managing directors indicated in the table above. 
 
Details of remuneration paid to the auditors of the Parent Company Save, including the 
remuneration obtained from other companies in the Group, are provided in the table below, 
indicated in Euros. 

Office Auditor
Emoluments 

S ave S .p.A.

Other 

remuneratio

n 

Group 

Total 

remuneratio

n

from to

Chairman Boldrin Arcangelo 01/01/12 31/12/12Approval of f.s.31/12/15 30,000       3,949        33,949      

Auditor Pastena Valter (fee revers. MEF) 01/01/12 31/12/12Approval of f.s.31/12/15 25,000       25,000      

Auditor Salini Silvio 01/01/12 31/12/12Approval of f.s.31/12/15 25,000       25,000      

Auditor Serafini Nicola 01/01/12 31/12/12Approval of f.s.31/12/15 25,000       25,000      

Auditor Venuti Paolo 01/01/12 31/12/12Approval of f.s.31/12/15 25,000       18,821      43,821      

Total fees 130,000    22,770     152,770   

Office period Expiration of term

 
 
The table below, drawn up pursuant to art. 149-duodecies of the Consob Issuers’ Regulation, 
shows the consideration paid for 2012 for services rendered to SAVE Group by the auditing 
firms used and by entities belonging to their network. 
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(Amounts in Euros)

Type of service Entity that provided the service Addressee

Group Total 

remuneration

Audit Reconta Ernst & Young Parent Company 116,150

Audit Reconta Ernst & Young Subsidiaries 159,089

Audit Ernst & Young GmbH Subsidiaries 43,650

Audit Ernst & Young d.o.o Subsidiaries 6,500

Audit PriceWaterhouseCoopers Subsidiaries 46,194

Audit
Shanghai Gong Zheng Certified Public 

Accountants Co., Ltd.
Subsidiaries 7,403

Audit VGD-AUDIT s.r.o. Subsidiaries 12,724

Audit Ernst & Young SA Subsidiaries 10,640

Audit Ernst & Young Réviseurs d'Entreprises SCCRLSubsidiaries 7,469

Other services Reconta Ernst & Young Parent Company 157,186

Other services (Due Diligence) Ernst & Young GmbH Parent Company 85,000

Other services Reconta Ernst & Young Subsidiaries 33,560

Other services VGD-AUDIT s.r.o. Subsidiaries 7,183

Other services (tax) VGD s.r.o. Subsidiaries 4,314

Total fees 697,062

Services rendered by auditing companies and entities belonging to their network

 
 

28. Lease and rental costs 
 
Amount:    

2012   € 39,123 

2011   € 37,883 

Change     1,240 

 
They are made up of the following:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
            

(€/000)   2012   2011 Change 

Airport concession fee  4,086  3,692 394 

Train station concession fee   6,102  5,892 210 

Royalties   26,504  25,911 593 

Leases and other   2,431  2,388 43 

Total lease and rental costs   39,123  37,883 1,240 
            

 

29. Personnel costs 
 
Amount:    

2012   € 97,756 

2011   € 93,344 
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Change     4,412 

 
The increase in personnel costs mainly regards the Airport Management Sector for € 2.4 
million and the Food & Beverage and Retail sector for € 1.9 million.  
 

30. Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs 
 
Amount:    

2012   € 24,425 

2011   € 21,994 

Change     2,431 

 
They can be broken down as follows: 
 
            

(€/000)   2012   2011 Change 

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets   13,103   11,822 1,281 

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets   11,322   10,172 1,150 

Total amortisation and depreciation   24,425   21,994 2,431 
            

 

31. Write-downs of short-term assets 
 
Amount:    

2012   € 532 

2011   € 1,344 

Change     (812) 

 
The item “Write-downs of short-term assets” includes allocations to provisions for bad debts; 
in order to establish the amounts to be allocated, further account has been taken of the 
capacity of the provision compared with the total receivables overdue. 
The allocations are designed to tackle risk situations linked to specific positions, for which 
difficulties are expected to arise regarding collection of the relevant receivable. 
 

32. Change in inventories of raw and ancillary materials, consumables and goods 
 
Amount:    

2012   € (1,549) 

2011   € (327) 

Change     (1,222) 

 
 
The change in inventories refers mainly to inventories of consumables and inventories of 
merchandise intended for resale.  
 

33. Provisions for risks 
 
Amount:    

2012   € 1,187 
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2011   € 1,752 

Change     (565) 

 
For a comment on this item, see the note on “Other provisions for liabilities and charges”. 
 

34. Allocations to the provision for the maintenance of assets under concession 
 
Amount:    

2012   € 2,420 

2011   € 2,370 

Change     50 

 

35. Other charges 
 
Amount:    

2012   € 2,507 

2011   € 2,627 

Change     (120) 

 
The breakdown of sundry operating expenses is as follows: 
 
            

(€/000)   2012   2011 Change 

Contributions to trade associations   364  339 25 

Taxes   1,238  1,222 16 

Donations   48  119 (71) 

Other costs   857  947 (90) 

Total other charges   2,507  2,627 (120) 
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FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES, PROFITS/LOSSES ON AFFILIATES CARRIED 
AT EQUITY 

 

36. Financial income and expenses 
 
Amount:    

2012   € 2,572 

2011   € 1,726 

Change     846 

 
“Financial income and expenses” are broken down as follows: 
 
            

(€/000)   2012   2011 Change 

Financial income and revaluation of financial 
assets 

  
3,295  2,627 668 

Interest, other financial charges and write-downs 
of financial assets 

  
(4,387)  (5,003) 616 

Profits/losses on affiliates carried at equity   3,664  4,102 (438) 

Total financial income and expenses   2,572  1,726 846 
            

 
For further details on the nature of the items included in the preceding categories, see the 
summary tables below. 
 

Financial income and revaluation of financial assets  
 
            

(€/000)   2012   2011 Change 

Interest receivable on current accounts   489  298 191 

Other interest receivable (default interest 
included) 

  
308  250 58 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments 
recorded in the Income Statement 

  
39  222 (183) 

Capital gain on disposal of securities and equity 
investments 

  
2,459  1,857 602 

Total   3,295  2,627 668 
        

 
The main changes to financial income compared to the same period of the previous FY were 
mainly attributable to the capital gain realised following the sale of the equity interest held by 
Archimede 3 S.r.l. in “Società delle Autostrade di Venezia e Padova S.p.A.” and to the sale of 
securities in portfolio.  
 

Interest, other financial charges and write-downs of financial assets 
 
            

(€/000)   2012  2011 Change 

Interest payable on current accounts   (511)  (154) (357) 

Other interest payable (default interest included)   (233)  (323) 90 
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Interest payable on loans   (2,843)  (2,276) (567) 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments 
recorded in the Income Statement 

 (141)  (23) (118) 

Other financial charges   (139)  (39) (100) 

Exchange-rate profits/losses   74  (23) 97 

Write-down of equity investments in non-
consolidated companies 

  (523)  (2,052) 1,529 

Interest payable on the accounting of finance 
leases 

  (71)  (113) 42 

Total  (4,387)  (5,003) 616 
            

 
Financial charges recorded a total decrease of € 0.6 million compared to 2011, mainly due to the 

combined effect of the lower write-down of equity investments and the increased use of the 

banking system compared to the previous FY (new loans taken out, an increase in spreads 

compared with rates that remained substantially unchanged).  

 
As regards the change to profits and losses on affiliates carried at equity, see the table below: 

 

Profits/losses on affiliates carried at equity 
 
            

(€/000)   2012  2011 Change 

ARME LLC carried at equity   (444)  (101) (343) 

GAP S.p.A. carried at equity   2  2 0 

VTP SpA. carried at equity  1,046  928 118 

Of which dividends collected by VTP S.p.A.  314  278 36 

BSCA SA carried at equity   2,975  3,273 (298) 

Of which dividends collected by BSCA SA  1,884  1,799 85 

2A carried at equity   85  - 85 

Total  3,664  4,102 (438) 
            

 

INCOME TAXES 
 

37. Income taxes 
 
Amount:    

2012   € 10,807 

2011   € 5,251 

Change     5,556 

 
Income taxes for the year are broken down as follows: 
 
 
            

(€/000)   2012  2011 Change 

Current taxes   15,223  28,043 (12,820) 



 

125 
 

Prepaid and deferred taxes   (4,416)  (22,791) 18,376 

Total income taxes   10,807  5,251 5,556 
            

 
The analysis of the adjustments to taxation, which have brought about a change in the actual 
tax rate compared to the notional rate, appears in the table below. 
 

Tax rate reconciliation

(€/000)

Pre-tax result 44,116 47,083

Notional taxes 12,132 27.50% 12,948 27.50%

Actual taxes 10,807 24.50% 5,270 11.19%

Net result 33,309 75.50% 41,813 88.81%

Difference (1,325) -3.00% (7,678) -16.31%

1) different rates in force in other countries 159 0.36% 354 0.75%

2) permanent differences:

i) IRAP and other local taxes 4,606 10.44% 4,708 10.00%

ii) dividend taxation (562) -1.27% (341) -0.72%

iii) other non-deductible costs / non-taxed income 1,773 4.02% 467 0.99%

iv) taxes for previous years (132) -0.30% 368 0.78%

v) effect of measurement of equity investments (2,213) -5.02% (1,274) -2.71%

vi) finance lease and goodwill amortisation 402 0.91% 476 1.01%

vii) Ires refund from Irap (2,799) -6.34%

viii) tax effect of realignment of differences on extraordinary transaction (2,246) -5.09% (3,010) -6.39%

ix) tax effect of realignement intangible fixed assets L.D. 98/2011 (8,299) -17.63%

x) non-taxed capital gains (313) -0.71% (1,127) -2.39%

(1,325) -3.00% (7,678) -16.31%

2012 % 2011 %

 
 
 

RESULT OF THE PERIOD 

 
Amount:    

2012   € 33,308 

2011   € 41,832 

Change     (8,524) 

 
Group and minority results are broken down as follows: 
            

(€/000)   2012  2011 Change 

Consolidated result    33,308  41,832 (8,524) 

Minority loss (profit)   (1,557)  (1,515) (42) 

Group profit for the period   31,751  40,317 (8,566) 
            

 

38. Discontinued operations / Assets held for sale 
 
The Group has line-by-line deconsolidated the balance sheet and income statement components 
of both the sales outlets of Airest Group discontinued during the FY, and the company Airest 
Collezioni Gmbh (in liquidation) for which it appears reasonably certain that the liquidation 
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procedure will be completed during FY 2013, reclassifying them in the lines of the income 
statement set aside for the purpose. 
In addition, the presentation of the transactions described has meant that: 
- the cost and revenue items related to “Discontinued assets/assets held for sale” were classified in 

“Net profit /(loss) from discontinued assets/assets held for sale” in the income statement; 
- current and non-current assets were reclassified, at 31 December 2012, in “Discontinued 

assets/assets held for sale” in the statement of equity and financial position; 
- related liabilities (excluding net equity) were reclassified, at 31 December 2012 in “Discontinued 

liabilities/liabilities held for sale” in the statement of equity and financial position. Pursuant to 
IFRS 5, these operations have been displayed with a separate indication in the consolidated 
financial statements of the values connected to discontinued assets on the one hand and 
continuing operations on the other. 

- As provided for in paragraph 15 of IFRS 5, non-current assets held for sale are valued at the 
lower of their book value and their fair value, net of sales costs. This valuation has led to the 
recording in the income statement of an impairment of € 306 thousand. 

Amounts shown in €/000 at 75% 31 12 2012

Current assets 204           

Cash and Banks 47                   

Other receivables 22                   

Inventories 134                 

Non-current assets 107           

Tangible fixed assets 106                 

Intangible fixed assets 1                     

Discontinued operations / Assets held for sale 310           

Trade payables 283                 

Other payables 2                     

Liabilities sold/held for sale 285           

Net value of discontinued operations / assets held for sale 25

Amounts shown in €/000 at 75% 12 2012

Revenue 756

Operating costs (2,067)

EBIT (1,311)

Financial income/expenses (7)

Tax assets/liabilities (26)

Profit/loss on discontinued operations/assets held for sale (1,343)

31 12 2012

Cash flow from operations 687

Cash flow from investing activities (574)

Cash flow from financing activities (93)

Net cash flow for the period 20  
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39. Type and management of financial risks 
 
The Group strategy for financial risk management complies with company objectives and aims to 

minimise interest rate risk and related optimisation of the cost of debt and credit and liquidity risk. 

These risks are managed in compliance with principles of prudence and in accordance with the best 

practices on the market, and all risk management transactions are handled on a central level. 

 
Interest rate risk 

 
The aims of the objectives set by the Group are: 

 to protect financial payables from the risk of interest rate fluctuations; 

 in hedging risks, to comply with general criteria of balance between uses and loans for the 
Group (variable or fixed rate portions, short or medium-long term portions). 

 
The group owns derivative financial instruments for the purpose of hedging its exposure to the risk of 

change in interest rates for approx. 7.6% of the Group investments’ value (cash flow hedges).  

The hedging operations regard: 
-  the loan requested by SAVE S.p.A. for an original amount of € 4.5 million, granted by Deutsche 
Bank, whose residual value at 31 December 2012 amounted to € 2.8 million. An Interest Rate Swap 
agreement was entered into in 2011 to hedge interest rate risk; at 31 December 2012 the loan carried a 
cost for interest at a locked-in rate of 100% of the total amount; 
- the loan requested by SAVE S.p.A. for an original amount of € 5 million, granted by Deutsche Bank 
in 2012, whose residual value at 31 December 2012 corresponded with the amount granted. During the 
same FY an Interest Rate Swap agreement was entered into to hedge interest risk for an amount 
corresponding to the total of the loan. Therefore, at 31 December 2012, the loan carried a cost for 
interest at a locked-in rate of 100% of the total amount; 
-  the loan requested by Belgian Airport SA for an original amount of € 5.5 million, granted by BNP 
Paribas Fortis Banque SA in 2011, whose residual value at 31 December 2012 amounted to € 3.3 
million. Starting from 2012, an Interest Rate Swap agreement was subsequently entered into to hedge 
interest risk for an amount totalling € 1.7 million at 31 December 2012 (in proportion to the notional 
value in existence at the date of each repayment). The loan carried a cost for interest at a locked-in rate 
of 50% of the total amount. 
 
The table below summarises the main derivative instruments held by the Group at 31 December 2012: 
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Statement on the recording of hedging transactions (IF RS 7.22)

(€/000;  the positive values are receivables for the com pany, while the negative values are payables)
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IRS Save S.p.A.
Change in interest 

rates

Cassa di Risparmio di Venezia 

(INTESA SanPaolo group)
09/07/2004 15/06/2012 25,000 0 1,563 0 (15)

IRS Save S.p.A.
Change in interest 

rates
Unicredit 12/08/2003 16/06/2012 11,550 0 722 0 (11)

IRS Save S.p.A.
Change in interest 

rates
Unicredit 02/09/2003 16/06/2012 11,550 0 722 0 (13)

IRS Save S.p.A.
Change in interest 

rates
Deutsche Bank SpA 19/12/2011 22/01/2015 3,375 2,813 3,375 (53) (23)

IRS Save S.p.A.
Change in interest 

rates
Deutsche Bank SpA 01/10/2012 17/06/2016 5,000 5,000 0 (39) 0

IRS
Belgian Airport 

SA

Change in interest 

rates
BNP Paribas - Fortis B. SA 07/07/2011 31/08/2015 2,200 1,650 0 (73) 0

Total 58,675 9,463 6,382 (165) (62)  
 
Cash flow sensitivity analysis  

 
The company has prepared an analysis of future cash flows associated with outstanding loans and the 

hedging instruments related to them. This analysis starts from the market situation as at 31 December 

2012 and assumes 0.25% and 0.50% increases/decreases in interest rates. 

The impact of these changes on the stream of future interest amounts to € +/-0.8 million for a 0.25% 

change in interest rates and to € +1.6 million for a 0.50% increase in interest rates and to € -1.3 million 

for a 0.50% decrease in interest rates. 

 
Sensitivity analysis on hedging instrument fair value 

 
The company has prepared an analysis of the change in fair value of the hedging instruments 

outstanding at 31 December 2012. This analysis starts from the market situation as at 31 December 

2012 and assumes 0.25% and 0.50% increases/decreases in interest rates. 

The impact of these changes on the fair value of derivative instruments outstanding amounts to around 

€ +/- 0.08 million for a 0.25% change in interest rates and to € -0.2 million for a 0.50% increase in 

interest rates and to € +0.4 million for a 0.50% decrease in interest rates. 
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Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk that one of the parties executing a contract which envisages a deferred payment 

over time fails to fulfil a payment obligation, thus causing the other party to suffer a financial loss. 

This risk can be caused by technical and commercial factors or administrative and legal disputes 

(regarding the quality/nature of the supply, interpretation of contract provisions, invoices supporting 

payment, etc.) or by financial factors or, in short, by the credit standing of the other party. 

For the Group, exposure to credit risk mainly relates to the sale of aviation services and property 

transactions. 

To control this risk, the Group has implemented procedures and actions to evaluate customers, based 

on which to assign a level of attention. 

Maximum credit risk regarding the other financial assets of the Group, which include cash and cash 
equivalents, is equivalent to the book value of these assets in the event of insolvency on the part of the 
counterparty. 
 
Liquidity risk 

 
The Group has a prudent liquidity risk management policy – namely, it has developed a strategy to 

prevent cash disbursements from representing a critical factor for the Group. The minimum objective 

is to give the company the necessary lines of credit to repay debt falling due in the subsequent twelve 

months. Credit lines (including those used both as cash and credit commitments) not used by the 

banking system in the Parent Company equalled € 62 million, while at Group level the figure was € 63 

million. 

Group financial needs are guaranteed by long-term funding, obtained mainly through medium- to long-

term loans, including in relation to individual acquisition transactions.  

For further details on the medium/long-term loans outstanding at 31 December 2012, see the 

paragraph dedicated to “Financial payables to banks net of current share” in the Notes to the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 
Maturity analysis of cash flows relating to derivative instruments and medium to long term 

loans  

 
The following table presents a summary, broken down by maturity, of undiscounted cash flows of 

interest rate hedging instruments in place, which show a negative mark-to-market value at 31 December 

2012. 

On the basis of the same maturities, the Table also presents a summary of cash flows for medium to 

long term loans outstanding at the date of these annual consolidated financial statements, including 

principal and interest. 

 

31.12.2012 31.12.2011 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Derivative instruments with negative MTM (175) (54) (85) (43) (90) (11) - -

Medium/long-term loans (132,922) (85,810) (39,815) (28,105) (75,038) (54,274) (18,069) (3,431)

Total (133,097) (85,864) (39,900) (28,148) (75,128) (54,285) (18,069) (3,431)

Total estimated cash flows of which within 1 year of which 1 to 5 years of which over 5 years

 
 
Fair value hierarchy classification 
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For a list of derivative financial instruments outstanding at 31 December 2012 and measured at fair 

value, see the table in the preceding section "Interest rate risk". 

 
In relation to the financial instruments recognised at fair value in the statement of financial position, 

IFRS 7 requires that these values be classified on the basis of a hierarchy that reflects the significance of 

the inputs used to determine fair value. The classification uses the following levels: 

 Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets for the assets or liabilities being measured; 
 Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in the previous paragraph, which are 

observable either directly (prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) on the market; 

  Level 3 - inputs that are not based on observable market data. 
 
It should be noted that the derivative instruments measured at fair value as at 31 December 2012, can 

be classified in the second level of the fair value hierarchy.  Moreover, during fiscal year 2012 there 

were no transfers from Level 1 to Level 2 or Level 3 and vice versa. As mentioned previously, the 

Group holds derivative financial instruments solely to hedge its exposure to interest rate changes for 

the amount of individual loans to which they refer (so called cash flow hedge). 

 
The fair value measurement of derivatives included in the financial statements was made by using 

independent valuation models and on the basis of the following market data as at 31 December 2012: 

 short-term interest rates and swap rates referred to the Euro; 
 prices of 3-month Euribor futures contracts; 
 Euribor fixing to calculate the coupons for the current period. 

 
The Group holds financial instruments represented by shares listed on regulated markets and 

recognised as current assets; as such they can be classified in level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. 

Moreover, during fiscal year 2012 there have been no transfers from Level 1 to Level 2 or Level 3 and 

vice versa. 

 

40. Equity investments in subsidiaries, affiliates and other 
 
The Parent Company exercises control over the following companies, consolidated using either 
the line-by-line or proportional method. The data indicated derives from the closures of the 
respective companies at the date of the financial statements, drawn up in accordance with the 
accounting standards adopted by each company. 
 
• Marco Polo Park S.r.l. 
Percent ownership: 100% 
Manages the airport parking areas, subcontracted by SAVE. 
In FY2012, the company recorded a value of production of around € 11.4 million, up 0.2% 
compared to FY2011, and a pre-tax profit of € 3.5 million. 
 
• Save International Holding SA 
Percent ownership: 100%  
The company was incorporated during Q3 2009, as a special purpose vehicle necessary for the 
acquisition of Brussels South Charleroi Airport SA, which took place in December 2009. 
The company incorporates the equity investment in Belgian Airports SA, the company through 
which the acquisition was made together with minority shareholders. 
 
• Belgian Airport SA 
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Percent ownership: 65% 
The company was incorporated during Q42009, as a special purpose vehicle necessary for the 
acquisition of Brussels South Charleroi Airport SA, which took place in December 2009. 
The company incorporates the equity investment in Brussels South Charleroi Airport SA, 
consolidated at equity. FY2012 closed with a pre-tax profit of € 1.8 million, mainly deriving from 
the effect of the dividends earned. 
 
• Save Engineering S.p.A. 
Percent ownership: 100% 
It handles the planning and coordination of engineering work connected to airport development 
programmes carried out by the parent company Save as part of its master plan. It also works with 
outside customers, drawing on the expertise it has acquired in the realisation and coordination of 
infrastructure development projects related to passenger mobility, such as airports and railway 
stations. 
During Q4 2012, the Group, through its subsidiary N-aitec S.r.l., acquired at 2011 equity values, 
the minority share of Save Engineering S.p.A. from the shareholders Agorà Investimenti S.r.l. 
and Marco Polo Holding S.r.l.. After the closing date of these consolidated financial statements, 
the share capital of Save Engineering S.p.A. was held for 97% by SAVE S.p.A. and for 3% by N-
aitec S.r.l.. 
In FY2012, the value of production equalled € 1 million, showing a decrease compared to the 
FY2011. Over the period, the company recorded a pre-tax profit of € 77 thousand, compared to 
a pre-tax profit of € 262 thousand at 31 December 2011. 
 
 
• Nord Est Airport I.T. S.r.l. (N-AITEC) 
Percent ownership: 100% 
The company oversees the realisation of IT projects for administrative and operational airport 
management, In this area, it develops and sells software products.  
FY2012 closed with a value of production of € 1.8 million, up € 0.2 million, or 15.7%, compared 
to 2011; the pre-tax profit amounted to € 763 thousand. 
 
• Aeroporto di Treviso AERTRE S.p.A. 
Percent ownership: 80%  
The company Aer Tre S.p.A. is licensed to manage Treviso airport. 
Pending the interministerial approval of the forty-year agreement signed on 14 October 2010, 

AerTre manages the assets included in the Treviso airport land under the anticipated occupancy 

regime, provided for by Article 17 of Law Decree no. 67/1997. 

The value of production for the year was € 21.3 million, up € 8.7 million compared to FY2011. 
FY2012 ended with a pre-tax profit of € 0.6 million, compared to a negative pre-tax result of € 
1.4 million in FY2011. 
 
• Aeroporto Civile di Padova S.p.A. 
Percent ownership: 62.86% 
The company holds a contract with the Ministry of Transport for the management of Padua 
airport. 
At 31 December 2012 the company recorded a value of production of € 787 thousand, and a pre-
tax loss of € 172 thousand.  
 
• Società Agricola Ca’ Bolzan a .r.l. 
Percent ownership: 100% 
The assets of this company – 100% held by the Parent Company – primarily consist of land 
adjacent to the airport site; it was acquired in May 2005 as a preliminary step in guaranteeing the 
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realisation of work necessary for the growth of the airport and related infrastructures over the 
medium term. 
FY2012 closed with a value of production of € 547 thousand, up 42.3% compared to FY2011, 
and a pre-tax result of € 98 thousand, against a loss of € 44 thousand recorded the previous FY. 
 
• Triveneto Sicurezza S.r.l 
Percent ownership: 93%  
The company provides airport security services, in accordance with Ministerial Decree no. 85 of 
29 January 1999. 
The situation at 31 December 2012 closed with a value of production of € 11.3 million, a 16.7% 
increase compared to FY2011, and pre-tax profit of € 1.2 million, up € 0.9 million. 
 
• Airest S.p.A. 
Percent ownership: 99,84%  
It was founded to manage sales and food service operations in transport infrastructures, both on 
behalf of the group and on behalf of third parties. The company is carrying out a solid 
development programme for product lines both within and outside of the company. 
FY2012 closed with operating revenue and other income totalling € 130.9 million and a pre-tax 
loss of € 1.8 million. 
 
• Very Italian Food S.r.l. 
Percent ownership: 99,84% 
The company, incorporated in January 2008 by Airest S.p.A., makes high-quality bread and pastry 
products. 
The value of production for FY2012 amounted to € 5.4 million, whereas the pre-tax result was 
negative to the tune of € 0.3 million. 
 
• Airest Austrian Group  
Percent ownership: 99,84% 
The Group is made up of the sub-holding (under Austrian law) Airline Terminal & Business 
Catering Holding GmbH, and by the operating companies Airest Gastronomy & Retail GmbH 
(Austria), Airest Catering d.o.o. (Slovenia), Shanghai Airest Catering Company Ltd. (China), 
Airest Czech Republic s.a. (Czech Republic), and the company Airest Restaurant Middle East 
L.L.C., located in Abu Dhabi. The group also holds the share capital of the dormant companies 
Airest Collezioni USA Inc. and Airest Collezioni (US-1) LLC (USA). 
FY2012 closed with a pre-tax result negative to the tune of € 0.3 million. Revenue equalled € 44.3 
million. 
 
• Airest Collezioni Group  
Percent ownership: 74.88% 
The Group operates through specialised shops for travellers, operated both directly and through 
the subleasing of spaces to top-of-the-range brands. 
FY2012 closed with a pre-tax result negative to the tune of € 0.2 million. The value of revenue at 
the closing date of these consolidated financial statements equalled € 38 million. 
 
• Archimede 1 S.p.A. 
Percent ownership: 60% 
A subsidiary of the Parent Company, this company, incorporated at the end of 2001, acts, as 
provided for by the by-laws, exclusively as a sub-holding of the equity investment in 
Centostazioni S.p.A.. 
This is a vehicle company that holds 40% of Centostazioni S.p.A. (the remaining 60% is held by 
FFSS Holding S.p.A.). 
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FY2012 closed with a pre-tax profit of € 1.2 million, mainly deriving from the combined effect of 
the dividends obtained collected by the subsidiary Centostazioni and financial charges on loans 
outstanding. 
 
• Centostazioni S.p.A. 
Percent ownership: 24%  
40%-owned by Archimede 1 S.p.A., it manages assets owned by Rete Ferroviaria Italiana S.p.A. 
(R.F.I.) which comprise the property complexes of the 103 mid-sized Italian railway stations, 
under a forty-year contract expiring in 2042 which grants Centostazioni the right to use and 
economic usufruct of the assets and engages it to oversee their integrated management and re-
development, increasing the value of the real estate assets themselves. The company was 
consolidated using the proportional method, under shareholder agreements which give joint 
control of Centostazioni to Archimede 1 S.p.A. and Ferrovie dello Stato. 
FY2012 closed with a value of production of € 80.7 million, and a pre-tax profit of € 14.8 million. 
The financial statements report 40% of this result, as the company is consolidated using the 
proportional method. 
 
• Archimede 3 S.p.A. 
Percent ownership: 100% 
E’ stata acquisita nel 2004. In order to rationalise the group structure – in part with a view to 
possible expansion of contracted infrastructure management – in 2004 SAVE sold 4.64% of the 
share capital of Autostrade di Venezia e Padova S.p.A. to Archimede 3 S.r.l.. These shares were 
transferred during Q22012. 
FY2012 closed with a pre-tax result of € 0.8 million. 
 
• Idea 2 S.r.l. 
Percent ownership: 100% 
A 100% subsidiary of the parent company, it was purchased in July of 2005, also in the area of 
potential investment projects. This company shows no significant costs or income. 
 
The parent company also has an interest in the following companies: 
 
• Rustichelli e Mangione S.r.l. 
Percent ownership: 99.84% 
The business purpose of the company, incorporated at the end of 2009 is the devising, testing, 
creation and implementation of franchising formulas and models for the supply and sale of food 
and drink and related services. Although operative, it has not been consolidated, because its 
volumes of business are considered irrelevant compared to the overall volumes of the Group. 
 
• Nicelli S.p.A. 
Percent ownership: 49.23% 
The company, in which an equity investment of 49.23% is held, manages the airport of Venice - 
Lido.  
 
• G.A.P. S.p.A. 
Percent ownership: 49.87%  
The company, in which an equity investment of 49.87% is held, manages the airport of 
Pantelleria. 
 
• Other minor affiliates 
The parent company holds further minority interests such as V.T.P. S.p.A. (Venezia Terminal 
Passeggeri) (22.18%) to manage the commercial structures of the Port of Venice, Brussels South 
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Charleroi Airport SA (17.97%) through Belgian Airport SA, which runs Brussels Airport, and 2A 
– Airport Advertising S.r.l. (50%), a company incorporated in February 2012 for the management 
of advertising space. 
 

Earnings per Share  
 
Information is provided here on the data used for calculating the earnings and diluted earnings 
per share. 
Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit for the period attributable to the 
company’s shareholders by the number of shares.  
 
For the purpose of calculating the basic earnings per share, the numerator used was the result 
for the year, less the minority share. Please also note that no privileged dividends exist, nor 
does a conversion of preferred shares or other similar effects which would lead to the 
adjustment of the economic result for ordinary equity holders.  
 
Diluted earnings per share equal to earnings per share, since there are no potential ordinary 
shares or other instruments, such as warrant options or equivalent, able, if converted, to dilute 
the results per share. 
 
The schedule below represents the results and number of ordinary shares used for the purposes 
of calculating base earnings per share, determined according to the methods set forth by IAS 
33. 
 

(€/000) 2012 2011

Group result for the year 31,751 40,317

Weighted average number of outstanding shares

- basic 52,664,846 52,696,619

- diluted 52,664,846 52,696,619

EPS 0.603 0.765

Diluted EPS 0.603 0.765
 

 
Below is an indication of the earnings per share, minus the assets held for sale. 
 

(€/000) 2012 2011

Group result excluding the result of the assets held

for sale
33,094 41,149

Weighted average number of outstanding shares

- basic 52,664,846 52,696,619

- diluted 52,664,846 52,696,619

EPS 0.628 0.781

Diluted EPS 0.628 0.781
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The weighted average of common shares outstanding during the year is the number of 
common shares outstanding at the beginning of the FY, adjusted by the number of common 
shares bought back or issued during the year multiplied by a time-weighting factor. 
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Dealings with related parties 
 

The consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2012 include the financial statements of 
SAVE S.p.A. and of its subsidiaries, as indicated in the paragraph “Scope of consolidation”. 
 
All dealings with affiliates and related parties have been carried out in compliance with the 
market conditions regularly applied for similar services with the same level of quality. 
For information regarding the relationships entertained during the year with affiliates, see the 
notes cited under the remarks in the Balance Sheet and Income Statement contained in the Notes 
and see Annex C for payable/receivable and cost/revenue ratios.  
Also recorded, relating to the 25% stake of minority shareholders in dealings with joint ventures 
and consolidated using the proportional method further to the agreement reached with the 
McArthurGlen Luxury Retail Group, are other receivables of a commercial nature for a total of € 
1,504 thousand. 
The corresponding contra entries are posted for € 2,627 thousand to operating revenue and other 
income mainly of a commercial nature. 
Similarly, the amounts relating to the 60% stake of minority shareholders in dealings with 
Centostazioni S.p.A. are indicated in other receivables for € 706 thousand and in other payables 
for € 836 thousand; the corresponding contra entries are posted, for € 177 thousand, to operating 
revenue and other income and for € 1,000 thousand to costs of production. 
 
With the companies Finanziaria Internazionale Holding S.p.A. and Finint & Wolfson Associati 
S.r.l. (related parties insofar as they are connected with the reference Shareholder), during the 
year the Group paid expenses for assistance and consulting services aimed at the optimisation 
and financial analysis of the Group. Payables for services rendered and not yet paid regard the 
Parent Company for € 107 thousand and the subsidiaries Airest S.p.A. for € 21 thousand, AerTre 
S.p.A. for € 21 thousand and Archimede 1 S.p.A. for € 27 thousand. The income statement 
components, posted to costs for services, totalled € 244 thousand for the Parent Company, € 42 
thousand for Airest S.p.A., € 42 thousand for AerTre S.p.A., € 20 thousand for N-aitec S.r.l., and 
€ 27 thousand for Archimede 1 S.p.A.. 
Total receivables at 31 December 2012 amounted to € 68 thousand for Airest S.p.A. and to € 39 
thousand for Airest Retail S.r.l.. The corresponding revenue of a commercial nature in the 
income statement amounted to € 101 thousand in Airest S.p.A., and € 1,962 thousand in Airest 
Retail S.r.l. for revenue stamps supplied. 
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Additional Tables

Annex A

Statement of changes in intangible fixed assets and pertinent amortisation

(€/000)

Value at 
01/01/12

Acquisition

s
Decreases

 

Contributio

ns

Reclassificati

ons     Other 

changes

Value at 

31/12/2012

Right of use of airport concessions 237,715 3,119 (33) (1,940) 2,786 241,647

Fixed assets under development and advances 7,091 1,176 0 (2,815) 5,452

Sub-total right of use of airport concessions 244,806 4,294 (33) (1,940) (29) 247,099

Concessions 109,984 0 0 0 0 109,983

Other intangible fixed assets with a definite life 22,827 1,685 (653) 650 24,509

Fixed assets under development and advances 1,336 132 (246) (877) 345

Sub-total other intangible fixed assets with a definite life 24,163 1,817 (899) 0 (227) 24,854

Goodwill and other intangible fixed assets with an indefinite life 61,245 766 0 0 (0) 62,011

Total intangible fixed assets 440,198 6,878 (932) (1,940) (256) 443,947

Additional Tables

Annex B

Statement of changes in tangible fixed assets and pertinent depreciation

(€/000)

Value at 
01/01/12

Acquisition

s
Decreases

 

Contributio

ns

Reclassificati

ons     Other 

changes

Value at 

31/12/2012

Land and buildings 48,950 66 0 0 49,016

Plant and machinery 53,138 4,583 (560) 1,030 58,190

Industrial and commercial equipment 9,536 997 (217) 44 10,359

Other assets 82,474 5,809 (1,464) 3,542 90,361

Provision for write-down of fixed assets (218) (3) 44 34 (143)

Fixed assets under development and advances 4,666 5,638 (3) (602) 9,699

Total tangible fixed assets 198,546 17,090 (2,201) 0 4,048 217,483

Historical cost

Historical cost
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Value at 
01/01/12

Increases 

for the 

period

Uses

Reclassifica

tions     

Other 

changes

Value at 

31/12/2012

Net 

tangible 

fixed assets

63,986 6,551 (30) 28 70,535 171,112

5,452

63,986 6,551 (30) 28 70,535 176,564

27,094 4,172 0 0 31,266 78,717

17,620 2,260 (678) 267 19,470 5,039

0 117 (148) 122 91 255

17,620 2,377 (825) 389 19,561 5,293

62,011

108,701 13,100 (855) 417 121,362 322,585

Value at 
01/01/12

Increases 

for the 

period

Uses

Reclassifica

tions     

Other 

changes

Value at 

31/12/2012

Net 

tangible 

fixed assets

1,781 384 0 0 2,165 46,851

38,754 3,622 (451) 82 42,007 16,183

6,660 931 (183) (10) 7,397 2,962

42,746 6,386 (1,358) 299 48,072 42,289

(143)

9,699

89,941 11,322 (1,992) 371 99,643 117,841

Accumulated technical depreciation

Accumulated technical depreciation
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Annex C1 

Balance sheet values 

of transactions with 

subsidiaries and related companies: 

 
amounts indicated 

in €/000 

 

 
Annex C1

Balance sheet values

of transactions with

subsidiaries and related companies

amounts indicated 

in €/000
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Receivables Payables Receivables Receivables Payables Receivables Payables Receivables Receivables Payables Receivables Payables Receivables Payables Receivables Receivables Payables Receivables Payables Receivables Payables Receivables Receivables Receivables Payables

2A - Airport Advertising S.r.l.

3 A - Advanced Airport Advisory S.r.l.

Aer Tre S.p.A.
377 546 8

Aeroporto Civile di Padova S.p.A.

Airest Collezioni Gmbh
983 206 44

Airest Collezioni S.a.r.l.
983 244 86 7

Airest Collezioni Venezia S.r.l.
244 100 9 40

Airest Retail S.r.l.
377 206 86 100 870 4,020

Airest Russia OOO
158

Airest S.p.A.
3 546 44 7 40 9 4,020 870 158 519 1,394

Archimede 1 S.p.A.

Archimede 3 S.r.l.

Belgian Airports SA

Brussels South Charleroi Airport (BSCA) SA

Centostazioni S.p.A. 
1,394 519

GAP S.p.A. Aeroporto di Pantelleria

Airest Austrian Group
550 10,746

Idea 2 S.r.l.
1,332

Marco Polo Park S.r.l.
187 3

Airest Collezioni Dublin Ltd.
59 19

Airest Collezioni Glasgow Ltd.
36 59 38

N-AITEC S.r.l.
48

Nicelli S.p.A. Aeroporto del Lido di Venezia

Rustichelli e Mangione S.r.l. (R&M S.r.l.)
398

Save Engineering S.p.A.
204 30 16 0

Save International Holding SA
164

Save S.p.A.
561 1,498 1 1,435 598 309 37 1,629 670 2,017 17 34,392 3,832 10,604 144 94 36 660

Società Agricola Ca’ Bolzan a r.l.

Teorema di Euclide S.r.l.
34

Triveneto Sicurezza S.r.l.
741 1 5

Very Italian Food S.r.l.
726 3,140

Other (Inarcassa, VAT)

Grand total 561 1,498 1 2,382 1,739 325 37 1,233 7 1,408 2,013 679 6,500 1,252 158 38,490 23,006 10,604 144 94 1,332 164 84 1,179 1,394
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Receivables Receivables Payables Receivables Receivables Payables Receivables Receivables Receivables Payables Receivables Receivables Receivables Payables Payables Receivables Payables Receivables Payables Receivables Receivables Payables Receivables Payables Receivables Payables

1,498 561 1,498 561

1 0 1

187 31 204 598 1,435 1 741 1,740 2,387

1 16 37 309 37 325

0 1,233

59 36 1,408 7

0 670 1,629 679 2,013

59 17 2,017 1,252 6,499

0 158

10,746 553 2 3 19 38 398 0 3,831 34,391 34              5 2,880 466 22,743 38,232

144 10,604 144 10,604

1,332 94 1,332 94

164 0 164

48 36 0 84

660 1,394 1,179

1 0 1

1 44 550 10,791

0 1,332

9,798 377 3 26 9,804 590

0 78

0 133

1,862 141 1,910 141

4 79 0 83

0 398

4 1,076 60 1,300 90

1,941 2,105 0

1 1 377 9,798 141 1,862 79 60 1,064 1,941 23,937 444 618 3,482 0 277 76,951 25,664

444 23,937 444 23,937

0 34

26 3 3,482 618 4,249 627

44 277 0 1,047 3,140

8
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Annex C2 

Income statement values 

of transactions with 

subsidiaries and related companies: 

 
amounts indicated 

in €/000 
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Revenue Costs Revenue Revenue Costs Revenue Costs Revenue Revenue Costs Revenue Revenue Costs Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Costs Revenue Revenue Costs Revenue

2A - Airport Advertising S.r.l.

Aer Tre S.p.A. 618 4 784

Aeroporto Civile di Padova S.p.A.

Airest Collezioni S.a.r.l. 13 21

Airest Collezioni Venezia S.r.l. 13 130 7

Airest Restaurant Middle East LLC 210

Airest Retail S.r.l. 613 5,097 43

Airest Russia OOO 63 7

Airest S.p.A. 784 4 21 7 130 210 43 5,096 63 1,666 16 2 595

Archimede 1 S.p.A.

Archimede 3 S.r.l.

Belgian Airports SA

Brussels South Charleroi Airport (BSCA) SA

Centostazioni S.p.A. 16 1,666

GAP S.p.A. Aeroporto di Pantelleria

Airest Austrian Group 7 595 2

Marco Polo Park S.r.l. 1,054 13

Airest Collezioni Dublin Ltd. 65 82

Airest Collezioni Glasgow Ltd. 55 2,436 57 161

N-AITEC S.r.l. 32 37

Nicelli S.p.A. Aeroporto del Lido di Venezia

Rustichelli e Mangione S.r.l. (R&M S.r.l.) 22

Save Engineering S.p.A. 101 13 2

Save International Holding SA 1

Save S.p.A. 1,451 1 923 39 1,256 0 73 3,076 743 6,408 17 33 280 1 5

Società Agricola Ca’ Bolzan a r.l.

Triveneto Sicurezza S.r.l. 2 2,412 8

Very Italian Food S.r.l. 375 3,256 1 162

Venezia Terminal Passeggeri (VTP) S.p.A.

Other (non-deductible VAT / Inarcassa)

Capitalisation (*) (101) (13) (4)

GRAND TOTAL 1,451 2,454 3,370 39 134 2,457 7 1,400 210 172 8,787 71 7,529 12,179 17 1 70 1,666 296 1 11 761
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(*) Capitalisation of which: 

           - in Aertre S.p.A. € 101 thousand vis-à-vis Save Engineering S.p.A.; 

           - in Aeroporto civile di Padova S.p.A. € 13 thousand vis-à-vis Save Engineering S.p.A.; 

           - in Airest Retail S.r.l. € 4 thousand vis-à-vis Aertre S.p.A.; 

           - in Marco Polo Park S.r.l. € 20 thousand vis-à-vis Save S.p.A.; 

           - in S.p.A. S.p.A. € 673 thousand vis-à-vis Save Engineering S.p.A. and € 118 thousand vis-à-vis Naitec S.r.l.: 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

143 
 

 

 

 
 A

ir
es

t 
C

o
ll
ez

io
n
i 

D
u
b
li
n
 L

td
. 

 N
ic

el
li
 S

.p
.A

. 

A
er

o
p
o
rt

o
 d

el
 

L
id

o
 d

i 
V

en
ez

ia
 

 R
u
st

ic
h
el

li
 e

 

M
an

gi
o
n
e 

S
.r

.l
. 

(R
&

M
 S

.r
.l
.)

 

 S
av

e 
In

te
rn

at
io

n
al

 

H
o
ld

in
g 

S
A

 

 V
en

ez
ia

 T
er

m
in

al
 

P
as

se
gg

er
i 
(V

T
P

) 

S
.p

.A
. 

Costs Revenue Revenue Costs Revenue Costs Revenue Revenue Revenue Costs Revenue Costs Costs Revenue Costs Revenue Costs Revenue Revenue Costs Revenue Costs Revenue

1,451 1,451 -         

1,054 32 923 1 2,412 2 3,371 2,459     

40 40 -         

65 2,436 55 2,457 134        

1,256 1,400 7            

210 -         

57 3,074 73 8,785 172        

71 -         

13 82 161 22 2 6,404 742 8 3,256 372 12,175 7,524     

19 19 -         

0 -         

1 1 -         

37 33 70 -         

280 296 1,666     

1 1 -         

5 162 1 762 11          

4,779 116 10 34 5,843 163        

147 -         

273 2,436     

54 273 54 342        

21 21 -         

22 -         

215 814 217 928        

44 0 45          

116 4,799 155 53 21 152 219 44 8,618 564 1 17 21 9,904 19,183   

17 1 17 1            

34 10 566 8,618 609 11,040   

376 3,418     

21 21 -         

11          

(20) (791) (929)
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 T
ri

v
en

et
o
 

S
ic

u
re

zz
a 

S
.r

.l
. 

 S
o
ci

et
à 

A
gr

ic
o
la

 

C
a’

 B
o
lz

an
 a

 r
.l
. 

 V
er

y 
It

al
ia

n
 F

o
o
d

 

S
.r

.l
. 

 G
ra

n
d

 t
o
ta

l 

 S
av

e 
E

n
gi

n
ee

ri
n
g 

S
.p

.A
. 

 S
av

e 
S
.p

.A
. 

 M
ar

co
 P

o
lo

 P
ar

k
 

S
.r

.l
. 

 A
ir

es
t 

C
o
ll
ez

io
n
i 

G
la

sg
o
w

 L
td

. 

 N
-A

IT
E

C
 S

.r
.l
. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

144 
 

Certification of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

pursuant to article 154 bis of Legislative Decree 58/98 
 
 
1. The undersigned, Monica Scarpa, CEO, and Giovanni Curtolo, executive in charge of drafting the 

corporate accounts of SAVE S.p.A., also pursuant to the provisions of art. 154-bis, paragraphs 3 and 4 

of Legislative Decree No. 58 of 24 February 1998, hereby certify that 

 
•the Company complies with the business characteristics and 

• the administrative and accounting procedures for the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements were actually applied during the period from 01/01/2012 to 31/12/2012. 

 
2. The administrative and accounting procedures for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements at 31 

December 2012 were based upon a process outlined by Save, in compliance with the Internal Control – Integrated 

Framework model issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations the Treadway Commission, which represents a 

reference framework generally accepted at international level. 

 
3. This is also to certify the following:  

3.1 the financial statements 

 
a) have been prepared in compliance with the applicable international accounting standards 

recognised in the European Union pursuant to regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the 

European Parliament and Council, issued 19 July 2002; 

 
b) tally with the accounting entries and records; 

 
c) are appropriate to provide a truthful and correct view of the income statement, balance sheet, 

and cash flow of the Issuer and all the companies included in the consolidation. 

 
3.2 The Directors’ Report includes a reliable analysis of the management performance and results, as 

well as of the situation of the Issuer and all the companies included in the consolidation, together with 

a description of the main risks and uncertainties they are exposed to. 

 
 
 
Venezia Tessera, 12 March 2013 

 
 
 
CEO 

 

 
Executive in charge of drafting corporate 

accounts 

 
Monica Scarpa 

 
 

 
Giovanni Curtolo 
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